AT
ENERGY

RE il 5 R

corporation limited

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(MBERETEMRLZBRAED)

(Stock code AR REE : 00166)

ANNUAL REPORT ¥k

2019

*For identification purpose only

AR



Borealis

State of Alaska
] 32 5 o bl

Brazil
(=Y

Argentina
PR 3E

Tartagal .
Oriental & Pf;'gzr Chirete
Morillo

salta Formosa & Salta Salta

3 BEER EEEL
EEEE BEEE




CONTENTS B &

002
004
005
006
010
033

035
038
039
054
071
087

Corporate Information

NAEEF

Information for Stakeholders
mAER

Financial Highlights

HBHE

Chairman’s Statement

ITERE

Management Discussion and Analysis
EREN R LD

Information on New Times Energy’s Oil
Recoverable Volume and Resources
HRERERZAMAIRERERZ BH
Information of Directors

BEEEN

Information of Management Team
EREEKRER

Directors’ Report

EEEgmE

Corporate Governance Report

TEEEARS

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE HENEBRE
Independent Auditor’s Report
8 32 BAD =

095
096

097

099

100
102
207
208

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
maBmK

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income
FaBEnkEMEEmKEE
Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position

Fe MBIk

Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity

FeEREYE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEHEMER

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 R 2k BT 5

Five Years Financial Summary
LEUBHE

Glossary

A



2

CORPORATE INFORMATION

DR EF

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart (Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie
Mr. CHIU, Wai On

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. CHIU, Wai On (Chairman)
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie (Chairman)
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
Mr. CHIU, Wai On

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie (Chairman)
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob
Mr. CHIU, Wai On

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart (Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. LEE, Kun Yin
(Appointed on 10 March 2020)
Ms. LI, Janice Shan Mui
(Appointed on 17 January 2020 and
ceased on 10 March 2020)
Ms. LAM, Katrina Lai Kuen
(Ceased on 17 January 2020)

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

Exg

HITES
WERHBEE (TE)
WARBEE (TTHAEE)

FHITES
FEELLE

BYFHTES
SIRELLE
REZLE

BEREEE

RELRE (FE)
FEEELE
SIRIE R E

FWESES

SRERE (ZE)
by pted
RERLE

REEZES

SIRERE (ZE)
FEEELE
BEREE

HITEES

BIBEE (ZH)
BoxBsEE

DNEMWE

TEBEA
(R-F-—FF=FH+HEZ(T)
=gz £
(R-ZFE-ZFF—H++H
EEEYR - FE-FFE=H+HEE)
N
(RZFEZFF—HA++HEF)



CORPORATE INFORMATION

AUDITOR

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

LEGAL ADVISERS

On Hong Kong law
Reed Smith Richards Butler

On Bermuda law
Conyers Dill & Pearman

On US law
Haynes and Boone, LLP

On Argentina law
Nicholson y Cano Abogados
Saravia Frias Abogados

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS

Room 1402, 14/F., New World Tower |
16-18 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

NAEER

BB

EEREHAEHR
ES EN]

R (A BERBIED) TOEMARMSE
B BAT

EEEM

BRERE
BIEE AR EMTT

BRELHE
LRy Yo

EEEE
Haynes and Boone, LLP
P AR $ESE 12

Nicholson y Cano Abogados
Saravia Frias Abogados

TEARELT
HERT (B8 BRAA

BB LOESRTERAR
MMEERTEEXBE

&
EFEANEF16-185
it HRRE —Ef14121402F

AMREE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

Annual Report 2019 ¢ =& — R S F #f



4

INFORMATION FOR STAKEHOLDERS

EEAER

SHARE INFORMATION

First listed on the Stock Exchange
13 October 1998

Place of listing
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Stock Code
0166.HK

Board Lot
2,000 shares

Financial Year End
31 December

As at 31 December 2019

Number of issued shares: 8,758,880,988 shares
Closing price: HK$0.081 per share
Market capitalisation: HK$709.47 million

SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Principal Share Registrar

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Registrar
Tricor Tengis Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Enquiries may be directed to e-mail:
info@nt-energy.com

WEBSITE

http://www.nt-energy.com

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

B EH

BREBRR LN
—AANF+A+=H

LR
BEBARIMBERABER

A 43R
0166.HK

BFEEEN
2,000/%

BMBRFEEFER
+=-—A=+—8H

R-ZF—-hE+=-A=+—H
21T 7 812 : 8,758,880,988%
U HE (8 FH0.0818 T
A : 709,470,000 7T

BROBFERLE
RBFBRAR

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM11

Bermuda

BROBFELEEBIE
BEEERAERAD A
aBE

ERRNBERI183%

& FH 0544

REEBE

ARERNEXEEE:
info@nt-energy.com

43t

http://www.nt-energy.com



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBERE

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
BZE HE
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
+=-A=+—0 [pyeEs
IEFEE IEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Revenue Wz 236,646 297,989
Loss before taxation PR AIE A (2,310,385) (246,447)
Loss for the year FANEE (2,290,137) (257,224)
Basis loss per share (HK cent) FREXRERE GBI (26.15) (2.91)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
BE HE
—E-hF —E-)\F
+-A=+—0 gyt
IEFEE IEEE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Total assets BB E 1,095,294 3,480,089
Total equity Emiass 846,455 3,129,976
Debt ratio @ fBIELL EO 22.72% 10.06%
Gearing ratio @ BEEARHEX® 17.90% 6.73%
Net asset value per share ® (HK$) BREEFE® (BT 0.10 0.36
Remarks: e
(1) Debt ratio: Total liabilities divided by total assets (1) FEHEEX LEERALEE
(2)  Gearing ratio: Interest bearing borrowings divided by total equity (2) EBEABLX GFEERBRAERER
(3)  Net asset value per share: Net assets divided by number of issued shares (3) BREEFE: EEFEMRADBITROEKE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
Chairman & Executive Director

HiFELE
ERARIITES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of New Times
Energy Corporation Limited (the “Company” or “New Times
Energy”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | hereby
present the annual results and audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

OVERVIEW OF 2019

Further to the Group’s oil discovery in the Chirete Concession as
first announced on 12 December 2018, | am pleased to report that
following the successful commissioning of a newly built facilities, the
Group has resumed uninterrupted oil production from 5 November
2019 at an initial rate of 600 barrels a day.

This latest achievement marks a significant milestone in the history
of the Group, and underlines its decision in April 2015 to farm-in to
the block. The start of oil production at Chirete Concession in 2019
also represents an important milestone for the Province of Salta,
Argentina, since this is the first new commercial oil production in
decades for the region. It has been welcome news for the newly
elected authorities of the province, as they try to promote and
attract further oil exploration investment in the region.
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With the Group’s application for an exploitation permit in the
Chirete Concession coinciding with the National and Provincial
Elections of Argentina and inauguration in November and December
2019, and the government summer recess in January 2020, the
Group is presently waiting for the permit to be granted by the new
authorities of the Province of Salta. Due to the coronavirus pandemic
recently spreading to Argentina, the Group faces an indefinite delay
in the granting of the exploitation permit, which when received will
formalise the Group’s entitlement to produce hydrocarbon for the
next 25 years in the Chirete Concession.

Though the Group is pleased with the progress it has made in the
Chirete Concession, the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 is disappointed to report a consolidated net loss after
tax of HK$2,290 million. This was primarily attributable to the
recognition of the provision for full impairment loss on the Group's
exploration and evaluation assets in the Tartagal Oriental and
Morillo Concessions of HK$2,243 million, as first announced on
6 February 2020, following the unexpected rejection of the Group’s
extension application by the previous Salta provincial authorities on
17 September 2019. Further details are disclosed within this annual
report.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

During the year, Argentina continued to struggle with
hyperinflationary pressures, as well as the continued devaluation
of its currency against the US Dollar (“US$"). Following the
experience in 2018 of a 47.6% rate of inflation, the country in 2019
experienced a further 54% inflation, the highest on record since
1991. On the other hand, the Argentine Pesos (“ARS") devalued by
70.3% against the US$ from ARS35.1 per US$ at the start of the
year to ARS59.8 per US$ by 31 December 2019.

Argentina has historically been a difficult country for the Group and
other international companies to operate in. Whilst the inauguration
on 10 December 2019 of Mr. Alberto Fernandez as the new
President of Argentina, and Mr. Gustavo Saenz as the new Governor
of the Province of Salta are a cause for renewed optimism, the
Group remains cautious about the country’s political and economic
outlook.

With the recent onset of the coronavirus pandemic significantly
reducing global economic activity and oil demand, and the oil price
war between Saudi Arabia and Russia sending prices plummeting in
the first quarter of 2020, the oil industry and the Group faces very
challenging times ahead. The Group will continue to actively manage
and look for cost rationalization opportunities.

LOOKING FORWARD

New Times Energy continues to proactively manage and structure its
business to best serve the interests of its shareholders. The Group
is committed to maximizing shareholder value by exploring and
developing oil and gas prospects in a safe, environmentally, socially
and ethically responsible manner.

The Group is well aware of the importance to continually reassess
and diversify its current business and geographical portfolio to
better position itself for the future. Thankfully, the Group continues
to maintain a healthy cash position to enable it to actively seek out
value adding and complementary investment opportunities in the
energy sector, wherever that may be in the world.

The Group is mindful of the increasing global trend and appetite
for renewable energy sources, particularly in the developed
economies. Though the Group's principal business is that of oil
and gas exploration and production, the Group is also interested in
diversifying into the renewable energy business.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Following a recent internal review, the Group has subsequently
evolved its vision and mission statement to better encapsulate its
strategic purpose, this shall now be defined as:

“We develop energy for the new times. Diversify for climate change
and the environment”

APPRECIATION

In closing, | would like to take this opportunity to once again,
express my sincerest gratitude to the Board, the management team,
and all staff members for their efforts and dedication during the
year, and in achieving the historic milestone of oil production in the
Chirete Concession. | am also much obliged to our shareholders,
investors, business partners, bankers, customers and suppliers for
their continued and invaluable support. We are facing unprecedented
times with the coronavirus pandemic affecting both locally and
globally, I sincerely hope you all can stay safe, stay aware and stay
healthy.

CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

GENERAL REVIEW

The year 2019 has proved to be another challenging year for the
Group and its main operations in Argentina. While the Group is
pleased to have completed construction of its permanent production
facility and commenced oil production at the Chirete Concession,
the first new production in decades for the Province of Salta, the
Group is disappointed to report that, for the financial year ended
31 December 2019, a loss after tax of HK$2,290 million was
incurred.

The loss was mainly attributable to the provision for full impairment
loss of the Group's exploration and evaluation assets in the Tartagal
Oriental and Morillo Concessions (the “T&M Concessions”) of
HK$2,243 million, following the inexplicable and unexpected
decision by the previous provincial authorities of Salta (the
“Authorities”) on 17 September 2019 to reject the Group's
application for an extension in the concessions. In response, the
Group has filed administrative appeals to overturn the decision,
while at the same time has commenced negotiations with the new
Authorities in the hope to remedy the situation either way. However
as the negotiations and appeal are concurrently still on-going, the
Group in accordance with relevant financial reporting standards
has made the necessary accounting provision for the year ended
31 December 2019, on the basis that it currently does not have an
extension, and that there are significant uncertainties in both the
likelihood and timing of an extension being obtained in the T&M
Concessions.

With the uncertainties surrounding the Group’s future involvement
in the T&M Concessions, the Group has little option but to suspend
the planning and preparation efforts for the Morillo Deep exploratory
drill, originally scheduled for 2020, until the permit extension issue is
first resolved.

In regards to the Chirete Concession, following the successful
construction and commissioning of a newly built production facilities,
the Group resumed oil production from its HLG.St.LB.x-2001
discovery well (the “Well”) in November 2019. Initially the Well had
been set to produce at a rate of 550 barrels of oil per day (“"bopd”),
to be stepped up gradually to approximately 1,500 bopd, depending
on the response of the reservoir to well pressure fluctuations, as well
as the prevailing domestic oil price.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

With the existing exploration permit on the Chirete Concession
already expired on 18 November 2019, the application for an
exploitation permit has already been submitted by the Group to
the Authorities. The Group is presently awaiting receipt of the
exploitation permit which, when issued, will formally grant the
Group and Pampa Energia S.A. (“Pampa”), the legal right to
produce hydrocarbon for the next 25 years in the concession. The
Group expects the exploitation permit to be granted late, since it
is not unusual in Argentina for permits to be issued 6 to 8 months
after the expiration dates of existing permits.

Economically, the Argentina oil market in 2019 has continued to
remain depressed. Domestic oil price on average was less than
70% of the Brent Oil Price during a year where the Argentine Pesos
("ARS") currency has continued to weaken and hyperinflation rising
from 47.6% in 2018 to nearly 54% in 2019, the highest on record
since 1991. With the Argentina Peso also having devalued over 70%
in 2019, it has been reported that more than 35% of the country’s
population were living in poverty in the first half of 2019.

Faced with the prospect of an increasingly challenging business
environment in Argentina, the Group is actively seeking
complementary investment opportunities in the energy sector
elsewhere in the world. Though the Group's principal business is
that of oil and gas exploration and production, the Group is also
interested in diversifying into the renewable energy business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group's oil and gas participation in Argentina during 2019
was solely in the Northwest Basin located in the province of Salta.
In addition to the Group's oil and gas exploration and production
activities, the Group was engaged in the business of commodities
trading.

Northwest Basin, Argentina

The Northwest Basin is one of the significant gas producing basins in
Argentina. This basin is geologically and structurally complex because
of the superposition of four main basins and tectonic influences,
including a Late Jurassic to Early Cretaceous-aged rift extension and
Tertiary-aged Andean compression. The Group is of the view that the
complex geological structures create opportunities for the discovery
of conventional light oil and natural gas during exploration activities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held the following concession
in the Northwest Basin situated in Northern Argentina:

RZFB-NE+-_A=1t—HB AKEEN
REIL BB PRI R I3 B A MR ET R -

Participating Recoverable Prospective Group's Net

interest Surface area Volume Resources Interest

SHER i REE AHE BESERE AEEMNFED

(in km?) (MMBBL) (MMBBL) (MMBBL)

(FrrE) (BERmEE) (BERAEE) (BERAEE)

Chirete Concession Chirete 5 iR 50.00% 897 2.4 2.5 2.45
Exploration, Development and Production activities BE BERREETE

Chirete Concession Chirete 5 F#E

Operated by the Group, the Chirete Concession covers a surface
area of approximately 897 km? in the Province of Salta in Northern
Argentina, and the Group’s estimated net interest is 2.45 MMBBL.
The Chirete Concession is an oil concession in which the Group has
farmed into a 50% participating interest, with Pampa Energia S.A.
being the owner of the other 50%. The Group is responsible for the
day to day operational activities.

HLG.St.LB.x-2001 discovery well

Following the oil discovery at the Group's exploration well HLG.
St.LB. x-2001 on 29 November 2018, an extended test program was
conducted during the first quarter of 2019 in order to determine the
characteristics of the oil, and the potential recoverable volume of the
reservoir.

Approximately 82,000 barrels of crude oil was produced during
the three month extended test program to 18 March 2019, before
the Well was temporarily shut-in to allow for the construction of
a permanent production facilities on site. During the tests, the
Well was confirmed to contain light crude oil with an APl index
in the region of 37° with virtually zero water content, and free of
contaminants.

In November 2019, the Group resumed oil production from the Well,
following the successful commissioning of the newly built production
facilities. Although the Well was set to produce at an initial rate of
550 bopd under a 4mm choke size, the Well has been achieving an
average production rate closer to 600 bopd since November 2019
through to date of the publication of this report.

Depending on the response of the reservoir to initial production
and well pressure fluctuations, the Group, as the operator, and
in consultation with Pampa will consider the option to gradually
increase output to approximately 1,500 bopd. The current facilities
have a designed production capacity of up to 2,000 bopd, in the
event the Well is able to handle a higher rate of production.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

A& B ZEH ChiretefF 5T R MM R EE LY
R8ITFEHRE (IRAMAREIL HEREA
mASEHERNFERR2458 S MM
Chlrete¢~ir3¢%li7%EE$’iI%)\SO%/ B
Zh B A 4 5T [ - T Pampa Energia S.A. 7%,\
BRO0% ML HBEA - REEAEHELE

HLG.St.LB.x-2001% 3 #

#—F— N\F+— A=+ HBPHLG.St.LB.
x-2001 R H IR MG AEER T — N,
FE-FHZHEHETTHRE  UEE
AHEAEERERREBAEEMRE -

BRI RENBRSREKAEEERIEN
ETEREREARN BETRAM=ZEANT
HARARF RBEE-_ZT-AF=A+/\R
bR - REFFRAE S 4 /382,0001 < AR
R IER S BE Rl e AT APIFE BS37
B a8KkEAFTRENEBEMTRY -

RZZE-—NF+— A BEIEEEREK
NEEER ANEBREZERIEERARE
E-BEZEGRHRTIZ2KHENVRES
BEHSSE EEZE—NF+—ABRER
WMETNEOHRRE ZBRHCONEELE
He00MA) FHEBE -

5T 5 RUE V) HR % B 9 P DA B HEJER
NREE NEBE (1EREER)BMPampalz
S ERERESIEEEAN ST H1,5001
WZEBRATEEESEER BERHEDN
RETEfE=ES H2,0001 °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s recent oil discovery and production at the Chirete
Concession is the first new production in decades for the Province
of Salta. It has been welcome news for the new Authorities of the
province, as it hopes to attract and reinvigorate oil exploration
investment activity in the region.

Exploitation permit for the Chirete Concession

Prior to the expiry of the exploration permit in the Chirete
Concession on 18 November 2019, the Group filed an application
to the Authorities in request for an exploitation permit. As legally
entitled to, under the Hydrocarbon Laws of Argentina, an operator
may request for an exploitation permit upon a commercial oil
discovery.

The Group has duly complied with all application filing requirements
and is presently awaiting receipt of the exploitation permit from
the Authorities. Once the permit is granted, the Group and Pampa
will be entitled to produce hydrocarbon for the next 25 years in the
Chirete Concession.

As the expiry of the exploration permit in the Chirete Concession
coincided with the National and Provincial Elections of Argentina and
inauguration in November and December 2019, and the government
summer recess in January 2020, the Group expects the exploitation
permit to be granted late, since it is not unusual in Argentina, under
normal conditions, for permits to be issued 6 to 8 months after the
expiry of existing permits.

Tartagal Oriental and Morillo Concessions

The T&M Concessions comprising of the Tartagal Oriental block
and the Morillo block, located in the Province of Salta in Northern
Argentina, covers a total surface area of 10,583 km? and have an
estimated net resources of 130.0 MMBBL for the Group.

Prior to the rejection by the previous Authorities to grant the Group
a permit extension to continue exploration activities beyond the
expiry date of 13 September 2019, the Group had held a 69.25%
participating interest in the concessions and was the Operator.

Exploration permit

On 17 May 2019, the Group had submitted its application for a
one year extension of the current exploration permit in the T&M
Concessions, which was due to expire on 13 September 2019.
Despite the Group knowing that one year would be insufficient
time to complete the outstanding working unit commitments in
the T&M Concessions, the Group nevertheless proceeded to apply
for a one year extension, since this was the only way an approval
could realistically be granted, based on the recommendations of the
previous Authorities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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In September 2019, the Group also applied to the Authorities, under
National Law No. 17,319 and Article 3 of the Executive Orders
3391/06 and 3388/06, to enter into a new exploration permit
in the T&M Concessions. The Group understood that, whilst an
extension of the current exploration permit could be rejected by the
Authorities, an application to enter into a new exploration permit
was an undeniable legal right of the Group, provided that it made a
commitment to drill one additional exploration well in return.

On 17 September 2019, the Group was however notified under
Resolution No. 037/19 that the Authorities had rejected, both the
Group's one year extension request of the current exploration permit,
as well as the Group's other request to enter into a new exploration
permit by offering to commit to drill one additional exploration well.
Additionally, the Group was notified under Resolution No. 038/19
and in accordance with Article 85 of the National Law No. 17,319 to
relinquish the T&M Concessions with immediate effect.

The Group duly appealed the aforementioned resolutions (the
"Resolutions”) of the Authorities before the 30 September 2019
deadline, on the premise that the Authorities rejected the Group's
extension and permit applications without having completed the
due administrative process or given proper consideration in regards
to the disputed working units matter. Therefore, the decision by the
Authorities to issue the Resolutions was appealed on the grounds
that they were premature, arbitrary, unreasonable and illegitimate.

Furthermore, on 25 October 2019, the Group successfully filed an
Amparo Judicial Process against the Authorities, which in essence is
an injunction preventing the execution of the Resolutions, until such
time the Authorities have properly addressed the Group's disputed
working units matter first.

Following the conclusion in November 2019 of the National and
Provincial Elections of Argentina, Mr. Alberto Fernandez and
Mr. Gustavo Saenz were both officially inaugurated on 10 December
2019 as the new President of Argentina and new Governor of the
Province of Salta (the “Governor”) respectively.

As the inauguration of the new Governor on 11 December 2019
coincided with Argentina’s seasonal holidays of Christmas and New
Year, as well as the commencement of the government summer
recess in January 2020, the department within the new Authorities
overseeing oil & gas matters in the province of Salta were taking
longer time to attend to the disputes between the previous
Authorities and the Group. Therefore, it would appear that the
extension issue of the T&M Concessions would not be resolved soon.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Nevertheless, on 20 January 2020, the Group had an informal
meeting with the new Authorities in charge, with a view to taking
the first step towards resolving and reversing the Resolutions issued
by the previous Authorities. While the meeting was courteous, it
appeared that the issues surrounding the T&M Concessions was
unlikely to be resolved within the next few months from date
of publication of this report. The Group will be submitting new
proposals to the new Authorities as to how the outstanding issues
and working units may be mutually resolved.

With the recent outbreak of coronavirus in China (since January
2020) severely restricting international travel for an indefinite period,
the Group anticipates further delays in the negotiation process
with the new Authorities for a resolution on the T&M extension
matter. The delay has exacerbated as the coronavirus has become
a pandemic, spreading to Argentina and resulting in government
shutdown.

The Group remains committed to continuing its negotiations with
the new Authorities, in regards to both the disputed working units
matter and its right to resume exploration activities in the T&M
Concessions. However, the Group will also continue to resolutely
pursue the appropriate administrative and judiciary procedures to
appeal the recent Resolutions which may amount to an attempt by
the previous Authorities to illegally seize oil and gas assets from the
Group.

Morillo Deep exploration well

During the year, the Group continued preparations for its next
planned exploratory drill at Morillo Deep, located approximately
17km from the Group's recent oil discovery at HLG.St.LB.x-2001. It
is the intention of the Group to use its own rig for the Morillo Deep
exploratory drill, following the successful deployment for the Group's
previous two drilling campaigns.

Due to the negotiations for access rights with certain Morillo
Deep landowners and indigenous communities taking longer than
expected to resolve, the Group’s environmental impact assessment
and topography studies for the proposed road and location
constructions were delayed.

Furthermore, following the unexpected decision by the previous
Authorities on 17 September 2019 to reject the Group’s application
for an extension and notification to relinquish the T&M Concessions
immediately, the Group has little option but to suspend the planning
and preparation efforts for the Morillo Deep exploratory drill,
originally scheduled for 2020, until the permit extension issue is first
resolved with the new Authorities and Governor.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Provision for full impairment loss

In light of the latest developments in regards to the T&M
Concessions, a provision for the full impairment loss of the Group’s
exploration and evaluation assets in these concessions of HK$2,243
million was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The provision for full impairment loss was made in accordance with
the Group's accounting policy, following the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral
Resources, and specifically Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36,
Impairment of Asset.

The reason and basis for the provision was due to the expiry
of the Group’s exploration permit in the T&M Concessions
on 13 September 2019, and the subsequent issuance of the
Resolutions on 17 September 2019 by the previous Authorities,
formally notifying the Group to relinquish the T&M Concessions
with immediate effect based on erroneous calculation of unfulfilled
working units, and the rejection of the Group’s extension request
and alternative request to enter into a new exploration permit.

Although the Group is continuing negotiations with the new
Authorities, and has filed an appeal against the Resolutions, the
significant uncertainties that exists in both, the likelihood and timing
that an extension in the T&M Concessions can be obtained has
resulted in the aforementioned provision for full impairment loss to
be recognised in 2019.

Subject to the outcome of the Group’s negotiations and appeal, the
Group may consider a reversal of the provision for impairment loss
of the exploration and evaluation assets in the T&M Concessions in
relevant future financial year(s), where considered appropriate.

Palmar Largo Concessions

The Group ceased production operations in the Palmar Largo
Concessions (the “PL Concessions”) on 30 November 2018,
following the relinquishment of the Palmar Largo block in the
Province of Formosa.

Due to the Group receiving only 9 days’ notice from the Formosa
authorities to vacate the Palmar Largo block, the Group had been
unable to withdraw all movable, non-essential to production assets,
inventory, and unsold oil stock legally belonging to the Union of
Temporary Enterprise (the “UTE") in the limited available time.

During 2019, the Group continued to seek for a satisfactory
resolution with the new owner and operator of the PL Concessions,
as well as the Formosa authorities for the immediate and unfettered
access to the vacated site, so that the Group may physically recover
the properties on behalf of the UTE.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

However, due to the time elapsed and the lack of cooperation from
the new owner and the Formosa authorities, the Group and UTE
have little option other than to escalate the matter and consider
taking direct legal action, in order to recover the UTE's properties
illegally seized by the new operator.

Oil Price

Following the resumption of oil production at Chirete Concession
in November 2019, the Group has had some success in locating
alternative, better priced customer options to sell its oil to, other
than Refinor, the only major oil refinery in Northern Argentina. The
Group will continue to develop and build its customer base, in order
to try to secure a fairer price for its crude oil, more aligned with the
prices in the rest of Argentina.

The Group continues working with its legal advisors with a respect
to possible legal proceedings against Refinor for retrospective
compensation of historical shortfall in revenues as a result of it
paying below market value oil prices for the Group’s previous oil
sales from both the Chirete Concession and, in particular, the Palmar
Largo Concessions.

For the 2019 year, the average selling price the Group received was
US$45.28 (2018: US$54.05) per barrel, which is about 70% of the
price of Brent Qil. However, the international oil price has collapsed
in recent days with Brent Qil trading to as low as US$25.00 per
barrel. If the Brent Qil pricing should remain in this low level, any
exploratory drilling in the Argentina will not be economically feasible
and probably will not proceed as planned.

Devaluation of the Argentine Pesos and Hyperinflation
During 2019, the Argentine Pesos continued to devalue rapidly from
ARS35.1 per US$ at the beginning of the year to ARS59.8 per US$
by 31 December 2019. This equated to a 70.3% decline.

In respect of the economy of Argentina, the country continued to be
blighted by hyperinflationary pressures. Following an annual inflation
of 47.6% experienced in 2018, the highest on record since 1991,
the country in 2019 suffered a further 54% inflation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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In order to temporarily ease the burden of the hyperinflation for
its citizens, the Argentina government introduced a 90 day freeze
of crude oil prices in mid-August 2019. This severely impacted the
revenues of the country’s crude oil producers in US$ terms, as the
Argentine Pesos continued to depreciate. Furthermore, currency
control policies announced by the government in September 2019
prohibit international companies from repatriating dividends from
Argentina.

With substantial depreciation of the Argentine Pesos and
hyperinflationary pressures, Argentina has always been a difficult
business environment for the Group and other international
companies to operate in. Whilst the new national and provincial
governments on the one hand are a cause for optimism in Argentina,
the Group is cautious about the country’s political and economic
outlook.

COMMODITIES TRADING

During the year, the Group continued to successfully engage and
close out a number of commodities trades involving non-ferrous
metals and oil products, since its re-entry into this business in August
2017.

In line with the Group's objective to diversify its revenue base and
source of profit generation, the Group remains committed to this
business segment, though 2019 has been a noticeably quieter year,
mirroring worldwide demand.

CORONAVIRUS PANDEMIC AND OIL PRICE WAR

The start of 2020 has seen significant global market turmoil
following the outbreak of the coronavirus pandemic, and the oil
price war between Saudi Arabia and Russia. This has resulted in
a sharp decrease in world oil prices, international stock market
indices, and global economic activity/demand. Presently, the Group is
assessing the impact of these market developments for its financial
position, financial performance and future cash flows. However,
the Group is not aware of any material adverse effects, not already
reflected in its consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PROSPECTS AND DEVELOPMENTS

The objective of the Group is to maximise profitability and
increase cash flows for the purpose of funding its exploration
and development activities, whilst at the same time ensuring
its commitment to health, safety and the environment are
uncompromised.

Despite the previous Authorities rejecting the Group’s application
for a permit extension in the T&M Concessions, which has resulted
in the subsequent relinquishment of the concessions, and the
recognition of a sizable provision for impairment loss in 2019, the
Group will strenuously seek to overturn this decision. Given the
circumstances of the rejection, the Group considers it to amount to
an attempt by the previous Authorities to illegally seize oil and gas
assets from Group. However while the negotiations and appeal with
the new Authorities is still on-going, there are no certainties as to,
if and when the Group may resume exploration activities in the T&M
Concessions again. In the meantime, the Group has little option but
to suspend the planning and preparation efforts for the Morillo Deep
exploratory drill, originally scheduled for 2020.

Though the newly elected national and provincial governments are
a cause for renewed optimism in Argentina, the Group is cautious
about the country’'s political and economic outlook, and will
continue to closely monitor developments and plan accordingly.

With adequate cash reserve, the Group continues to urgently and
actively seek complementary investment opportunities in the energy
sector elsewhere in the world in order to broaden and diversify its
risk and revenue stream. Though its principal business is that of oil
and gas exploration and production, the Group is also interested in
diversifying into the renewable energy business. As such, the Board
of Directors has officially updated its vision and mission statement
to say “We develop energy for the new times. Diversify for climate
change and the environment.”
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Change in Use of Proceeds

As at 31 December 2019 and the date of this report, the Group
had unutilized net proceeds totaling HK$759.36 million of which a
total of HK$259.36 million was allocated for Argentina operational
purposes. This amount comprises HK$200.07 million from the 2016
Share Subscription Proceeds and an unused amount from the 2017
Open Offer Proceeds of HK$59.29 million. In addition, an amount of
unused net proceeds from the 2017 Open Offer Proceeds of HK$500
million was for investment in oil and gas assets. Please refer to the
table below for the status of the utilization of the aforesaid fund
raising proceeds and the proposed changes:

BEMSHRIERRE
RZZE—AF+_A=Z+—BRAHFEA
HOAEBERENADBIGRIEFHEAR
759,360,000/ 7T+ E 1 & $£259,360,0007% 7T
SIEARMBREZEL BN - hEBERERE S
T —RF R REE S 18 115 5 18200,070,000
BT T —tFRAREBERBRE
59,290,000 Lo fboh —E—t+FRAHEE
FIT 1S 3k I8 )F %8 19 &) 7K &) A < %8500,000,000/%
THREERARARAAREE-E LilE
EFSRENFEABAREZRES F2H
Tk

Utilized amount

Unutilized  of Net proceeds Unutilized Unutilized New
amount of net during the amount of net amount of net allocation/
proceeds as at year ended proceeds as at  proceeds as the remaining

31 December 31 December 31 December date of portion of
2018 2019 2019 this report proceeds
BE-Z-NF
R=F-\f +ZA=1-H RZZ-NE
+T-A=t-H LFEz  tZA=t-H RARHERH e RE
ZHBRERA FERERE ZABHERE  ASNEREN HAR/
HABASE EBALHE HABALE HABALE B lag:
HKS million HKS million HK$ million HK$ million HKS million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
2016 Share Subscription Proceeds ZE-AERORESERS
B
Argentina operational purposes MiREEEE M 216.16 (16.09) 200.07 200.07 20.71
2017 Open Offer Proceeds R HERREEMENE
Argentina operational purposes MiREEEE M 59.29 - 59.29 59.29 59.29
General working capital requirements —REBEEEX 84.98 (84.98) S = =
Investment in oil and gas portfolio RERBRRARES 500.00 500.00 500.00 S
New Uses mR%
Investment in Oil and Gas, power BRERARAAR EER
generation and renewable energy AEERR 579.36
Investment in short to medium term RERHZHHERIE.
financial instruments, general —RITHEH
administrative purposes 100.00
Total @it 860.43 (101.07) 759.36 759.36 759.36
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Considering the changing situations mentioned above, and with
reference to the announcement of the Company dated 27 August
2018, the Board of Directors has resolved to change the uses of
proceeds as follows:

(1) HKS$80 million remaining for Argentina operational

purposes.

This reduction from HK$259.36 million to HK$80 million is
due to the ongoing dispute in regard to the T&M Concessions
in the Provincial Government of Salta. While the negotiation
between the Company and the Salta government is still
ongoing, the process will take considerable time to resolve
as the international travel ban caused by the coronavirus
outbreaks is likely to persist and the results are uncertain. The
low oil price also makes oil and gas exploration in Argentina
uneconomical in the near to intermediate term.

Furthermore, the CAPEX for future oil and gas exploration
in Argentina could be financed by the Group’s existing oil
production in the Chirete Concession. Hence, the Group
believes it is prudent to transfer some of the previously
committed proceeds to investments in other opportunities
mentioned below.

(2) HKS$579.36 million will be allocated for possible

investments in oil & gas assets, power generation and
renewable energy/energy storage.
Of this amount, HK$500 million was derived from the 2017
Open Offer Proceeds and was originally designated for
investments in oil & gas assets. In view of the country risk of
Argentina and the outlook of the oil & gas market, the Group
has been spending a significant amount of time in exploring
and seeking acquisition opportunities in energy projects in
the solar farm, vanadium storage and power generating plant
businesses. The Company will continue to look at investment
opportunities which complement its updated mandate and
mission.

Thus, the Company believes that it is in its interest and that of
the shareholders’ to make additional funds available for future
acquisitions in this expanded group of energy opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(3) HKS$100 million will be allocated for investments in
short to medium term financial instruments and general
administrative purposes.
Short to medium term investments will be limited to bonds,
shares and other financial instruments associated with
reputable companies.

The change of proceeds for the Group represents an active
initiative to diversify its investments into renewable energy
which is consistent with its updated mandate and company
mission.

Shareholders will accordingly be advised as soon as any new
investment opportunities can be confirmed by the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
approximately HK$236.65 million, which represents a decrease of
approximately 20.58% as compared to approximately HK$297.99
million for the corresponding period in 2018. The revenue derived
from commodities trading for the year ended 31 December
2019 was approximately HK$216.33 million. This represents a
decrease of approximately 18.38% as compared to the HK$265.03
million revenue generated for the corresponding period in 2018.
Additionally, revenue derived from the sale of oil products under
the Group’s oil exploration and production business for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was approximately HK$20.32 million. This
represents a decrease of approximately 38.35% as compared to the
HK$32.96 million revenue generated for the corresponding period in
2018. The Group reported a gross profit of approximately HK$11.92
million (2018: HK$11.13 million) for the year ended 31 December
2019.

General and administrative expenses of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was approximately HK$52.25 million,
which represents a decrease of approximately 1.82% as compared
to approximately HK$53.22 million for the corresponding period in
2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recognised an
impairment loss on promissory note receivable, and trade and other
receivables of approximately HK$38.85 million and HK$33.93 million
respectively; whilst there were no such impairment losses recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recognised
impairment losses on exploration and evaluation assets in respect of
the Union of Temporary Enterprise in Tartagal Oriental and Morillo
Concessions, and inventories amounting to approximately HK$2.24
billion and HK$6.82 million respectively; whilst there were no such
impairment losses for the corresponding period in 2018.

The Group recognised a net investment loss in respect of financial
instruments of approximately HK$4.21 million (2018: HK$100.32
million) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Group recognised exploration expenses in relation to a dry hole
of approximately HK$0.20 million (2018: HK$0.37 million) for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Finance costs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
was approximately HK$13.81 million, which represents a decrease
of approximately 11.98% as compared to approximately HK$15.69
million for the corresponding period in 2018.

Share of losses of joint ventures of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019 were approximately HK$4.78 million, which
represents an increase of approximately 7.42% as compared to
approximately HK$4.45 million for the corresponding period in 2018.

Income tax credit of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 was approximately HK$20.25 million; whilst it was an income
tax charge of approximately HK$10.78 million for the corresponding
period in 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded a loss
for the year of approximately HK$2.29 billion (2018: HK$257.22
million).

Basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
approximately HK26.15 cents (2018: HK2.91 cents).

The board of directors of the Company does not recommend the
payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

In respect of the aggregate net proceeds of approximately
HK$557.23 million (2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds”) raised
from the subscription of shares in July 2016 and November 2016,
amongst which approximately HK$341.07 million had been used
up to 31 December 2018 towards its intended use as stated in the
circular of the Company dated 28 June 2016 and the announcement
of the Company dated 28 October 2016. As at 31 December 2018,
the unused balance of the 2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds was
approximately HK$216.16 million. The actual use of the 2016
Subscription Shares Proceeds during the year ended 31 December
2019 was, as to approximately HK$16.09 million, for Argentina
operational purposes as intended. As at 31 December 2019, the
unused balance of the 2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds was
approximately HK$200.07 million.

The following table summarises the use of net proceeds for the 2016
Subscription Shares Proceeds during the year ended 31 December
2019.

Unused amount of
net proceeds as at
31 December 2018
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Actual use of net

proceeds during
the year ended
31 December 2019

Unused amount of
net proceeds as at
31 December 2019

BE-Z—h&E
R-ZE—N\&F +=—HA=+—H R-Z—h%F
+=ZA=+—H®W LTFEEMFRST +T=A=+-—-HB®
P8 FRIE F 5 MEFHEZ FriS I8 F 5
Intended use B ER® MARE A S BERERSHE W ARE AL
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEBT BEBIT BEBIT
Argentina operational P 1R 4L & 12 B /Y 216.16 (16.09) 200.07
purposes (note) (FI7E)
Note: B 5

The expected timeline in relation to the use of the unused amount of net proceeds
as at 31 December 2019 will depend on the Group’s business, and oil and gas
investment plans in Argentina, which are discussed in the sections headed “Exploration,
Development and Production Activities” and “Future Prospects and Developments”
under Management Discussion and Analysis to this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In respect of the net proceeds of approximately HK$736.40 million
("Open Offer Proceeds”) raised from the open offer in April 2017,
amongst which approximately HK$92.13 million had been used
up to 31 December 2018 towards its intended use as stated in the
circular of the Company dated 28 February 2017 and the offering
memorandum dated 27 March 2017. As at 31 December 2018,
the unused balance of the Open Offer Proceeds was approximately
HK$644.27 million. The actual use of the Open Offer Proceeds
during the year ended 31 December 2019 was, as to approximately
HK$84.98 million, for general working capital requirements including
the repayment of interest and payment of overhead expenses as
intended. As at 31 December 2019, the unused balance of Open
Offer Proceeds was approximately HK$559.29 million.

The following table summarises the use of net proceeds for the
Open Offer Proceeds during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Unused amount of
net proceeds as at
31 December 2018
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Actual use of net
proceeds during
the year ended

31 December 2019

Unused amount of
net proceeds as at
31 December 2019
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644.27 (84.98) 559.29

Notes: B & -

1. The expected timeline in relation to the use of the unused amount of net
proceeds as at 31 December 2019 will depend on the Group's business, and
oil and gas investment plans in Argentina, which are discussed in the sections
headed “Exploration, Development and Production Activities” and “Future
Prospects and Developments” under Management Discussion and Analysis to this
annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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2. The expected timeline in relation to the use of the unused amount of net
proceeds as at 31 December 2019 will depend on the availability and timing of
suitable opportunities.

The Group maintained a treasury policy (as reviewed or modified
from time to time when deemed necessary) for the investment
of surplus cash. Surplus cash is mainly maintained in the form of
term deposits with the licensed banks. The management of the
Group closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its funding
requirements from time to time.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's net current assets amounted
to approximately HK$842.50 million (31 December 2018:
HK$907.82 million) and the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$771.66 million (31 December 2018: HK$928.48
million).

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group as at 31 December 2019
were mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollar, United States Dollar
and Argentine Peso.

As at 31 December 2019, total equity of the Group was
approximately HK$846.46 million (31 December 2018: HK$3,129.98
million). Net asset value per share equated to approximately
HK$0.10 (31 December 2018: HK$0.36). Debt ratio, calculated as
total liabilities divided by total assets, was approximately 22.72%
(31 December 2018: 10.06%).

The Group financed its operations generally from a combination of
working capital, borrowings and proceeds from the issuance of new
shares of the Company.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of other borrowings
of the Group denominated in Hong Kong Dollar was approximately
HK$151.54 million (31 December 2018: HK$210.79 million), which
represents unsecured debt securities in issue and carries interest at
fixed rates. Details of the maturity of the carrying amount of the
Group’s other borrowings are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Covenants

In July 2019, the Group repaid in full its other borrowings of
approximately HK$54.40 million that were subject to the fulfilment
of financial covenants. As at 31 December 2018, the Group's other
borrowings of approximately HK$54.40 million were subject to the
fulfilment of financial covenants relating to the Company’s assets/
liabilities ratio and the Group’s consolidated adjusted net tangible
assets, as commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group were to be in breach of these financial
covenants, the Group’s other borrowings would become payable on
demand. As at 31 December 2018, none of the financial covenants
relating to other borrowings were breached.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2019, gearing ratio, calculated on the basis
of interest bearing borrowings divided by total equity, was
approximately 17.90% (31 December 2018: 6.73%).

Charge on Assets
As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any charge on its
assets (31 December 2018: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2018: Nil).

Capital Commitments
Details of the capital commitments of the Group as at 31 December
2019 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses
and prospects are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties
including business risks, operational risks and financial risks.

The Group’s business of commodities trading is exposed to
development risk, as well as supply chain risk. The Group mitigates
these risk factors by developing its customer base in order to
achieve better operating performance on its commodities trades,
and also by expanding its supplier base to achieve a stable supply of
commodities.

The Group's business activities in exploration, development,
production and sale of crude oil are susceptible to geological,
exploration and development risks. Uncertainties exist with regards
to the Group’s application status of exploitation permit in the
Chirete concession. Details are disclosed in note 12(b) to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group strives to establish and
maintain comprehensive technical and operational teams. Through
detailed planning, analysis and discussion amongst the teams, and
with support from experienced consultants and experts, the Group
is able to manage and mitigate the risks arising from changes in the
business environment to a reasonably acceptable level.

In the normal course of business, the Group is exposed to credit risk,
liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk, price risk arising from
prices fluctuation of crude oil and commodities, and equity price
risk arising from its investment in equity securities. Details of the
financial risk management of the Group are set out in note 29 to
the consolidated financial statements.

In addition to the abovementioned risks and uncertainties, there may
be other risks and uncertainties which the Group has not identified,
or is aware of, or considers it to be of minimal impact to the Group
presently, which however has the potential to become significant in
the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Assets and liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong Dollar, United States Dollar and Argentine Peso. Most of these
assets and liabilities are denominated in the functional currency of
the operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving
rise to foreign exchange risk is primarily those from the Group's
exploration and production activities in Argentina and investments
in foreign companies. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
will monitor the foreign exchange exposures on an on-going basis
and will consider hedging instruments should the need arise.

Employees

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed a total of 38
(2018: 47) permanent employees in Hong Kong and Argentina.
Total employee remuneration (including directors’ remuneration
and benefits) for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted
to approximately HK$19.58 million (2018: HK$20.64 million).
The Group provides its employees with competitive remuneration
packages relative to their job performance, qualifications, experience,
and prevailing market conditions in the respective geographical
locations and businesses in which the Group operates.

Relationship with Suppliers, Customers and other
Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, social communities and
governments to meet its objectives and long-term goals. Save as
disclosed in the section headed “Business Review"”, there was no
material or significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers,
customers and/or other stakeholders during the year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associated companies, and joint ventures during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

BEEENWR DN

SNEE B B

AEFEEENABEEEUB T EXLMIE
ERERFAE- HEEERBBEATDUER
SEBZEBHNEELTE - EBINER
SEZRERMBEEITER R EEEE L
KRB AR ZRE - AE BRI EHNE
HHBER-AM AEBEEEBIFEZERIN
EREE TERNEEERNSEEHRT .

==
RZE-—NF+ZA=+—8 XEERE
BLRABEREBAA H£38R (ZE— NF: 47

HRBEE - BEZT—NF+_A=*1—
BLtFE EEFHNEAB(BEEEHE R
18 F )4 519,580,000 L (—ZF — )\ F:
20,640,000 7T) - AL EREEB R AR
FANFMAR DHEEENEARR BF
MEBET UREASEEEMESE
REBHMEETRET -

BHER FFREMER ANRE

AEEARRAHKER TP HEEBRIK
FEFROEBER YAKEEREAREE
EAGEMETOEE-REER XKD E]
—HRBEEN AEBEEHER TP R
SEMEEANFALBERNE KM

BRI R SR
AEERBE_T-AF+-A=+—AL
FELRHBAR BHANRABLEY
EARERHEFE

Annual Report 2019 ¢« ==

—-nEFEE 29



30

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmE DM

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavors to comply
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and
adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources,
energy saving and waste reduction. Details of the environmental
policies and performance of the Group are set out in “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” section of this annual report.

Significant Investments

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held other investment in equity
securities and other financial assets amounting to approximately
HK$16.07 million and HK$120.10 million respectively.

(i) Other investment in equity securities
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s other investment in
equity securities comprised of unlisted equity investments
in Borealis Alaska Qil, Inc. (“Borealis”) (formerly known as
NordAqg Energy Inc.) and Foothills Exploration Inc. (“Foothills
Exploration”) amounting to approximately HK$15.93 million
and HK$0.14 million respectively.

Borealis is an oil and gas company based in Anchorage,
Alaska and is mainly engaged in exploration, appraisal and
development of hydrocarbon reserves in the State of Alaska,
the United States of America. For the year ended 31 December
2019, the Group recognised a loss of approximately HK$1.95
million on the change in fair value of the equity investment in
Borealis in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income.

Foothills Exploration is an oil and gas exploration and production
company engaged in the acquisition and development of oil
and natural gas properties in the United States of America.
For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recognised
a loss of approximately HK$0.67 million on the change in fair
value of the equity investment in Foothills Exploration in the
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income.
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(ii)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other financial assets (i)
As at 31 December 2019, the Group's other financial assets
comprised of listed equity securities, unlisted equity-linked
securities, listed debt securities and unlisted funds amounting

to approximately HK$80.62 million, HK$8.03 million, HK$30.53
million and HK$0.93 million respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, details of the listed equity securities
with an aggregated value of 5% or more of the Group's total
assets are set out below:

Number  Percentage
of shares of shares
held by the  held by the
Group at Group at
31 December 31 December  Investment
Name of company Principal business 2019 2019 cost

RZB-1F RZT-NE
t=A=t-A t=A=+-H
rEEfE  AEEAE

BEEENWR DN

E@f%ﬂﬁé

—E-hF+ZA=Z+—H K&
@Hﬁﬁ@ﬂéﬁ&@%imﬂﬂl&ﬁ
IEEMBRABBES ETEHE
& IE £ E 2 5 5l 4780,620,0005 It
8,030,000 7T ~ 30,530,000/ 7T &
930,000/ 7T

RZZE—-hE+-A=+—B #EE
MAREBEEBTES %N IA FH) FHAR
KFEHHTNWOT

Net

investment

income (loss)

Proportion for the

Fair value at as to total  year ended
31 December assets of 31 December  Investment

2019 the Group 2019 strategy
REE
“B-nF
t=A=t+-8

RZB-0% LEERE
t=A=t-8 HAEE WA (BR)

GRS TEEH RG#E  ROBEAW RERA WAAEE HEEELL B8 RERH
% HK$ million HK$ million % HK$ million
BEET  AEAT BEET
Beijing Gas Blue Sky Sales and distribution of natural 357,637,761 2.75 201.27 74.03 6.76 (6.44) Note (i)
Holdings Limited gas and other related (Note (i)) ()
(Stock Code: 6828) products (BzE)
ERRREXERERAT AARREMEBERHER
(RIS : 6828) 7
China Tower Corporation Construction and operation 3,829,735 0.01 7.00 6.59 0.60 (0.41) Note (ii)
Limited (Stock Code: 788) of telecommunications (Note (i) B3 (i)
— H shares towers, provision of (BE)
telecommunications tower
site space; provision of
maintenance services and
power services; provision
of indoor distributed
antenna systems and other
trans-sector site application
and information services
PEREERHBBERAF BiEELERREE }ﬂ,\ &
(R K5 788) - HiR B eh REASEERSE
RENRE 4 1#\27\1 Kl
ARGEGRBENBITREY
HEARESRY
Total 20827 80.62 7.36 (6.85)

@5t
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Notes:

(i) Balance represented a loss arising from the change in fair value for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

(i) The investment is held for trading purposes.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held an investment
of unlisted equity-linked securities, the return of which are
determined with reference to the closing prices of certain
equity securities listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
recognised a net investment income of approximately HK$1.61
million, which comprised interest income of approximately
HK$1.59 million and a gain arising from the change in fair
value of approximately HK$0.02 million, on the aforementioned
unlisted equity-linked securities in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held five investments of
debt securities listed in Hong Kong or overseas. The carrying
value for each of these five investments is less than 5% of the
total assets of the Group. For the year ended 31 December
2019, the Group recognised a net investment income of
approximately HK$1.01 million, which comprised interest
income of approximately HK$1.49 million and a loss arising
from the change in fair value of approximately HK$0.48
million, on the aforementioned listed debt securities in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held an investment
of unlisted funds that invest primarily in cash. For the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Group recognised a net
investment income of approximately HK$0.02 million, which
represented a gain arising from the change in fair value on the
aforementioned unlisted funds, in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.
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INFORMATION ON NEW TIMES ENERGY'S OIL RECOVERABLE VOLUME AND RESOURCES
375K B 2 ok T IR B R R 2 B

CHIRETE CONCESSION

The recoverable volume and prospective resources in the Chirete
Concession are as follows:

CHIRETE4SEF &
HChiretel ZFiEE > TR B RIESEBMT :

At 31 December

At 31 December

2019 2018

R=ZF—hEF R=ZT—N\F

T-A=+—H [Revii=ha=

(o]]| Oil

(in MMBBL) (in MMBBL)

P yap

Category Gross (100%) B 5 #5H(100%) (BEB#®) (B&%®)

Recoverable Volume RE

Proved and Probable B RAA K AT e S
Prospective Resources =ER

Low Estimate IR ET 2.2

Best Estimate =EMET 8.6

High Estimate S SR 25.2

Notes:

(1

In July 2016, New Times Energy became a 50% participating partner in the
Chirete Concession having met all the conditions precedent as stipulated in the
farm-in agreement entered into with Pampa Energia S.A. (formerly Petrobras
Argentina S.A.) in April 2015.

The technical report in respect of the recoverable volume was prepared by
Gaffney, Cline & Associates, Inc., an international oil and gas consultancy and
subsidiary of Baker Hughes, as of 31 October 2019 in accordance with the
definitions and guidelines established by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.

In October 2018, New Times Energy spudded the HLG.St.LB.x-2001 exploratory
well (the “Well”). The Well was completed on December 2018. As a result of the
positive indications from the Well, New Times Energy prepared and submitted an
oil discovery report to the provincial authorities of Salta (the “Authorities”) on
26 December 2018. Following successful extended testing of the Well in early
2019, New Times Energy filed a commerciality declaration and exploitation permit
request to the Authorities on 26 April 2019.

As New Times Energy is presently awaiting receipt of the exploitation permit from
the Authorities, the recoverable volume as herewith disclosed does not fully meet
the definition of reserves as defined under the Petroleum Resources Management
System (PRMS). However, upon receipt of the aforementioned permit, the
recoverable volume will qualify to be reclassified as reserves.

RZZT—RFE+ R FHRERE RS EPampa
Energia S.A. (A& Petrobras Argentina S.A.) A=
T-RAFNATLZEALH ZHA KRGS
B A Chirete5 R HER50% 2 B 7 o

AR ENEMEE JyAHGaffney, Cline &
Associates, Inc ( —fH BIFR i R 2 7] )2 & Baker
Hughesti B AR R=ZT—hFE+A=+—8
BEAHIRMEBSH TN ER RIESIHR -

RZZE—N\F+ A HEKERZEHLG.SLLB.
x-2001 BRI ([ZBEAH]) ZBERIR-F
—NF+ AR BRZBERFNORFRE
BRERR-ZZE-NF+-A-+TRBEREERA
EREARE([BERDEXABAERRE K=
Z-NFNERAAKRNE FHERERR-F
—NAFOAZTRAMEREREENLZH R
RAFRI &

BRI RERE A EESHFERR TR
HEREENAIREYIFTE2FEAAMEREER
BPRMS)FT R E Z B 2 E & - AT RUKE Bt
AR AIRBRABREN S B AR
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INFORMATION ON NEW TIMES ENERGY'S OIL RECOVERABLE VOLUME AND RESOURCES
SRR AR T RERERZER

The technical report in respect of the prospective resources was prepared by
Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. (“NSAI"”), an international independent
qualified technical adviser, as of 31 December 2019 in accordance with
the definitions and guidelines set forth in the 2007 Petroleum Resources
Management System (PRMS) approved by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.

Due to the existence of insignificant quantities of prospective gas resources, no
estimate of this gas was made in NSAI's technical report.

The prospective resources shown above have been estimated using probabilistic
methods and are dependent on a petroleum discovery being made. Unrisked
prospective resources are estimated ranges of recoverable oil and gas volumes
assuming their discovery and development and are based on estimated ranges
of undiscovered in-place volumes. Geologic risking of prospective resources
addresses the probability of success for the discovery of a significant quantity
of potentially moveable petroleum; this risk analysis is conducted independent
of estimations of petroleum volumes and without regard to the chance
of development. Principal geologic risk elements of the petroleum system
including (1) trap and seal characteristics; (2) reservoir presence and quality;
(3) source rock capacity, quality, and maturity; and (4) timing, migration, and
preservation of petroleum in relation to trap and seal formation. Risk assessment
is a highly subjective process dependent upon the experience and judgment
of the evaluators and is subject to revision with further data acquisition or
interpretation. There was no material change on the assumptions adopted in the
updated report in compare with the previous report.
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INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart, aged 65, was appointed as an
executive Director in February 2008 and the Chairman in May 2009.
Mr. Cheng holds a Bachelor’s degree in Civil and Environmental
Engineering from the University of Wisconsin-Madison, the United
States of America ("USA"); a Master’s degree in Civil Engineering
from the University of California, Berkeley, USA; and a Master’s
degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong. Being a member of The Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers, Mr. Cheng is a professional engineer with extensive
experience in property development and construction management.
Mr. Cheng is a member of the Shunde District, Foshan City
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
since November 2006.

Mr. Cheng joined Hip Hing Construction Company Limited in 1984
as a project manager and was subsequently appointed as director.
From 1993 to 1997, Mr. Cheng was transferred to New World
Development (China) Limited as a director and an assistant general
manager, overseeing property development in the People’s Republic
of China ("PRC"). He was a director of NWS Service Management
Limited from 1997 to 2006, and was mainly responsible for
the construction and the electrical and mechanical engineering
businesses and pursuing business opportunities in the PRC.
Mr. Cheng is the managing director of Cheung Hung Development
(Holdings) Limited, principally engaging in property development
in both Hong Kong and the PRC. He was an executive director of
International Entertainment Corporation from January 2008 to June
2017, which shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan, aged 67, was appointed as an executive
Director in June 2017. Mr. Tang joined the Group as general
manager in August 2015. He brings with him over 20 years of senior
management experience and has held top executive positions with
various international companies prior to joining the Group.
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INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Formally trained as a structural engineer, Mr. Tang was a Chartered
Engineer in the United Kingdom (“UK") as well as a Registered
Professional Engineer in USA and Canada. Author and co-author
of peer-reviewed publications in several technical journals and
conferences, he is also the holder of U.S. Patent US6329589
pertaining to wireless transmission of solar power for exterior curtain
wall in buildings.

Mr. Tang holds a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering, Magna Cum
Laude, from the University of Massachusetts, USA; a Master’s degree
in Engineering from the University of California, Berkeley, USA; and
a Graduate-Level Diploma in Financial Engineering from Stanford
University, USA.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, aged 37, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in March 2019. Mr. Lee is currently a senior vice president
of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited ("CTFE") with responsibilities
in making strategic and private equity investments globally. CTFE
is an indirect subsidiary of Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited which is
a controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Lee joined CTFE in
March 2013 and has over 10 years of professional experience in
corporate finance, investment, international capital markets and
asset management. He previously worked at the investment banking
department of The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited and Deutsche Bank AG in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee holds a
Master of Science degree in Accounting and Finance from The
London School of Economics and Political Science to the University
of London in London, United Kingdom and a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree from the University of Michigan in Ann Arbor,
United States of America. He is also a Chartered Financial Analyst
Charterholder.

Mr. Lee is currently a non-executive director of Integrated Waste
Solutions Group Holdings Limited which shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange.
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INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie, aged 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in March 2013. Mr. Yung holds
a Master's degree in Business Administration from the University of
East Asia, Macau. He is a member of the Institute of Management
and a fellow of the Chartered Management Institute. Mr. Yung has
been engaged in finance and banking businesses for over 26 years.
He was the chief executive officer of Landbridge Holdings Limited,
the deputy chief executive officer of Industrial & Commercial
Bank of China (Macau) Limited and an executive director, deputy
general manager and alternate chief executive officer of Industrial
& Commercial International Capital Limited (currently known as
ICBC International Holdings Limited), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China Limited.

Mr. CHIU, Wai On, aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2006. Mr. Chiu is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
the UK. He possesses extensive professional experience in accounting
and auditing services. Mr. Chiu is currently an independent
non-executive director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited, whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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INFORMATION OF MANAGEMENT TEAM

EEEEEAH

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. MAK, Peter Kwok Ming, aged 43, joined the Group in October
2015 as a Project Manager and is currently the Financial Controller
of the Group. Mr. Mak holds a M.A. Honours degree in Business
Organisation from Heriot-Watt University, Edinburgh, UK. He is
a qualified Chartered Accountant of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW), with over 20 vyears
professional accounting and auditing experience. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Mak gained over 10 years of relevant oil and gas industry
experience in his previous roles as audit manager with KPMG and
financial controller with Schlumberger, where his last posting was
with WesternGeco in Penang, Malaysia.

OPERATIONS MANAGEMENT

Mr. CAVALLERI, Pablo, is a Geologist and is currently the Operations
Manager of the Group. He graduated at the National University of
Salta Argentina in 2005 with a bachelor's degree in Geology. Pablo
has 15 years of experience in the oil and gas industry, predominately
in Argentina and Saudi Arabia. Pablo joined the Group in January
2014 initially as a Development Geologist but later promoted to
Operations Manager from 2017. Prior to joining the Group, he worked
in companies such as Geoservices, Orion Excel Company, Schlumberger
D&M Middle East And Asia as a Field Engineer (Saudi Arabia), and
YPF Argentina as a Development Geologist. Pablo is an author and
co-author of several written publications including a publication in
technical national and international congress for the Qil Discovery in
Ordovician Prerift Sequences Las Brefas Formation, Lomas de Olmedo
Sub-Basin, Northwestern Argentina; Argentinian Geological Congress,
August 2017, Tucuman-Argentina; Exploration and Development
Hydrocarbon Congress, November 2018, Mendoza — Argentina, and
AAPG 2019 International Convention & Exhibition, Buenos Aires,
August 28th 2019, Argentina. Pablo is also the Vice-President 2nd of
Directive committee of IAPG (Oil and Gas Argentinian Institute), branch
office Tartagal, Salta Argentina since December 2017.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of New
Times Energy Corporation Limited (the “Company”) present their
report together with the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

An overview and the outlook of the Group’s business are provided
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
in the above sections, no significant event affecting the Group has
occurred since the end of the Year.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group's performance using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the section headed “Financial Highlights” of
this annual report.

An account of the Group’s relationship with its key stakeholders and
discussions on the Group's environmental policies and performance
are included in the respective sections headed “Corporate
Governance Report” and “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report”.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors and management of the Company are
aware, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. During the Year, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or
arbitration during the Year. The Directors are also not aware of any
material litigation or claims that are pending or threatened against
the Group during the Year.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 95 to 96 of this
annual report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 207 of this
annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY AND DIVIDENDS

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2018: Nil).

In order to enhance transparency of the Company and facilitate the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and investors
to make informed investment decisions relating to the Company, the
Board adopted a dividend policy on 26 March 2019 (the “Dividend
Policy”).

According to the Dividend Policy, when determining whether to
declare any dividend in the future and the amount of dividend to be
declared, the Company shall consider a number of factors, including
but not limited to:

a.  the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

b.  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

c.  the liquidity positions of the Group;

d. the future cash requirements and availability of the Group,
including its expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

e.  any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

f. the general market conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal and external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; and

g. any other factor that the Board may consider appropriate.
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The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The declaration, payment
and amount of dividends will be subject to the Board’s discretion.
The Board will review the Dividend Policy on a regular basis.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the
period from Tuesday, 2 June 2020 to Friday, 5 June 2020 (both days
inclusive), during which no transfers of shares will be registered,
for the purpose of determining shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on
Friday, 5 June 2020 (the “AGM"). In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 1 June 2020.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has made no
material acquisitions and disposals.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 28(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.

DEBENTURES

There were no issue of bonds or debentures of the Company during
the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as the share option scheme of the Company disclosed below,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 17 May
2011, the Shareholders approved the adoption of a new share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) in place of the old share
option scheme adopted on 30 August 2002 (the “Old Scheme”).
No further share options may be granted under the Old Scheme
upon its termination and share options granted and unexercised
prior to such termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the provisions of the Old Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme is adopted under the relevant
requirements of Chapter 17 of the rules governing the listing
of securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and its purpose is to provide incentives or rewards
to the eligible participants thereunder for their contribution or
would be contributions to the Group and/or enable the Group
to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group. Eligible participants include
any Director (including non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Director), employee (whether full time or part time),
any supplier of goods or services to the Group, any customer
of the Group, any agent or consultant that provides research,
development, technological support or other services to the Group,
any shareholder or any member of the Group or any holder of any
securities issued by the Group. The Share Option Scheme, unless
otherwise terminated or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from the date of coming into effect.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at
the date of approval of the limit and such limit may be refreshed
by the Shareholders in general meeting. In addition, the total
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to
time.
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The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all share options granted and to be granted (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme to each
eligible participants (other than an independent non-executive
Director or a substantial Shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates) in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of the latest grant of share options must not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue at such date. Any further grant of share options
under the Share Option Scheme in excess of this limit is subject to
Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting of the Company.

Under the Share Option Schemes, any grant of share options to a
Director, chief executive or substantial Shareholder of the Company,
or any of their respective associates are subject to approval by
the independent non-executive Directors. In addition, any share
options granted to an independent non-executive Director or a
substantial Shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates, which would result in the shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all share options already granted or to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme (including share options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant (i) representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and (ii) having an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, such grant of share options by
the Board must be approved by Shareholders in general meeting of
the Company.

The period within which share options may be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion save that such period shall not be more than 10 years
from the date of grant of the share options and that the Board may
at its discretion determine the minimum period for which the share
options have to be held before the exercise of the subscription right
attaching thereto.

The exercise price of the share options under the Share Option
Scheme is determinable by the Board in its absolute discretion, but
in any event shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of such share options; (ii)
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such share options; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company's shares.
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The offer of a grant of share options under the Share Option Scheme
may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer upon
payment of a consideration of HK$1.00 by the grantee.

During the Year, no share options were granted nor cancelled under
the Share Option Scheme. As at 31 December 2019, the Company
had no other outstanding share options.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) and there is no restriction against such
rights under the laws of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities. If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or
exercising of any rights in relation to the Company's securities, they
are advised to consult their professional advisers.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the Year are set out in note 28(a) to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had no retained profits
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie.
Pursuant to the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
Company’s contributed surplus of HK$740,880,000 is currently not
available for distribution. The Company’s share premium account
of HK$4,868,181,000 may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

Details of the above are set out in note 28(e) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the Group's
five largest customers accounted for 100% and the largest customer
accounted for approximately 89.53% of the Group’s total revenue
for the Year. The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 83.26% and the
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 77.65% of the Group's
total purchases from continuing operations for the Year.

During the Year, none of the Directors or any of their associates, or
any shareholders of the Company (which to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital), had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers
and customers.

EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Certain amounts of the transactions as set out in note 30(b) to the
consolidated financial statements fall within rule 14A.76(1) of the
Listing Rules, but each of the transactions constitutes a de minimis
transaction which was exempt from the reporting, announcement
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in so far as they are applicable.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or in existence during the Year.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report were/are:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart (Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob (Note)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie
Mr. CHIU, Wai On
Mr. WONG, Man Kong Peter
(deceased on 11 March 2019)
Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen
(resigned on 24 March 2020)

Note: On 26 March 2019, Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob was appointed by the Board as a
non-executive Director and a member of each of the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee of the Company with effect
from 1 April 2019. He resigned as a member of the Remuneration Committee on
24 March 2020.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 35 to 37 of
this annual report.

In accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws and the code
provision A.4.2 of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
and Mr. CHIU, Wai On shall retire by rotation at the AGM and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Information on Directors
proposed for re-election will be set out in the circular to the
Shareholders accompanying the resolutions to re-elect them at the
AGM.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 467 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors
and officers of the Company is currently in force and was in force
throughout the Year. Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors and the
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets of the Company which may incur or sustain by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duties. The Company has maintained liability
insurance to provide appropriate cover for the directors and officers
of the Group.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the Year, none of the Directors had entered into a service
contract with the Group which was not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save as otherwise disclosed, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance to which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, its holding companies or its fellow subsidiaries was party
and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any
time during the Year.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, as recorded in the register kept by the
Company under section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap. 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") in respect of
information required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange by the Directors and/or chief executive of the Company
pursuant to the SFO or to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (or any other applicable code), there
were no interests, whether long or short positions, held or deemed
to be interested by any of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), nor had there been any rights to subscribe for any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations held or deemed to be interested by any of them as at
31 December 2019.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Year, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the
Directors and their respective associates was considered to have any
interest in any businesses that competes with or is likely to compete
with the businesses of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee of the Company and approved by the Board, based
on the job responsibilities, the prevailing market conditions of
the industry and the Company’s remuneration policy, operating
performance and profitability.

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration and five individuals with
highest emoluments are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group's retirement benefits schemes are set out in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, the following corporations had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO and in accordance with information received
by the Company.
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Long position of substantial Shareholders’ interests in FERAREAQTECRITEBERER Z
issued ordinary shares of the Company L3y
Approximate
Number percentage
of issued of the total
ordinary issued share
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests shares held capital
e BT
e &7 R EE
RERERB 2% £:1:3-1 =BEREA BB
(note (vii))
(B 5 (vii) )
Max Sun Enterprises Limited Beneficially owned 5,737,129,098 65.50%
("Max Sun”) (note (i))
B TERRAT EmE
(I&#]1) CCHMEEa))
Chow Tai Fook Nominee Limited Interests in a controlled corporation 5,737,129,098 65.50%
("CTFNL") (note (ii))
BAREREABRAA ZiEEE R
(TAXKBREAL) (MIFEG))
Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.78%
("CTFHL") (note (iii))
AXE (ZER)ERAF ZiEE
(TARBER]) (BFEGI))
Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.78%
("CTFC") (note (iv))
Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited 2L E
(TeTrc]) (BiF&E(iv))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.78%
Limited (“CYTFH") (note (v))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) R E
Limited ([CYTFH 1) (BizE(V))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II) Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.78%
Limited (“CYTFH-II") (note (vi))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings 1) RPEEE S
Limited ([CYTFH-I1]) (Ff&E(vi))
Elberta Holdings Limited Beneficially owned 794,850,000 9.07%

BEnlA

Annual Report 2019 ¢ —ZE—hEEF#H 49



50

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EZgRE

Notes:
As at 31 December 2019:

(i) The entire issued share capital of Max Sun was legally and beneficially owned by
CTFNL.

(ii) CTENL held 100% direct interest in Max Sun and was accordingly deemed to
have an interest in the shares held by Max Sun.

(iii)  CTFHL held 99.90% direct interest in CTFNL and was accordingly deemed to have
an interest in the shares of CTFNL.

(iv) CTFC held 81.03% direct interest in CTFHL and was accordingly deemed to have
an interest in the shares of CTFHL.

(v) CYTFH held 48.98% direct interest in CTFC and was accordingly deemed to have
an interest in the shares of CTFC.

(vi) CYTFH-II held 46.65% direct interest in CTFC and was accordingly deemed to
have an interest in the shares of CTFC.

(vii)  The approximate percentage of interests held was calculated on the basis of
8,758,880,988 ordinary shares of the Company in issue.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
recorded no other interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section “Exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this annual report, no contract of significance had
been entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and any controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the Year.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The changes in information of Directors are set out below pursuant
to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

- The annual remuneration of Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart,
the executive Director and chairman of the Company, has been
adjusted to HK$2,224,800;
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- The annual remuneration of Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan, the
executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company,
has been adjusted to HK$2,496,000;

- On 26 March 2019 Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob was appointed
as a non-executive Director and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Audit Committee of the Company with effect from 1 April
2019. Mr. Lee has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for a specific term of three years commencing
from 1 April 2019, pursuant to which Mr. Lee is entitled for a
director fee of HK$480,000 per annum. Mr. Lee resigned as a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company with
effect from 24 March 2020. The annual director fee of Mr. Lee
has been adjusted to HK$484,800;

- Each of the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. CHAN,
Chi Yuen, Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie and Mr. CHIU, Wai On,
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a specific term of three years commencing from on 5
June 2019. Director’s fee for each of Mr. Chan, Mr. Yung and
Mr. Chiu remains at HK$200,000 per annum; and

- Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen, an independent non-executive Director,
has resigned as an executive Director of Great Wall Belt & Road
Holdings Limited (formerly known as e-Kong Group Limited)
and an independent non-executive Director of China Baoli
Technologies Holdings Limited with effect from 18 October
2019 and 18 September 2019 respectively.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
the minimum public float of 25% as required under the Listing Rules
throughout the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 54 to 70 of this annual report.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

(b)

Change of Company Secretary and Authorised
Representative

Ms. LAM, Katrina Lai Kuan ceased to be the Company Secretary
and Authorised Representative on 17 January 2020. Ms. LI,
Janice Shan Mui was appointed as the Company Secretary and
Authorised Representative on 17 January 2020.

Ms. LI, Janice Shan Mui ceased to be the Company Secretary
and Authorised Representative on 10 March 2020. Mr. LEE,
Kun Yin has been appointed and will act as the Company
Secretary and Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan has been appointed
and will act as the Authorised Representative with effect from
10 March 2020.

Further details regarding the change of Company Secretary and
Authorised Representative were set out in the announcements
dated 17 January 2020 and 10 March 2020 respectively.

Resignation of Independent Non-Executive Director
and Changes in Composition of Board Committees
Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen (“Mr. Chan”) resigned as an independent
non-executive Director on 24 March 2020. As a result of the
resignation of Mr. Chan as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, he also ceased to be the chairman
of both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee as well as a member of the Audit Committee.
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie has been appointed as the
chairman of both the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob has resigned as
a member of the Remuneration Committee and Mr. CHENG,
Kam Chiu Stewart has resigned as a member of the Nomination
Committee; all with effect from 24 March 2020.

Following the resignation of Mr. Chan as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company, the Company has
not managed to meet the requirement of Rule 3.10(1) and
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Listing Rule
3.11, the Company will seek a suitable candidate to fill the
abovementioned vacancy and expects the replacement to be
appointed within three months from 24 March 2020.
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Further details regarding Mr. Chan’s resignation and changes
in composition of board committees were set out in the
announcement dated 24 March 2020.

Save as disclosed above and in notes 12(b) and 34 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group does not have any
material subsequent events after 31 December 2019 and up to
the date of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited
by KPMG, Certified Public Accountants, who will retire at the
conclusion of the AGM. KPMG, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as
the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

OUTLOOK

The Company will continue to develop and grow while aiming to
enhance its financial position and business foundation to create
long-term shareholders’ value.

By order of the Board

CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 March 2020
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company and management of the Group strive to attain and
maintain high standards of corporate governance best suited to the
needs of its businesses and interest and value of the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) as the Board believes that
effective governance is essential to the maintenance of the Group’s
competitiveness and to its healthy growth.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted and applied the principles of the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company periodically
reviews its corporate governance practices to ensure its continuous
compliance with the CG Code. For the year ended 31 December
2019 (the “Year"”), the Company complied with all code provisions
of the CG Code and adopted the recommended best practices of the
CG Code insofar as they are relevant and practicable, save for the
deviations as described in this Corporate Governance Report.

Code Provision C.1.2

Code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the
management should provide all members of the board with monthly
updates giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties under rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules. During
the Year under review, while the management of the Company did
not provide monthly updates to all members of the Board as required
by the code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, all the executive
Directors were involved in the daily operations of the Group and
were fully aware of the performance, position and prospects of the
Company, and the management of the Company had provided to
all Directors (including, non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors) quarterly updates giving a balanced
and understandable assessment of the Company's performance,
position and prospects in sufficient details prior to the regular
board meetings. In addition, the management of the Company had
provided all members of the Board, in a timely manner, updates on
any material changes to the performance, position and prospects of
the Group and sufficient background or explanatory information for
matters brought before the Board.
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS' SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he
had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, one
non-executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors
as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart (Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob (Note 1)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie
Mr. CHIU, Wai On

Note 1: On 26 March 2019, Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob was appointed by the Board as a
non-executive Director and a member of each of the Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee of the Company with effect
from 1 April 2019. He resigned as a member of the Remuneration Committee
with effect from 24 March 2020.
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The Board has a balanced composition of Executive and
Non-executive Directors with each Director having sound knowledge,
experience and expertise contributing to the performance and
development of the Group. All Directors are aware of their collective
and individual responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised
their duties of care, skill and diligence.

The Board members do not have any financial, business, family
or other material and/or relevant relationships with each other.
Biographical details of the Board members are set out in the
“Information of Directors” section of this annual report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which
sets out the approach to diversify the Board. The Company seeks
to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional and industrial experience,
skills, knowledge, length of service, and any other factors that the
Board might consider relevant and applicable. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has set the measurable objectives based
on gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience and skills and knowledge for the implementation of
Board diversity of the Company.

The Nomination Committee and the Board will review the Policy, on
a regular basis, to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to
time. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

Having reviewed the Policy and taken into account the measurable
objectives, the Nomination Committee and the Board considered
that the Board’s composition has complied with the requirements of
the Policy during the Year.
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Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and collectively responsible for promoting success of
the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.
The Board also formulates objectives, overall corporate strategies
and business plans, and oversees the financial and management
performance of the Group. Day-to-day functions and authorities are
delegated to the management, which include the implementation
of objectives, strategies and plans adopted by the Board and
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. There are
established procedures for the Directors upon reasonable request,
to seek independent advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.

Apart from the regular Board meetings and pursuant to code
provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the chairman has also met with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
executive Directors during the year. The independent non-executive
Directors are encouraged to provide their independent views to the
Board.

Corporate governance functions

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate
corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s
circumstances and to ensure processes and procedures are in place
to achieve the Company’s corporate governance objectives.

The duties of the Board performing corporate governance functions
under the CG Code include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (in any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Company; and

5.  to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance.
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Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year for the
reviewing and approval of the Company’s financial and operating
performance, as well as the consideration and approval of the overall
strategies and policies of the Company. Apart from the regular
board meetings, the Board met on other occasions where necessary.
Throughout the Year, Directors also participate in the consideration
and approval of routine and operational matters of the Company by
way of circulating resolutions.

During the Year, the Board held four regular meetings. To facilitate
maximum attendance of the Directors and to provide opportunity
to include matters in the agenda for the Board meetings, notices of
regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days
before the regular meetings while reasonable notice is generally
given for other meetings. Meeting agenda together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are normally given
to all Directors no less than 3 days prior to each Board meeting to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Company Secretary is
responsible to ensure that Board meetings comply with the relevant
procedures, rules and regulations. All Board meeting minutes record
the details of the matters discussed and decisions made. Board
minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and signed by respective
Directors.

Directors’ attendance of the Board Meetings and Annual General
Meeting (“AGM") held during the Year are set out below:

Exge;
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Number of

Board Meetings AGM
attended/held attended/held
EEEEE HE BT
Name of Directors EEER HIEEITRE BRAFEAE
Executive of Directors HITES
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart BRERRAE L (FE)
(Chairman) 5/5 11
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan Bk BEE (7TBAAE)
(Chief Executive Officer) 5/5 11
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEHEE 4/4* 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors B I FHITESE
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie HIRE LA 5/5 1/1
Mr. CHIU, Wai On BERESE 5/5 1/1
Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen BRAERAEA
(resigned on 24 March 2020) (R-ZFE-FF
=ZAZ- 1A EE) 5/5 11
&5 During the Year, four board meetings of the Company were held after the  * FR BFEHFLER-_Z-—NAFOA—AEZE

appointment of Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob on 1 April 2019.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by two
executive Directors, Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart and Mr. TANG,
John Wing Yan respectively. Their respective responsibilities are
clearly established and defined.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is accountable
to the Board ultimately. The Chairman takes the lead to encourage
Directors to make active contribution to the Board's affairs and
ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company.

The Chief Executive Officer represents the management of the
Company and is accountable to the Board. His main responsibilities
include overseeing the implementation of the Group’s strategies,
objectives and policies as well as monitoring day-to-day management
of the Group's businesses and operations.

Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Directors

The non-executive Director and the independent non-executive
Directors give the Board the benefit of their skills, expertise,
varied background and experiences. Through active participation
in Board meetings and serving on various Board Committees, the
non-executive Director and the independent non-executive Directors
bring in independent judgment and make valuable contributions to
the effective direction and strategic decision-making of the Group.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the three independent non-executive Directors. Each
independent non-executive Director is required to inform the
Company as soon as practicable if there is any change that may
affect his independence. During the Year, the Nomination Committee
has assessed the independence of each of the independent
non-executive Directors based on the guidelines as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and considered them to be independent.

Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen resigned from his positions as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee with effect from 24 March 2020.
Following the resignation of Mr. Chan, the Company has not
managed to meet the requirement of having a minimum number of
three independent non-executive Directors under Rule 3.10(1) of the
Listing Rules and also Rule 3.10A which stipulates that the number
of independent non-executive Directors shall represent at least one
third of the Board. However, pursuant to Listing Rule 3.11, the
Company will seek a suitable candidate to fill the abovementioned
vacancy and expects the replacement to be appointed within three
months from 24 March 2020.

Except for the deviation stated in the above period, the Company
has complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and
3.10A of the Listing Rules throughout the year.

TEER/RRE

FERITHAR
ITRERITREZACHHIBMEBRNITES (
WHRAEREKBEL) BE-RERBZE
EEBMRESL R SRE

TREEEEENRRAESEAE IR
BETREFHEFEEHIFLEBAR
VHRREFETETEARA 2 &EMS-

FHITESRBIUFYITES

FATESERBYUFATET 2R X
B TRANESREROSESTSH A ES -
EREB2EEZEERNREFTIETS
ZEERBG FATEETRBIUFRITES
B AR B 2 1577 R M SRS MR B A B
THEREHEERR

AAFERE=RBIUFATEETSERE
BYMIELFERR - MHBRETMAIETE
HBYEZEY B2BIUFNTESAR
BERAITERATERBAARRR - RAFE
REZBECREBELTRANEIIGEMER
EolHEEBRBUIFRTES 2B LML I
RANEEBEIL-

MEREEEEEBIFENTES FHE
BgXR REZECEIERERZEENX
Bl AT _FTF=-A_t+HHBER-
BREEZHIR ARARREFE TR
BIZE310MNEETEER L =R B IERTT
EZAZMBRTE R ETEBIZE3.10A KIS AP
BURITESZABEELVHESEKE
W=pz— R BIELTHAEINE:
ARRBSRKEE 2 NEER L6 =
REEHERE _E-_EF=-A_+HmHAL
—HAARNEERBEAE-

B A+ B &R bt BERS B9 1R B AN - AR R AR
AEE—EHFMAELWHREBIFE3.10(1) 3.102)
N3 10AIEBV IR TE °
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Appointment and re-election of Directors

In compliance with the requirements under the Listing Rules and the
Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), (i) any Director who
is appointed to fill a casual vacancy is subject to election by the
Shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment; and (ii)
all Directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and are eligible for re-election.

During the Year, the non-executive Director and each of independent
non-executive Director has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for a specific term of three years subject to retirement
by rotation as required by the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.

Mr. CHIU, Wai On has served as an independent non-executive
Director for more than nine years. Pursuant to Provision A.4.3 of
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, if an independent non-executive
Director serves more than 9 years, any further appointment of
such independent non-executive Director should be subject to (1) a
separate resolution to be approved by Shareholders; and (2) further
information to be sent out in the circular to Shareholders the reasons
why the Board believes the relevant independent non-executive
Directors is still independent and should be re-elected.

The Board is of the opinion that Mr. Chiu remains independent,
notwithstanding the length of his tenure. He has confirmed to
meet the criteria set out in the independence guideline of Rule
3.13 under the Listing Rules. Mr. Chiu has extensive experience and
knowledge in the industries of accounting and auditing and in-
depth understanding of the Company’s financial situation. The Board
considers that Mr. Chiu is not involved in the daily management of
the Company nor he is in any relationships or circumstances which
would interfere with the exercise of his independent judgments.
Therefore, the Board is of the opinion that Mr. Chiu still has the
required integrity and independence to continue fulfilling the role of
an independent non-executive Director.

INDUCTION, INFORMATION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Upon appointment to the Board, Director(s) will receive an induction
package covering the general understanding of the Group and its
businesses and operations. Meetings will also be arranged with
the Company’s external legal adviser on directors’ legal role and
responsibilities.
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All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major changes
on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. Timely updates on the
Group's financial performance, businesses and developments are
also provided to the Directors. They also have full and timely access
to information on the Group and independent professional advice at
all times whenever deemed necessary.

In compliance with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional development
(the “CPD") to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
During the Year, the Company encouraged all Directors to attend
training courses, seminars, webcasts or conferences which were
relevant to their respective duties and responsibilities at the
Company’s expenses, and provided relevant materials and updates
for their reading. The Directors are required to provide the Company
with details of CPD training taken by them from time to time. The
training records are kept by the Company Secretary. Based on the
records provided, the Directors participated in the following CPD
programmes during the Year:

TEER/RRE

MEESHERETBBMBREN ER R
ROICEREY EFTeEREREAE
BHBERR EFHEREROKNBE -BF
BRI EEMERGIAARENERRRE
FERBERNGELERER

BEALEERTRZTRAERXEAG6SG
PREFAABEIXUR ([ FEER
BRI O UZBRMEREMGMRE - RA
FE - ARABBEREFHRFEANESS
ZBEMBEABIHIRE EH®E B
HBRLEF BERAAQRAEZ YEREM
HEEH RGN EEAHREEHNE -EEA
AARBRBAEBRSETIRER ZHERHE
BRIBIZFE - BB ARWERT
REMEHZCE RAFEEEELHEN
THESXZRR:

Directors’ Training in 2019
EER -2 - NFHEI
Attending training
courses, seminars,

webcasts or Reading materials

conferences or updates
HEZIRE -
BEE - HEERS
Name of Directors EspgA WPERIER BHEE
Executive of Directors HITES
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart EERM A A (/) v
(Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan BB E (7THAEER) v v
(Chief Executive Officer)
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEHEE v
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTEE
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SiRELE v
Mr. CHIU, Wai On BREZEE v v
Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen REERLE v v
(resigned on 24 March 2020) (R=ZF=—ZFF

A=+ HAFE)
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BOARD COMMITTEES

As an important part of a sound corporate governance practice,
the Board has established four Board Committees: the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and
Executive Committee to assist the Board to discharge its functions.
Each Committee has specific written terms of reference which sets
out clearly the Committee’s duties and authority. The terms of
reference and the list of members of each committee are published
on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and/or the
Company.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties, including the management support and
engagement of independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense. The Committees report to the Board on their decisions
or recommendations and maintain an effective and constructive
communication with the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three Directors
namely Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart, Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie
and Mr. CHIU, Wai On with majority members being independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie, the
independent non-executive Director, is currently the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and the senior management of the Company.
Details of the authority and duties of the Remuneration Committee
are available on the websites of the Company and Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee convened three
meetings to, inter alias, review the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and the senior management of the Company,
approval of a letter of appointment for each of independent
non-executive Directors and recommendation of remuneration
package for the new appointed non-executive Director. Members'
attendance of the Remuneration Committee Meetings held during
the Year are set out below:
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TEER/RRE

Number of

Meetings

attended/held

BEHE

Name of Members EENA HITRE

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie (Chairman) — SIREL L (/&) 3/3

Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart B 38 FA 5 A4 3/3

Mr. CHIU, Wai On BERESE 3/3
Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen (Chairman) PRER L E (i" =)

(resigned on 24 March 2020) (R-ZF-FF=H —+PHHET) 3/3

Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob S ;*ﬂ?ﬁ‘ai
(resigned on 24 March 2020) (RZBFE-ZZFF=HA-+HHFF) 2/2*
e During the Year, two meetings of the Remuneration Committee of the Company ~ * FRN BFEHFLER-_T-—NFUA—BEZ

were held after the appointment of Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob on 1 April 2019.

The remuneration of the members of senior management of the
Company by band for the Year is set out below:

E2& ARBBTMAFHEESSE-

ARAEBERABRAFENHHEE N
T

Number of persons

Range of Remuneration ¥ B 5 [ A
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 752 1,500,000 7T 1

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three Directors
namely Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie and
Mr. CHIU, Wai On with majority members being independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai, Dickie, the
independent non-executive Director, is currently the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, amongst other things,
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
considering the re-appointment of Directors, reviewing the Board’s
diversity policy and relevant implementation of the diversity policy,
and making recommendations to the Board in respect of the
aforesaid matters.

By such policy, the selection of candidates is based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision is based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates bring to
the Board. Details of the authority and duties of the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and Stock
Exchange.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee convened one meeting
to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board,
and recommendation of appointment of the non-executive Director.
Members’ attendance of the Nomination Committee Meeting held
during the Year are set out below:

RAFE REZESER—XREE UE
MEFg 8B RAE AXEKEZ T
UAERZBRREFATEZT RAFERTLZ
REAZESEZZIHELFEREHINMT

Number of

Meeting

attended/held

eREE/

Name of Members EEHE BHITRE

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie (Chairman) SiRBEE (FE) 11

Mr. CHIU, Wai On BEREE 1/1

Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEEEE 38 FAN/A*

Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart B 38 F8 5T A4

(resigned on 24 March 2020) (R—F-FF=H-+HFF) 171
Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen (Chairman) BEREE (8

(resigned on 24 March 2020) (R-_F-FF=H - +PHEFT) 1/1

* During the Year, no meeting of the Nomination Committee of the Company was
held after the appointment of Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob on 1 April 2019.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three Directors namely
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie and Mr. CHIU,
Wai On with majority members being independent non-executive
Directors. All of them possess the relevant qualifications, experiences
and skills to contribute to the financial, governance, internal controls
and risk management of the Company. Mr. CHIU, Wai On, the
independent non-executive Director, with professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management expertise is
currently the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
consolidated financial statements and reports and considering any
significant or unusual financial items; overseeing the relationship
between the Company and the external auditor; considering the
scope of its audit, approving the audit fees and the appropriateness
of non-audit services; and reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Company’s financial controls and risk management and
internal control systems. Details of the authority and duties of the
Audit Committee are available on the websites of the Company and
Stock Exchange.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings, inter
alia, to review the 2018 annual results and the 2019 interim results
of the Group and to review the Group’s internal control system
including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.
In addition, the Audit Committee met the external auditor once
without the presence of the management to discuss any areas of
concerns. Members' attendance of the Audit Committee Meetings
held during the Year are set out below:

TEER/RRE

RAFE BERZEEARMAEH A (H
TEREB)EHNAKEE T N\F2FEXE
R_Z-NFZHHEE BHAKEZR
MEEHE BRERART S MM KERE
RRZBRFARM BIZERRER LLIN
ERZESEINEZBMEEEABREN
BRATET—Rem JwAESEINME
B RNAFERTZERZEENEHFEAX
BEHWT

Number of

Meetings

attended/held

BEHE

Name of Members EENR HEITIRE

Mr. CHIU, Wai On (Chairman) HREZTE (XE) 2/2

Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEFLELE 1/1%*

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SIRE LA 2/2
Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen REELEE

(resigned on 24 March 2020) (R-ZFE_-_FF=FH-+WHET) 2/2

* During the Year, one meeting of the audit committee of the Company was held  * FRN BFEHFEER_ZT-NFNA—BEZ

after the appointment of Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob on 1 April 2019.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established on 30 August 2017 and
is currently chaired by the Chairman of the Board, Mr. CHENG, Kam
Chiu Stewart with the CEO, Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan as member.
The executive Directors involved in operations of the Group and
are fully aware of the performance, position, and prospects of the
Company.

The main duties of the Executive Committee include overseeing the
general management and day-to-day operations of the Company,
monitoring the execution of the Company’s business strategy as
approved by the Board, approving any changes to the scope of
authority delegated to the senior management and any other
matters specifically delegated to it by the Board. Details of the
authority and duties of the Executive Committee are available on the
Company's website.
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During the Year, the Executive Committee held twelve meetings.

’

il /- DS

RAEE BTREEA
TREEEHZKBHEER

Members' attendance of the Executive Committee Meetings held AREFRITZHITEE
during the Year are set out below: HEHIWT -
Number of
Meetings
attended/held
BEEE
Name of Members EERE BITRY
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart ERERERAEE (E)
(Chairman) 12/12
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan B BEE (FTHAEE)
(Chief Executive Officer) 12/12

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Listing Rules, the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and other applicable regulatory
requirements, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

The Board is responsible for presenting balanced, clear and
understandable annual and interim reports, inside information
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided the Directors such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which
are put to the Board for approval.

In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, the Directors have reviewed the
Group’s cash flow projections prepared by management based
on estimations of future revenue from sales of crude oil, future
production costs, committed and planned capital expenditure and
the availability of financing, which cover a period of twelve months
from the reporting period end date. They are of the opinion that
the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due and committed future capital
expenditure within the next twelve months from the end of the
current reporting period.
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Save as disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquires, they
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events of
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor, Messrs KPMG
("KPMG"), are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
87 to 94 to this annual report.

Auditor’s remuneration

The Audit Committee has been notified of the nature and
service charges of the non-audit services performed by KPMG
and considered that such services have no adverse effect on the
independence of their audit works.

A summary of audit and non-audit services provided by KPMG for
the Year and their corresponding remuneration is as follows:

TEER/RRE

B EMBERRMEIAREEIN BES
FH— U EBREREKMRAN 2B NEE
BENERL TNAEREMAEEARAEZ
SERERNBRERNBERZEABEEEX
TEHARE-

SNEE BN R TGS ENES AT ([2FE])
ZHREBTHNAFREGTAEFIMA LB
STAZBEN R o

BB &
BERZESCENEESRETIERRS
ZUHERRBKE R FRBEHEEZ
THEZBIESEBRERRZE-

RAFEE EFHRREZEZIFEZRS
MEAREMEEMET

Amount
Nature of Services REME M
(HK$'000)
(F%mT)
Audit service for the Year RAEE 2 BZRG 1,900
Others (including reviews of the interim  Hfh (B IERF P HEEN 2 FEEVST NS
results and preliminary announcement M H R E A IERE AR )
of the annual results, tax consultancy
and other non-audit services) 850

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and
reviewing its effectiveness, is committed to implementing an
effective and sound risk management and internal control systems
to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the assets of the
Group. The Audit Committee has been delegated by the Board to
review the risk management and internal control systems.

Procedures have been designed to (i) safeguard assets from
inappropriate use; (ii) maintain proper accounting records; (iii)
ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations;
and (iv) manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
To safeguard confidentiality, information access is managed on a
need-to-know basis. Use of computers, especially access to the
internet and e-mail systems, is similarly regulated with a view
towards security.
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The risk management and internal control systems of the Group
provide a reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that material
misstatement of the financial statements are prevented, potential
interruption of the Group’s management system is detected, and
risks existing in the course of arriving at the Group's objectives are
properly managed. It can only manage, rather than eliminate, all
risks of material misstatement, errors, loss or fraud.

During the Year, the Company engaged an independent advisory
firm, to perform an internal control review to assess the Group’s
internal control systems in order to assist the Board in reviewing its
effectiveness. The reviews, normally performed once a year, covered
the effectiveness of the financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Group, with a focus
on the core business of the Group (i.e. the upstream business in
Argentina). Relevant report from the independent advisory firm
was presented to and reviewed by the Audit Committee and the
Board. Based on the results of internal control review for the
Year and the assessment of the Audit Committee thereon, no
material inadequacies or deficiencies in the risk management and
internal control systems were drawn to the attention of the Audit
Committee, but appropriate recommendations for further enhancing
the internal control systems have been taken. The Board is of the
view that the internal control systems were effective and adequate
and no irregularities, fraud or other deficiencies were identified for
the financial year ended 2019.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary directly reports to the Board. The Company
Secretary is responsible for supporting and advising the Board on
governance matters. All Directors have access to the advice and
service of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures,
all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

Ms. LAM, Katrina Lai Kuen and Ms. LI, Janice Shan Mui ceased to
be the Company Secretary of the Company on 17 January 2020 and
10 March 2020 respectively, Mr. LEE, Kun Yin has been appointed as
the Company Secretary of the Company with effect from 10 March
2020. For the Year, Ms. LAM, Katrina Lai Kuen confirmed that she
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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SHAREHOLDERS

Communications with Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of continuing communications
with the Company’s Shareholders and investors, and maintains
ongoing dialogues with them through various channels. The
formal communication channels between the Company and the
Shareholders are announcements, circulars and interim and annual
reports. All Shareholders’ communications are available on the
Company’s website. During the Year, there was no change in the
Company’s constitutional documents. An up-to-date consolidated
version of the Bye-laws is also available on the websites of the
Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings of
the Company which provide a useful forum for the Shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The Board members and
management of the Company are available to answer Shareholders’
questions and explain the procedures for demanding and conducting
a poll, if necessary.

Shareholders’ rights

Under the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding not less than 10% of the
paid-up capital of the Company at the date of deposit of written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, can at all times
request a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
addressing specific issues of the Company within 21 days from the
date of deposit of such requisition to the Company's head office
address in Hong Kong.

The Group recognises Shareholders’ rights in exercising control
proportionate to their equity ownership. The Company has been
conducting voting at the general meetings by way of poll, which is
conducted and scrutinised by the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong. Procedures for conducting a poll are explained by the
Chairman of the Board in the general meetings prior to the taking of
the poll. Poll results are announced and posted on the websites of
both the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.
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Constitutional Documents

The Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws are
available on the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. During the Year, there was no change to the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company.

Shareholders’ enquiries and proposals

Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis
Limited, in person or by post. Contact details are set out in the
“Information for Stakeholders” section to this annual report.

Enquiries and proposals by Shareholders requiring the Board's
attention can be sent in writing to the Company Secretary at the
Hong Kong head office address of the Company.

Investor relations

During the year, the Company has proactively enhanced its corporate
transparency and communications with its shareholders and the
investors through the announcement of its interim and final reports.
Through the timely distribution of other announcements, including
but not limited to notices of meetings, circulars and other relevant
Company's information, the Company has also kept the public aware
of its latest developments.

Conclusion

Going forward, the Company will continue to review its corporate
governance practices on a timely basis to maintain its high
level of transparency. The Company will also try to enhance its
competitiveness and operating efficiency in order to generate greater
returns for its stakeholders.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD OF THIS
REPORT

The Group hereby presents its 2019 ESG report, highlighting its
Environmental, Social, and Governance (the "ESG") performance,
with disclosure made by reference to the ESG Reporting Guide
as described in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and Guidance set out by The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

The Group is principally engaged in the exploration, development,
and operation of oil and gas projects. In accordance with reporting
principle and materiality assessment of the Group’s ESG aspects, it
was identified that the subsidiary, High Luck Group Limited (“HLGL")
was a key business for disclosure in this reporting year, by virtue
of its carbon footprint in relation to that of the Group. This ESG
report covers the Environmental and Social performance of the HLGL
business operations in Argentina for the year ended 31 December
2019, unless otherwise stated.

Additionally, the Group is involved the business of commodities
trading, via its subsidiaries, Grand Rich Trading Limited and United
Resources Trading Limited. For 2019 ESG reporting purposes, this
was excluded from the ESG reporting scope on the grounds that
the business of commodities trading had limited consequential
environmental and social impacts.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY

During the year, the Group engaged in regular meetings and events
to communicate with various stakeholders to obtain information,
relevant comments, and feedback from the participants to
understand their expectation in the development of the Group's
business portfolio and sustainability.

In order to identify the most significant aspects of the Group for
ESG reporting purposes, key stakeholders including investors,
shareholders and employees have been involved to identify the areas
of attention, to facilitate the Group in setting the overall direction of
this report.
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The Group is planning to further involve and engage its stakeholders
in an effort to further improve the usefulness of its ESG reporting.
Our concession partners are also periodically engaged in UTE
operational committee meetings for their latest views.

In general, stakeholders may locate ESG information through the
following channels:

o Annual general meeting and notices

o Annual reports, interim report, consolidated financial

statements and announcements
o Corporate website
o Investors briefings
o Notice and Circulars
o Bilateral contracts and supplier agreements

. Code of conduct
STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its Environmental,
Social and Governance initiatives via email at info@nt-energy.com.

THE GROUP’S MISSION AND VISION ON
SUSTAINABILITY

Mission

As an oil and gas exploration and production company, the Group
operates under the ethos of ‘Health & Safety First’ by adopting
best practices to ensure the health and safety of its employees,
contractors, customers and communities. The Group strives to
continuously improve its health & safety management practices with
the goal of achieving an injury-free workplace.

The Group is committed to ensuring all its plant and equipment are
operationally safe and free of hazards. Furthermore, the Group is
committed to ensuring its employees are properly trained in safe
working practices and that they have a clear understanding of their
responsibilities for taking positive steps to improve health and safety.
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Vision

The Group is committed to its Corporate Social Responsibility,
Health and Safety, Environmental Protection, Human Resources and
Labour Practices, and Community Involvement and Sustainable Value
Creation policies when conducting business activities wherever it
operates in.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

1. Environmental Impact and Legal Compliance

As an oil and gas exploration and production company,
the Group is well-aware of the impacts and potential
risks that the its field operations pose to the environment
and the surrounding ecosystem. The Group adopts
an Environmental Management System (EMS) in its
management of the environmental risks arising from its
operations. The Group strictly complies with all relevant
environmental laws and regulations in each jurisdictions
in which the Group operates in.

(i) Type of Emissions
During the year, the Group’s main emission sources
were from diesel fuel, electricity, water, and paper
consumption. With regards to emissions, our
business is strictly reqgulated under the national laws
and regulations of Argentina.

2. Greenhouse Gas Emission
There were 428.1 tonnes (2018: 925.2 tonnes) of carbon
dioxide equivalent (tCO,-eq) greenhouse gases (mainly
carbon dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide) produced
by the Group in the year. The Group’s gross annual
production was 123,408 barrels (bbl) (2018: 218,694 bbl)
of crude oil. The calculated carbon intensity of scope 1, 2,
and 3 combined was 0.0035 tCO,-eqg/bbl (2018: 0.0042
tCO,-eq/bbl). Our HLGL operation in Argentina accounted
for most of the Group’s carbon emissions during the year.
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Due to Scope 3 emissions from paper consumption and wastewater
treatment being determined as less than 0.5% of total greenhouse
gas emission from the 2016 reporting, these items have been
excluded for reporting purposes since then, by virtue of their

insignificance.

Scope of Greenhouse

Gas Emissions Emission Sources

BERBHENREE BER IR
Scope 1
&E
Direct Emission Consumption of Diesel fuel by
EEHE the Group and its Contractors Fleets
(65,700 litres)
AEEREFABENEHER
(65,7002 7t)
Scope 2
g[E2
Indirect Emission Consumption of Purchased Electricity
2 HE A (813,000 kWh)
FTEE S 718 #E (813,000F FLEF)
Scope 3
gE3
Other Indirect Emission  Business air travel
Ho b I 5 HE IR I IR 1T
Total
&t
Notes:

The calculation methodology of CO, emission of diesel fuel in Argentina is based on the

International Standard.

Emissions from business air travel were calculated using online tool provided by

International Civil Aviation Organization.
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3. Emission Sources

(i)

(i)

Fuel Consumption

The Group utilises vans, pickup trucks and cars for
transportation. All motor vehicles operate using
diesel fuel. The Group’s annual consumption of
diesel was 14,260 litres. When selecting vehicles,
the Group considers factors such as safety, reliability,
maintenance cost, fuel efficiency, in addition to the
primary determining factor of cost.

Air emission including nitrogen oxides (NO,), sulphur
oxides (SO,) and respiratory suspended particles (PM)
from fuel combustion of all vehicles operated by the
Group contributed the following: 11.95 kg of NO,
emission, 0.24 kg of SO, emission and 0.88 kg of
PM.

Electricity Consumption

Electricity consumption by the Group was 817,000
Kilowatt-hour (kWh) (2018: 1,640,000 kWh), with
an energy intensity of 6.620 kWh/bbl (2018: 7.499
kWh/bbl). To achieve the energy use efficiency
initiative, the Group encourages its staff to minimize
energy consumption where practicable. For
example, the Group encourages the switching off of
unnecessary lighting and electronic appliances when
not required or not in use. Furthermore, the Group
has a procurement policy of purchasing energy
efficient equipment.

3. BERRIR

()

(i)
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(iii)

(iv)

v)

Water Consumption
Water consumption by the Group was 11,527 cubic
meters (m3) (2018: 23,191 m?3).

Paper and Packaging Material Consumption
Paper consumption was insignificant to the Group's
operation. No packaging material is used during
the production of crude oil, as this is stored in large
oil tanks until customers purchase, whereupon it is
delivered by oil tanker trucks.

Hazardous Waste Produced

During the process of oil production, hazardous
waste may be generated from possible minor
spillage, replacement of spare parts and lubrication
oil, discarded gloves and other materials. A total
of 3.42 tonnes of hazardous waste was generated
during the reporting year (2018: 4.63 tonnes).
Preventative measures adopted by the Group include
the following:

° Scheduled inspection and maintenance of
plant and equipment

o Transportation of contaminated water to
appropriate treating facilities

° Training and education of employees
o Conduct pre-job briefing

° Spillage prevention programs and remedial
action plans

° Close supervision

° Continuous improvement plans
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The hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
separated at origin. For hazardous waste, the
treatment, collection and final disposal is managed
by qualified professional handlers.

(vi) Non-hazardous Waste Produced
During the year, the Argentina operation generated
13.56 tonnes of organic and inorganic waste
(2018: 42.28 tonnes). Inorganic waste includes
plastic and glass, whilst organic waste was mainly
the by-product generated from the site catering
facility. The Group provides directive procedures
for segregation and classification of non-hazardous
waste to aid recycling initiatives. For non-hazardous
waste treatment, the organic waste is buried and
composted, while the inorganic waste is incinerated.

(vii) Industrial Wastewater Produced
At Chirete, a total 2,000 m? of wastewater was
discharged from third-party contracted treatment
plant, restaurant and catering services. These were
collected and deposited in a controlled environment
within Tartagal municipality by certified handlers.

4. Environmental Conservation Initiatives
Sustainability initiatives and green culture permeates
through the whole Group. We strives to operate in an
environmentally friendly manner by adopting practicable
green office practices including:

o Use of recycled paper

o Printers configured to print double sided by default
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o Return of used printer and copier ink toner cartridge
to manufacturer for recycling and reuse

o Switching-off lights, computers and office
equipment when not in use

o Replacement of energy efficient alternatives

o Adjustment of air conditioning settings to reduce
power consumption

For replaced furniture and computer equipment, the
Group's practice is to first offer these items to employees
for personal use, before it is disposed or recycled.

B. SOCIAL

1. Employment and Labour Practices
(i) Employment
The Group fully recognises its employees are a
critical asset of the entity. Therefore, the policy
of the Group is to hire and retain employees
with professional skills that enable the Group to
achieve its strategic objectives. This is based on the
following recruitment principles:

. Respect and trust at all levels, in all
circumstances without exception

° Transparency and honesty in professional
relationship

a. Effective communication
b.  Emphasis of transparency

° Willingness to cooperate and help others
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Recruitment and compensation is based on
qualification, experience, skills and performance.
The Group offers competitive compensation and
benefits packages in line with the local market rates
for comparable roles and responsibilities in the
industry. The Company’s hiring practice is to recruit
locally, with the exception of certain key managerial,
technical or professional posts, where it may not be
possible or appropriate to fill locally.

Promotion and Performance Evaluation

Promotion and salary increase, outside of the
Group's discretionary annual inflationary increase,
is subject to a responsibilities and performance
evaluation. An individual’s promotion and
remuneration is closely correlated to their job
responsibilities and performance. The Group
operates a policy of internal promotion, whenever
possible.

The Group ensures that its employees are evaluated
on their job performance through the application
of objective measures. The human resources
department coordinates and verify the performance
of each employee, in relation to mutually agreed
objectives established at the beginning of each
appraisal year. The performance evaluation is carried
out once a year by the employee’s immediate
supervisor.

Dismissal

The Group may at any time, terminate an employee
when his or her behaviour or attitude is not
satisfactory, or does not meet the performance
standards established/necessary for the position. In
all cases, termination procedures will strictly adhere
to minimum requirements established by the Law in
the Labour Code or relevant local laws.

Employee Turnover Rate

During the year, there were 8 (2018: 4) staff
turnover to report. These persons left on amicable
terms and for reasons of personal development or
relocation.
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Workplace Rights and Competitive
Compensation

HLGL operates in accordance with the Argentine
Labour Contract laws regarding salaries, working
hours, overtime and benefits. In addition, the
company offers medical benefits and life insurance
coverage equivalent to OSDE 210 medical coverage.

Equal Opportunity

The Group is proud to be an equal opportunity
employer and believes in the fair treatment of all
existing and prospective employees, regardless of
their age, gender, marital status, family status,
disability, pregnancy, nationality, ethnicity, sexual
orientation, religion and culture, or any other
discrimination prohibited by applicable law.

Furthermore, the Group does not discriminate
against or deprive of any opportunities in respect
of recruitment, training and development, job
advancement, and compensation and benefits.
The Group’s Codes of Ethic adopts a strict zero
tolerance approach to any forms of discrimination
or harassment in the workplace.

Workforce by Age Distribution in 2019
REZB-NFRFRIMETNESER

56 and above

(S6mlbAE)  18-25 (BR)
4% 4%
46-55 (3%)
10%
26-35 (5%)
41%
36-45 (5%)

41%
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(i)

As of 31 December 2019, there were 29 (2018:
38) full-time employees in HLGL, across its Salta
and Chirete locations. 11 (2018: 10) female and 18
(2018: 28) male employees.

RZE—hE+=ZA=+—
B =& (FEBE KChirete
W) B2 2HEE (=%
—N\F:38%) NBLXEE
T(ZE—N\F:10%) %18
HEEMHEET (2 —N&F:
284 ) °

Employee’s Age 18-25 26-35 36-45 46-55 56 and above
Distribution BEERAf 18-258 26-355 36-455; 46-558  S56mRM L
2019 —T-hE 1 12 12 3 1
2018 —E-N\F 1 13 12 8 4
Female Male
Employee’s Gender Distribution & &t Bl 2 i z % B4
2019 —E-NF 11 18
2018 —E-)N\F 10 28
Workplace and Corporate Communication A=) NG i)

The Group adopts an “open door” policy to
encourage open communication, feedback, and
discussion with its employees. Through this “open
door” policy, the Group aims to create a culture of
mutual trust, respect and understanding, to foster
strong, cooperative working relationships. Routine
emails and regular office-wide meetings are held
to circulate information and provide updates to all
employees.

Health and Safety
Health and Safety (“H&S") is fundamental to the
Group given nature of the business it is engaged in.

Laws and Regulation Compliance

Critical to all oil and gas operations is rigorous and
robust H&S. The Group endeavours to adopt best
practices in health and safety management and
is strictly in compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations governing H&S, in the jurisdictions it
operates in.

(i)

AEBEAITFP AR K
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A policy of open communication is actively
encouraged whereby employees can raise and share
any H&S concerns that they may encounter, with
their team and management.

Health and Safety Measures

The Group is committed to providing a safe and
healthy working environment for its employees, and
continuously promotes a strong H&S culture and
mindset. Examples of these measures include:

° Internal employees and external parties and
subject to H&S orientation at the beginning of
their employment or engagement

o All visitors of field operations being subject to
safety briefing of the site

° Dedicated H&S specialists on site responsible
for performing risk assessments, and
developing safe working practices

. On a daily basis, and prior to the
commencement of field operations, H&S
briefings and planning meetings are conducted
with participation by all employees including
management team

o On a weekly basis, employees participate in
H&S review meetings to discuss any important
H&S events

. On a quarterly basis, all field and office staff
receive free health check service

o Dedicated 24 hours’ nurse arrangements
on site to deal with any first aid or medical
emergency

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

AEBEBREERANER

KRR B A A EE BB R

EE@J"%&&&"?ﬁ—rT
BE A E ] R 2 RE -

ZEE
AEERGH N BREERE
ZTERENIERE T

BHERANLTEEREE
[E-ZEREEIE:

e RHEENRHHBEIER
SNER A TR E R TR
HERSZRAPEN

« HRAEFENMBSEER
BERTHHNREEHN

e KEIHMAREIERE
RETTRE R R - 1l
ERZHEEMR

s HERBAMEFRE
E(BREEEEK)
HegR2HREEHR
KRE @&

. EEFEBEHLKAY
R N X e ]
EELRER

s MBEHARMERET
BEHERILENR
BB R

] L HEE T AR 24/ N B

B PARE B =R
ABEERBNR



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERERABRSE

Road Transportation Safety Measures

o Employees are trained and encouraged in the
art of defensive driving

o Company vehicles are installed with GPS
monitoring systems to track journey and any
inappropriate or unsafe driving behaviours

o The Group's driving policy restrict employees
to only drive during daylight hours, where
possible, and to consider the necessity of any
journey, before embarking

Safety Incident

The Group monitors its H&S performance via
a number of metrics, including injury and fatal
incident rates, injury free work hours, and sick days.

Contractors are also subject to the same stringent
Group H&S standards. Proof of adequate H&S
training and certification are requested before
the Group engages and endorses a contractor to
operate on its exploration or production facilities.

BEEHLTIEN
s REESBRIXZZERE
BlPSE T IERES TS

s QRAEWHEREERR
EM BT R LAEME
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RENERITR
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fRIEFIER REE -

(iii)

2018
Occupational Health and Safety Data BEZBEE —E-N\F
Work related fatality AILTRE 0
Work injury cases >3 days BR=ZRUEMIGER 1
Work injury cases <3 days BR=ZRUTHIGHER 1
Lost days due to work injury AIGEANI{ERE 5

Development and Training

The human resources department coordinates
training activities according to the business needs
identified in the staff performance evaluation,
or when the position requires. All training
requirements, follow the conventional training
procedure set out in the Human Resources Policies.

(iii)
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The Group offers external training courses as well
internal on-the job training and peer coaching.
Example of courses attended by employees during
the reporting year included language skills, business
administration, leadership, conflict management,
accounting, safety, project management, oil and gas
engineering related subjects.

A total of 371 hours was spent on external training

in the year.
Training Data 32 2
Training Hours, Staffs BEAH
Training Hours, Staffs —RE I 2R E
Training Hours, Middle Management FREERRE 2 EIEE
Training Hours, Senior Management BREERE 2 EIIRE
Total Training Hours BEEIEE
Average Training Hours Per Employee BREEZTFHEIEE

(vi) Labour Standard
Governed by fair employment practices, the Group
strictly complies with the requirements of local
Labour Laws and regulations, and strictly prohibits
the use of any child and forced labour, or any forms
of illegal labour in the Group operations.

2. Operating Practices 2.
(i) Supply Chain Management
The Group has a standardized procurement
procedure in the selections of its suppliers and
vendors, which includes technical and commercial
evaluation.

During the year, the geographical location of HLGL's
suppliers covered 13 regions within Argentina. 27
suppliers originated from Salta (2018: 42), with
8 suppliers from Formosa (2018: 12). The Group
believes by sourcing locally, it can minimise its
carbon emission in relation to logistic. The Group’s
second largest supplier location was Buenos Aires.
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(iij) Product Responsibility
Consumer Data Protection

The Group is engaged in the business of crude oil
production and sales, as governed by the terms and
conditions of the agreements with its customers.

Quality Assurance and Complaints

The quality and quantity of crude oil sold is subject
to the IRAM or ASTM international standards. The
Group received no product or service complaints in
the year.

(iii) Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to managing its business
without undue influence, and in an open, honest
and fair manner. All employees are required to
strictly follow the Group’s Code of Ethics to prevent
potential bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. Employees are regularly reminded about
the Group’s anti-corruption policies and their need
for strict adherence.

Whistle-blowing procedures on misconduct
and malpractice (including corruption) are also
established in the Group’s Anti-corruption policy.
When a suspected case is received, the Group
undergoes investigation procedures with strict
confidentiality. The Group has established a
whistle-blowing escalation system, whereby the
procedure is to report any suspicious activities
and incidences to the whistle-blower’s immediate
supervisor. If the matter involves the immediate
supervisor, then the whistleblower is advised to
report direct to senior management. Alternatively,
the matter may be confidentiality reported via the
Group's whistle-blowing and ethics hotline.

C. COMMUNITY

Potentially disruptive social impacts from the Group's
drilling projects and production facilities on nearby local
communities are mitigated by maintaining open channels
of communications, with affected landowners and local
communities, to develop and maintain a harmonious
co-existence.
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1. Community Liaison
The Group has a dedicated community liaison officer who
works closely with any affected indigenous people. The
Group maintains regular dialogue to ensure operational
transparency and to understand and resolve any affected
communities’ concerns.

2. Community Advancement

The Group positively contributed to the standard of living
for the local indigenous communities during the year
by a number of initiatives and programs. This included
upskilling people by providing training on electrical
maintenance, and donation of materials and basic
essential tools, in order to promote and improve their
self-sustainability.

The Group also the contributed to a number of
community improvement projects, including the
construction of catering facilities at the main school,
construction of fences for farmers, and improvements at
local municipality offices and chapel.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS TOWARD SUSTAINABILITY
DEVELOPMENT

Going forward, the Group plans to extend its community
engagement activities and find more ways of “giving back”, by
exploring how the Group can also contribute in non-financial ways,
such as volunteering, school talks, and donating of used computer
and office equipment. For environmental initiatives, the Group is
continuing to enhance its recycle program to handle domestic waste.

CONCLUSION

The Group has conducted the ESG reporting in accordance with
the HKEx Environmental, Social, Governmental Reporting Guide
(Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules), all the ESG information available
for the reporting year are included in this report. The Group is
committed to continuing the ESG reporting on a regular basis
and to improve on policies and procedures for the management,
measurement and monitoring of ESG related activities.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of New Times Energy Corporation Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of New Times
Energy Corporation Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 95 to 206, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in Bermuda, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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B M % BE R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgement,

in our professional
were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

FAREREIH

FAREZFESRERFANERHE RA
HAHEGEEMBRRNEZRREENS
Hoa U ERERMEREBRAMBER
REABRARETEE -RMTEHELSE
BRRRHEBNER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

ASSESSMENT OF IMPAIRMENT OF EXPLORATION

AND EVALUATION (“E&E") ASSETS

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the BRI 4

accounting policies on page 128.

The Key Audit Matter
HRERSER

S ((BRR
B

SRR 1I2RE128EHE

AHEl) &
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BHRR
ERE

e

n>

R

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMHERNNEEZSE

As disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group held E&E assets in the Tartagal
concession and Morillo concession (collectively
the "T&M Concessions”) and Chirete concession
("Chirete Concession”) in the Province of Salta in
Argentina.

W E M B mMERME12AEE BEEEEMR
ERERIE A M Tartagal FFETHE R R MorillofF iR (48
H [ TRM4E R E] KChireteiF#F# 2 ([ Chireted
HRE|)BEHRRTEEE- R

Our audit procedures to assess impairment of E&E assets
included the following:

BB RLFEEERENREFREATREA:

assessing the design and implementation of key
internal controls over the preparation and review of the
impairment assessment;
HFRRMBERE G2 BRATZEH R REEE
1TarAd

inquiring with management any material developments
and the latest status in respect of the T&M Concessions
and Chirete Concession;
MEREERNE BTIME TR R Chirete SR E
KR NS IER

obtaining the Resolutions or correspondence from
relevant authorities documenting the status of the
applications and appeal related to the T&M Concessions;
BEHAKBESEEBBUTAMETEEAB R LFIER
B2 F R RS
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The Key Audit Matter
HRELEE

B M % A

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMHWERNTEEZEE

The carrying amounts of E&E assets are reviewed
annually and adjusted for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

BEHUHBPDRLAFILREENREEETEE YAAE
EHRIERBERAT AR O REERETRERE -

The Group's exploration permits for the T&M
Concessions have expired since 13 September 2019.
On 17 September 2019, the Secretary of Energy of
Province of Salta in Argentina (“Salta SOE”) issued
resolutions rejecting the Group’s application for
one-year extension of its current exploration permits
and the entering into the second exploratory period
in the T&M Concessions which were submitted
in May 2019 and September 2019 respectively
(“Resolutions”). In late September 2019, the Group
submitted its appeal to the Minister of Production in
the Province of Salta in order to seek the revocation
of the Resolutions.
EEERRMEBFAERNBRAIER -_ZE—-NF I
A+=ZB38-R-_ZE-—NFAA++H MREE
MIERRRSR ((EREEERBR]) BHRER
BR BEEERTAMEF#EA B A& RET Al & B
—FEREAF_AHRPORF ZERFD AR
“E-NFREARZZE-NFAARR ([RBR]) -
RZZE-NFAAKR EXSERERESEES
RELH SESKEHERER -

Based on the latest communication with the relevant
authorities in the Province of Salta and the legal
opinion obtained from an independent Argentinian
legal counsel, the Group believes there is significant
uncertainty in relation to the timing and possibility
of a positive appeal result in favour of the Group.
As a result, the Group recognised a full impairment
in respect of the E&E assets related to the T&M
Concessions amounting to HK$2,243,254,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

ERHEREAREIFINTNEBREMBREE
VEEBERESNEAEZR BEBERAE B
» BEENIELFERENEMRAIEEFEES
APHEEE -BHit  RBE_E—AE+_A=+—
ABIEFEE B£EREHETRMEBEHFERNHER
FTH B E R B EURE2,243,254,00078 7T ©

o evaluating management assessment on the likely
outcome of the appeal related to the T&M Concessions
and the feasibility of obtaining the exploitation permit
for the Chirete Concession by obtaining the legal
opinion from an independent Argentinian legal counsel
engaged by the Group and assessing the legal counsel’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

e FBENE EEEZENMREBLEIEBENEER
REHE A BATAMEFET#E IR 57 7O Al BE 48 R S & 15 Chirete
BT HE [ BA ERET AT A AT T 130 51 ik % 2R A R A s (E RS
EXZEREEML:

o assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent qualified technical consultants
and evaluating the methodology adopted by them in
estimating the reserves/prospective resources against the
recognised industry standards;

e IHBUAERBRMBMNBEE) BEXEZERESH
MW ERER G B EREREXMNNTERD
RITEZRLE:

o challenging the key assumptions adopted by
management for the preparation of discounted cash
flow forecast in relation to the Chirete Concession
by comparing the independent reserves/prospective
resources reports and the forecasts prepared by external
analysts;

o FRENBOMMBENBLREBRZ BE2ERERE
RIBAILLE  FEBEEB@ChireteFFrEETIFB SR
EFRAREEERMNNBREERR:
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B M % BE R

The Key Audit Matter
HRELEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMHWERNTEEZEE

The current exploration permit for Chirete
Concession has expired since 18 November 2019.
The Group and its partner in the Chirete Concession
have submitted the request for an exploitation
permit to the Salta SOE. At the date of issuance of
this report, the application is still in progress.

BRI R Chirete FHAEENHRFIER T —NF
T—ATNBEH BHEERHERChireteFFiER
AERHAERELRRBRIEXFRFFAIHNG K-
RARETEBE ZRFNEETH -

The recoverable amount of the E&E assets related
to the Chirete Concession was determined using
value-in-use calculation by preparing discounted
cash flow forecast with reference to the technical
reports issued by independent qualified technical
consultants. As at 31 December 2019, on the
basis that the exploitation permit for the Chirete
Concession could be obtained, no impairment loss
was recognised for the E&E assets related to the
Chirete Concession.

B BAChiretefFFH R B BN ER R FT(H B E ) A0 € 58
DERRAERESRERAEAFERAEARTERS
EREVAERBNEREANRTTREEE R
—NE+ZA=+—H8 ERAEEChireteFF 5T =
PR AR A 75 - W T B Chirete B A R B B9 ) IR
K EERRBAEREE-

We identified assessment of impairment of E&E
assets as a key audit matter because of the
significant level of management judgement involved
and because of its significance in the context of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole.
BAEB SRR EEENREN A RBEREEZSE
B DRESREAEEEHE NEGEaHBHRER
NEBEMSBEXN-

engaging our internal valuation specialists to assist
us in assessing whether the discount rate applied in
the discounted cash flow forecast in relation to the
Chirete Concession was within the range that was
independently developed using publicly available market
data for comparable companies in the same industry;
ZEABAEZEXK ML BChirete F FF R YT
RASREBRANERNITRERETBENEKARITENL
BARARTSEBEEIRENSEERN

performing sensitivity analyses by making adjustments
to the future oil prices and discount rate in discounted
cash flow forecast in relation to the Chirete Concession
to assess the risk of possible management bias in the
impairment assessment exercise;

B ARRABER R B BChiretef ST EEITIRIB SN
EFRREHTIR R (EH AR ETERRE DT ATHEETTR
EFHME A REFERN B RERRE

considering the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the impairment assessment
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.

DERTETEMNER  ZREGAVBRRTEHRE
AP A B o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

B M % BE R

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

B M % BE R

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ng Kwok Keung Raymond.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

LEBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-T—NF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( A7 7E5117R )

2019 2018
—B-hF —E-N\F
(note)
(KE&E)
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B £ F#& T FAET
Revenue Uk = 4 236,646 297,989
Cost of sales iR DN (224,724) (286,863)
Gross profit EF 11,922 11,126
Other income N 5 3,026 (10,747)
General and administrative expenses — B RTHRAX (52,248) (53,224)
Assets impairment losses EERMEESE 6(c) (2,250,076) (72,771)
Net investment loss HEBEFRE 6(d) (4,211) (100,321)
Exploration expenses IR (202) (371)
Loss from operations KEEBER (2,291,789) (226,308)
Finance costs B & kA 6(a) (13,812) (15,687)
Share of losses of joint ventures EheeEhEER (4,784) (4,452)
Loss before taxation BREAIEE 6 (2,310,385) (246,447)
Income tax FriS 5t 7 20,248 (10,777)
Loss for the year FAER (2,290,137) (257,224)
Attributable to: FEAL
Owners of the Company KARHE A (2,290,086) (257,218)
Non-controlling interests IR ER (51) (6)
Loss for the year FAER (2,290,137) (257,224)
Loss per share BRESR 11
Basic (HK cent) AR B (26.15) (2.91)
Diluted (HK cent) #E (B (26.15) (2.91)

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not
restated. See note 2(c).

The notes on pages 102 to 206 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to owners of the Company
are set out in note 28(b).

Mia: AEEER_T-AF—A-BRAEEBEN
FEREREBHBREENE 165 -RIFUL S
% HEEAMTEES - RHE2(0) -

REBI102B 2068 2 i AR B RE
— 3

Do BRENARBRE AREFE

#
Z — &b
KT EE28(b) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEBEENkEAZEHKER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE T —NF+_A=1+—HIEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7051 7R )

2019 2018
—EB-NF —ZT-N\F
(note)
(B E)
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 THER T T
Loss for the year FARER (2,290,137) (257,224)
Other comprehensive income FREM2EKE
for the year (after tax and (RBERKEH 8
reclassification adjustments): ) . 10
Item that will not be reclassified HreEmsBEBss
to profit or loss: HH :
Other investment in equity securities at AR BEF A E A
fair value through other 2EWE ([AAR
comprehensive income (“FVOCI") EBEFTAHEMEZTE
— net movement in fair value reserves W2k |) 2 b #EzS
(non-recycling) BENKE-DR
BERFEE (T =)
2EFE (17,923)
ltem that may be reclassified HigrgEmoEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmoEB
Exchange differences on translation of HEFINRHEAR
financial statements of overseas and AR ([ ) B S
the People’s Republic of China NEEHmREE
("PRC") subsidiaries EHE=Z 409,850
Other comprehensive income FRHME2EKE
_fortheyear . DNCELUN 391,927
Total comprehensive income FR2EKEHAEE
for the year (2,292,718) 134,703
Attributable to: FEAG
Owners of the Company KARIEER A (2,292,667) 134,709
Non-controlling interests e R T (51) (6)
Total comprehensive income FR2MBEHLEE
for the year (2,292,718) 134,703

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified Mzt : AEEER_Z—hF— A —BRAKELEN
retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not FERERERBM B HRELERE165 - RE LT
restated. See note 2(c). HHEERTEEY - RHTFE2(0) °

The notes on pages 102 to 206 form part of these financial BN EFE1028 EF2068 2 Wit AR B HRE
statements. Z— 8B e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

a B IR R &

At 31 December 2019 R=T—AE+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( A7 7E5117R )

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
(note)
kD)
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B £ FTHET FAET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Exploration and evaluation assets R R HEE 12 2,337,497
Property, plant and equipment Y- B REE 13 32,811
Interest in joint ventures REEDLEZER 15 12,827
Other investment in equity securities EMRERESFNRE 17 18,694
Prepayments, deposits and TBRFRIE - Ze REM
other receivables & W SR IE 19 15,462
Total non-current assets EREEEELE 2,417,291
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 18 14,304 21,032
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5 BR 70 & H A e Uk
KB 19 21,985 32,756
Current tax recoverable A] Y [2] B HA 75 18 26(a) 41 66
Other financial assets HEthemEE 20 120,100 80,468
Cash and cash equivalents ReEKREEEY 21 771,662 928,476
Total current assets MEBEEBERE 928,092 1,062,798
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 8RR K B At FE
KIE 22 64,246 93,057
Other borrowings Hitnfg & 23 10,544 56,792
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 834 =
Provisions A 27 9,968 5,131
Total current liabilities . _‘&BBGEE#E 85,592 NN 154,980__
Netcurrentassets  _________________ _ H‘ABEEFE 842,500 NS 907,818
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBARS 1,009,702 3,325,109
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI E

At 31 December 2019 RW=T—A&FE+=-A=+—AH
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7051 7R )

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
(note)
kD)
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B £ FTHET FAET
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Other borrowings HiEE 23 141,000 154,000
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIEAE 26(b) 11,711 31,436
Provisions B s 27 10,536 9,697
Total non-current liabilities ¥ hAB&GHEE 163,247 195,133
NET ASSETS EEFE 846,455 3,129,976
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR FiE
Share capital fi% Z< 28(c) 87,589 87,589
Reserves & 758,710 3,042,180
Total equity attributable to KNEHEEAEGER
owners of the Company Fgc] 846,299 3,129,769
Non-controlling interests FE =R R 156 207
TOTAL EQUITY R 846,455 3,129,976

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 BEZ@ERN T -_TF=A -+ BH#AER

March 2020. gt
CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart TANG, John Wing Yan
R $5 8 i
Director Director
=0 EE
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified  FffsF: AEBER -Z—LF— A —BRALEHREY
retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not FERERESMEREERE 165 BRI A
restated. See note 2(c). HFOHEERTEEY - R FE2(0) °

The notes on pages 102 to 206 form part of these financial BN FE102EH £ 5F206H 2 Wix AAMIEHRE
statements. Z 3)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREmBER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-T—NF+-_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( A7 7E5117R )

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREARSE
Fair value
reserve Accumulated Non-
Share Share Capital Exchange (non-  Contributed losses controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve recycling) surplus (note) Total interests equity
MEERE i ER

ies RitisE BARR EXff  (FmEk) R4z8 (i) ax  FERER BR83
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAL TR TER TAL TAL TAR TER TAL TEL

Balance at 1 January 2018 Ro2-N§-F-REH 88,655 4,881,035 9,591 (415,693) (86,587) 740,880 (1,709,656) 3,508,225 (48,685) 3,459,540
Changes in equity for 2018: Z2-\ERENED:
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (25718 (257,218 6)  (257,004)
Other comprehensive income Hp2mkE - - - 409,850 (17,923) - - 391,927 - 391,927
Total comprehensive income 2ANELE - = = 409,850 (17,923) = (257,218) 134,709 6) 134,703

Impact of hyperinflation (note 2(d)) Ak e

(W) - - - - - - (499,245)  (499,245) 48,898 (450,347)
Purchase of own shares (note 28(c)i)) ~ EE&H 52K
(BizE28(c)i)) (1,066) (12,854) - - - - - (13,920) - (13,920)
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-\E+ZAR
=T-RNEHR 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (5,843) (104,510) 740,880 (2,466,119) 3,129,769 207 3,129,976
Impact on initial application of BAEREANBRSE
HKFRS 16 (note 2(c)) 165078 (H2(0) - = = = = = (82) (82) = (82)

Adjusted balance at 1 January 2019~ R=F-AF-A-BH

FEEES 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (5.843) (104,510) 740,880 (2,466,201) 3,129,687 207 3,129,894

Changes in equity for 2019: ZE-nERENEE:
Loss for the yeer EREE - (2290086)  (2,290,086) (2290,137)
Other comprehensive income E2ENR (2,626) - (2,581) (2,581)
Total comprehensive income 2EKGAE (2,626) (2,290,086)  (2,292,667) (2,292,718

Impact of hyperinflation (note 2()) ZhaRnY S
(W)

Balance at 31 December 2019 R=B-1E+2A
=t-REH 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (5,798) (107,136) 740,880 (4,747,008) 846,299 156 846,455

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified  Fffif: KAEBER -ZE—hLF— A —BRALEHREY
retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not FEERERATBVBHREE165 BRI A ¥
restated. See note 2(c). LLEH & EF - R F2() °

The notes on pages 102 to 206 form part of these financial N E102E &= F206E 2 Wit BRI R *x
statements. P -G
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE T —NF+_A=1+—HIEFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7051 7R )

Note
Bt 5
Operating activities R K
Loss before taxation B T AT ES 18
Adjustments for: AT EEEL 2 A
Depreciation e 6(e)
Amortisation of intangible assets | EEHSH 6(e)
Assets impairment losses BEREBEBE 6(c)
Exploration expenses B ER 7 32 12
Interest income FEMA 5
Interest expense MERX 6(a)
Net foreign exchange loss SNEE BT IR R (B 5
Net loss on disposal of non-current §& B Palmar Largo’fF&F
assets of Palmar Largo concession BEZIERBDEEN
BB

Share of loss of joint ventures

BHEELEER

Operating cash flows before changes
in working capital

Changes in working capital:
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
Decrease in other financial assets
Increase in trade and other receivables

(Decrease)/increase in trade and
other payables

LEESEPHILER
TRE

REE B
I GBI
i BE
B 55 85 3R B At
P U RO 8 A
AR SRR A
EAROE G/

20

Cash (used in)/generated from

REX® (FFA) /&

operations Be
Interest paid [EENFIPS)
Interest received =& NS
Income tax (paid)/refund (B REFEH
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEK (FTH) /B
operating activities B&FHE

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 82 JR B BR 2 A

2019
ZE-hF

HK$’000
FER

(2,310,385)

6,780
2,250,076
202
(14,935)
13,812
34,865

(14,801)

(2,502)
4,211

(1,931)

(19,012)

(34,035)
(15,569)

14,935
(9

(34,678)

2018
—E-)N\F
(note)

(B E)
HK$°000
FAT

(246,447)

4,585
1,156
72,771
371
(16,608)
15,687
46,399

7,186
4,452

(110,448)

3,078
217,156

(16,175)

24,343

117,954
(15,675)
12,689

52




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-T—NF+-_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( A7 7E5117R )

Investing activities

Payment for purchase of exploration
and evaluation assets

Payment for purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from redemption of
other financial assets

Payment for purchase of
other financial assets

Net cash used in in investing activities

Financing activities

Capital element of lease rentals paid
Interest element of lease rentals paid
Repayment of other borrowings
Payment for purchase of own shares

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at 1 January

Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents
at 31 December

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
(note)
kD)
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=2 FHET FHT
BREZH
BEHREIHEE
St 2 RIA (8,381) (38,405)
EEME BB R
REIZ N 2B (526) (2,441)
BEOHEMEMEEZ
Fr{S k18 34,427 41,986
BEEMEMEEY
KIB (78,915) (10,000)
REZBHMABRSTE (53,395) (8,860)
B 2EXRIES 21(b) (2,075) =
BfEE 2 EEHS 21(b) (91) =
EEHMEENRIEA 21(b) (57,400) (3,000)
BEAFROI N ZHRIEA = (13,920)
MEEEFMARSFE (59,566) (16,920)
HERBELSEEY
CRD) EmFEE (147,639) 89,240
R—A—BAZzBHER
ReZEY 928,476 843,948
EREHNTE
(9,175) (4,712)
R+=—BA=+—-B=
HeRESEEY 21(a) 771,662 928,476

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified  [fisF: REBEER =T —hLF— A — BEALEREH
retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not FERERABAMBREFE 165 BB A H

restated. See note 2(c).

LERTEEY - B E2(0) -

The notes on pages 102 to 206 form part of these financial HNEI102E EF206E 2 Wit ARG EHRE

statements.

Z—#5-
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION

New Times Energy Corporation Limited (“the Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda and its
registered office and principal place of business are Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and Room
1402, 14/F., New World Tower I, 16-18 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong respectively. The Company is listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Company is an investment holding company.
Details of the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries
are set out in note 14.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred as the “Group”) are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
2(c) provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries and the Group's interest in joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their
fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

- other investment in equity securities (see note 2(g));
and

- derivative financial instruments (see note 2(h)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 3.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(c)

(Continued)

In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of
the financial statements, the directors of the Company
have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections
prepared by management based on estimations of future
revenue from sales of crude oil and other products,
future production costs, committed and planned capital
expenditure and the availability of financing, which cover
a period of twelve months from the reporting period end
date. They are of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due and committed future capital
expenditure within the next twelve months from the end
of the current reporting period and that there are no
material uncertainties in this respect which individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16, Leases,
and a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective for the current accounting period of the Group.

Except for HKFRS 16, Leases, none of the developments
have had a material effect on how the Group’s results
and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented. The Group has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating
leases — incentives, and HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the
substance of transactions involving the legal form of a
lease. It introduces a single accounting model for lessees,
which requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability for all leases, except for leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term
leases”) and leases of low value assets. The lessor
accounting requirements are brought forward from HKAS
17 substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable
users of the financial statements to assess the effect
that leases have on the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1
January 2019. The Group has elected to use the modified
retrospective approach and has therefore recognised the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment
to the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2019.
Comparative information has not been restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 17.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 ¥R R B A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes
to previous accounting policies and the transition options
applied are set out below:

4.

New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly
relates to the concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines
a lease on the basis of whether a customer controls
the use of an identified asset for a period of time,
which may be determined by a defined amount of
use. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified
asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease
in HKFRS 16 only to contracts that were entered
into or changed on or after 1 January 2019. For
contracts entered into before 1 January 2019,
the Group has used the transitional practical
expedient to grandfather the previous assessment
of which existing arrangements are or contain
leases. Accordingly, contracts that were previously
assessed as leases under HKAS 17 continue to
be accounted for as leases under HKFRS 16 and
contracts previously assessed as non-lease service
arrangements continue to be accounted for as
executory contracts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

b.

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to
classify leases as either operating leases or finance
leases, as was previously required by HKAS 17.
Instead, the Group is required to capitalise all leases
when it is the lessee, including leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, other
than those short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets, which are exempt. As far as the Group
is concerned, these newly capitalised leases are
primarily in relation to its offices as disclosed in note
31(b). For an explanation of how the Group applies
lessee accounting, see note 2(k)(i).

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1
January 2019), the Group determined the length
of the remaining lease terms and measured the
lease liabilities for the leases previously classified
as operating leases at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the
relevant incremental borrowing rate at 1 January
2019. The weighted average of the incremental
borrowing rate used for determination of the
present value of the remaining lease payments was
5.125%.

On transition to HKFRS 16, the Group recognised
right-of-use assets of HK$2,827,000 and lease
liabilities of HK$2,909,000. Such right-of-use assets
are presented within property, plant and equipment.
The difference between the right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of HK$82,000 is recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1
January 2019.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Hyperinflation accounting in Argentina

In May 2018, the Argentine Peso underwent a severe
devaluation resulting in the three-year cumulative
inflation of Argentina to exceed 100%, thereby triggering
the requirement to transition to hyperinflation accounting
as prescribed by HKAS 29, Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies, effectively adopted for the
reporting periods ended after 30 June 2018.

Consequently, the Group has applied hyperinflation
accounting for its Argentine subsidiaries in these
consolidated financial statements applying the HKAS 29
rules as follows:

- Hyperinflation accounting was applied as of 1
January 2018;

- Non-monetary assets and liabilities stated at
historical cost (e.g. exploration and evaluation
assets, property plant and equipment, and etc.) and
equity of the Argentine subsidiaries are indexed up
to reflect the change in the price index from that
at the date of acquisition to that at the reporting
date. The gain or loss from holding monetary assets
or liabilities and income and expenses is indexed
up from the date initially recorded to reflect the
purchasing power at the reporting date;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 Sk M B

(BREAEBRPSN AAESTIAETIITR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Hyperinflation accounting in Argentina

(Continued) (&)

- To measure the impact of inflation on the Group's — RITEBARUAEENHTB
financial position and results, the Group has elected R REBMEKR T E
to use the Wholesale Price Index (Indice de Precios rEBREE-_ZE—RF

Mayoristas) for periods up to 31 December 2016,
and the Retail Price Index (Indice de Precios al
Consumidor) thereafter. These price indices have
been recommended by the Government Board of
the Argentine Federation of Professional Councils of
Economic Sciences;

In accordance with HKAS 21, The Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates, all amounts (e.g. assets,
liabilities, equity items, income and expenses) of the
results of the Argentine subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.
The Group’s comparative information presented in
Hong Kong dollars has not been restated;

The gain or loss on the net monetary position
derived as the difference resulting from the
restatement of non-monetary assets, equity and
items in the statement of profit or loss are reported
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss
n “Hyperinflation monetary adjustments” in other
income (see note 5). The hyperinflation effect of
opening balances is presented as an adjustment to
accumulated losses in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group
has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the owners of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with notes
2(0) or (p) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(g))
or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture (see note 2(f)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(I)), unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Joint arrangement and associates

The Group is a party of joint arrangement when it
exercises joint control over arrangement by acting
collectively with other parties and decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control. The joint arrangement is either a
joint operation or a joint venture depending on the rights
and obligations of the parties to the arrangement.

In relation to interest in joint operations, the Group
recognises: (i) its assets, including its share of any assets
held jointly, (ii) liabilities, including its share of any
liabilities incurred jointly, (iii) revenue from the sale of its
share of the output arising from the joint operation, (iv)
its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by
the joint operations, and (v) its expenses, including its
share of any expenses incurred jointly.

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including participation
in the financial and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group
or the Company and other parties contractually agree to
share control of the arrangement, and have rights to the
net assets of the arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Joint arrangement and associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method, unless it is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of
the Group's share of the acquisition-date fair values of
the investee's identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate or joint venture that forms part of the
Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group's
share of the investee's net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see note 2(l)). Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group's share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of
the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate or the joint venture, the Group's interest
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose,
the Group's interest is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method together with any
other long-term interests that in substance form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate or the joint
venture.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Joint arrangement and associates (Continued)
Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case
they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former investee at the date when
significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(g)).

Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures, are set out below:

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are initially
stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL") for which transaction
costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of
financial instruments, see note 29(g). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on
their classification.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (Bk RA AN - AT & FH B ITTHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

(i)

Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost,
if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using
the effective interest method (see note 2(u)

(iv)).

- FVOCI - recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

- FVPL, if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value
of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

(i)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to accumulated losses. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as
at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as
other income in accordance with the policy set out
in note 2(u)(iii).

(h) Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair
value. At the end of each reporting periods, the fair value
is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair
value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost
on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
exploration and evaluation assets are carried at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(1)),
no depreciation and/or amortisation is charged during
the exploration and evaluation phase. Exploration and
evaluation costs are accumulated on a field-by-field basis.
Costs directly associated with an exploration well, and
exploration and property leasehold acquisition costs,
are capitalised until the determination of reserves is
evaluated. If it is determined that commercial discovery
has not been achieved, these costs are recognised in
profit or loss.

Exploration and evaluation assets include the cost of
exploration rights and the expenditures incurred in the
search for natural resources as well as the determination
of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of
extracting those resources.

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability
of extracting natural resources become demonstrable,
previously recognised exploration and evaluation assets
are reclassified as either intangible assets or property,
plant and equipment. These assets are assessed for
impairment, and any impairment loss recognised, before
reclassification.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()]

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases over leasehold properties
where the Group is not the registered owner of the
property interest (see note 2(k)), are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 2(1)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour,
the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site
on which they are located, and an appropriate proportion
of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note
2(w)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
items of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit
or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements 4-5 years
Machinery 5-10 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 3-5 years
Properties leased for own use over the
unexpired terms

of leases

Depreciation of oil production assets is calculated on unit
of production method based upon the estimated proved
and probable oil reserves to write off the cost of each
asset, less any estimated residual value.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life
of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (Bk RA AN - AT & FH B ITTHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i) As a lessee
(A)  Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Gorup decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 ¥R R B A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Leased assets (Continued)
(i) As alessee (Continued)

(A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
(Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 2(j) and 2(I)(iii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in
‘property, plant and equipment’ and presents
lease liabilities separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 Sk M B

(BREAEBRPSN AAESTIAETIITR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 EXREHBER#
(k) BEEE 2

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Leased assets (Continued)

In the comparative period, as a lessee the
Group classified leases as finance leases if the
leases transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group. Leases
which did not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group were
classified as operating leases.

Where the Group acquired the use of
assets under finance leases, the amounts
representing the fair value of the leased
asset, or, if lower, the present value of the

(i) As a lessee (Continued) (i) EBERBEA(F)
(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019 B) R=ZF—NF—H—
H.Z 5l FE A B9 B %
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equipment and the corresponding liabilities, HREEEENRAE
net of finance charges, were recorded as ERRZAZIARMENE
obligations under finance leases. Depreciation EEFEREERAN

was provided at rates which wrote off the
cost or valuation of the assets over the term
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of the relevant lease or, where it was likely ERFTEE)AHIHEE
the Group would obtain ownership of the ERR RSl B HY LE 5T

asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note
2(j). Impairment losses were accounted for
in accordance with the accounting policy as
set out in note 2(l). Finance charges implicit
in the lease payments were charged to profit
or loss over the period of the leases so as to
produce an approximately constant periodic

R:AEMNEEAN RS
PR EL IR ME FE2() R
1B B 1B IR BRI &£ 2() A
FHEBRRAR-H
ENZANENRMEER
ERHEERAMERR
RANRR - = E = 5

rate of charge on the remaining balance of M E B RGAER
the obligations for each accounting period. N I K=
Contingent rentals were charged to profit or BHeEHEELAMER

loss in the accounting period in which they
were incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 ¥R R B A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Leased assets (Continued)
(i) As alessee (Continued)

(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019
(Continued)

Where the Group had the use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under
the leases were charged to profit or loss in
equal instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis was more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals were charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they
were incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an
operating lease is amortised on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease term.

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on financial assets measured
at amortised cost (including trade receivables and
other receivables which are held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest).

Other financial assets measured at fair value,
including equity securities measured at FVPL, equity
securities designated at FVOCI (non-recycling) and
derivative financial assets, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 Sk M B

(BREAEBRPSN AAESTIAETIITR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea) 2 BEREFHEE £

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets () EENGEEERRBE(E)
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (i) XRELEITAWEEERE
(Continued) (%)
Measurement of ECLs BRI EE1BAT 2

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material.

For trade and other receivables, and promissory
note receivable, the discount rate is effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

V)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date;
and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 ¥R R B A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant increase
in credit risk is performed on either an individual
basis or a collective basis. When the assessment
is performed on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and credit
risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note
2(u)(iv) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance)
of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)
Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of exploration and evaluation
assets

The carrying amount of the exploration and
evaluation assets is reviewed annually and adjusted
for impairment loss whenever one of the following
events or changes in circumstances indicates that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable:

- the period for which the entity has the right to
explore in the specific area has expired during
the period or will expire in the near future,
and is not expected to be renewed.

- substantive expenditure on further exploration
for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned.

- exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources in the specific area have not led to
the discovery of commercially viable quantities
of mineral resources and the entity has
decided to discontinue such activities in the
specific area.

- sufficient data exist to indicate that, although
a development in the specific area is likely
to proceed, the carrying amount of the
exploration and evaluation assets is unlikely
to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount in accordance with note 2(l)
(iii). The impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount in accordance
with note 2(l)(iii).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(iii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets;

- intangible assets;
- goodwill; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for
use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 ¥R R B A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (Bk RA AN - AT & FH B ITTHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(iv) Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(see notes 2(I)(i), (ii) and (iii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a
smaller loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end of the
financial year to which the interim period relates.

(m) Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of production
for such sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be
consumed in the production process or in the rendering
of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Inventories (Continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see note 2(I)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note
2(w)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value, and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

(s)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.

(ii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when it recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused
tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken
into account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can
be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or
in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered, intend to realise the
current tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods and the provision of services
in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax
or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 Sk M B

(BREAEBRPSN AAESTIAETIITR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea) 2 BEREFHEE £

(u) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(u) BERAEMEA (E)

(i) Sale of goods () HEESR
Revenue is recognised when the customer takes WATREPHRAELESE
possession of and accepts the goods which was oo B - BN P BT 2 qn i
taken to be the point in time when the customer R RS B RERR o
obtains control of the goods.
In the comparative period, revenue from sales RERBAME - REHEESm
of goods was recognised when the goods were B ARE @B X ZEE
delivered to the customers’ premises, which was RN ZREANARR
taken to be the point in time when the customer EXzEmEREEERR
had accepted the goods and the related risks and % K% 0] 7 B o
rewards of ownership.

(i) Rendering of services (i) EHRRE

(iii)

The Group recognises revenue over time as the
services are provided. Where a contract has two or
more performance obligations, the Group allocates
the transaction price to each service in proportion
to those stand-alone selling prices. The stand-alone
selling price is determined based on the list prices
at which the Group sells the services in separate
transactions.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investment
goes ex-dividend.

AN 5% 18 10 1 44 R 755 BR; B s
BERRA-MEHBEMIEA
XEZRBEAERD AEER
BEERBHNEBEENRY
o BRXZEEIBES
ER - X B ERBEAEKE
REBRHHERKNHRE

& TE

(iii) RE
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(iv) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under
the effective interest method using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
For financial assets measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
loss allowance) of the asset (see note 2()(i)).

(v) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on
which the Group initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (Bk RA AN - AT & FH B ITTHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

The results of foreign operations whose functional
currency is the currency of a non-hyperinflationary
economy are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

The results of foreign operations whose functional
currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy
applies hyperinflation accounting in accordance with
HKAS 29 as described in note 2(d). When the economy
ceases to be hyperinflationary, the Group will discontinue
the application of hyperinflation accounting and the
amounts presented in the measuring unit current at the
end of the previous reporting period will become the
basis for the carrying amounts in its subsequent financial
statements.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Borrowing costs

(x)

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group's parent.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 82 JR B BR 2 A

(BRBARBPS FAESFILNETTIIR)

2 EXREHBER#
(w) fEERA

(x)

EEARKE BEEREEEER
ERARERHEAERAERTE R
BREHEMEL ZBERAY
BABERN (FREEMISKA -
HipfEERARNELBE -

REEZRBRS BERRNELR
RBEEFREMERFEEZA
BETH  FAREEKRABETE
K AERBEREEZBOMRA-
HWis e EREEEBERTER S
SHEZRBRAT D ADERTE
KK BERANEEF (T LB
FEAR

BAETS

@ MWMEBNATAL BIZAT
FALTZEREREEEFHA
JH

() = sk Ak R % AN &
£

iy BAEEEEAZE
778

(i) B/AEEHAKEHR
Al EREREKE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 Sk M B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(x) Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(y) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Note 29 contains information about the assumptions and their
risk factors relating to financial instruments. Other significant
sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

()

Oil and gas properties and reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s oil and gas
resources and reserves are inherently imprecise and
represent only approximate amounts because of the
subjective judgements involved in developing such
information. There are authoritative guidelines regarding
the engineering criteria that have to be met before
estimated oil and gas reserves can be designated as
“proved”. Proved and probable reserves estimates are
updated at least annually and take into account recent
production and technical information about each field.
In addition, as prices and cost levels change from year to
year, the estimate of proved and probable reserves also
changes. This change is considered a change in estimate
for accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective
basis in related depreciation rates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

B RS ERR M

(BRBERPSN IBESTIAETTIIR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 3 E:tHET & @)
(Continued)

()

(i)

Oil and gas properties and reserves (Continued)
Future dismantlement costs for oil and gas properties
are estimated with reference to engineering estimates
after taking into consideration the anticipated method
of dismantlement required in accordance with industry
practices in similar geographic area, including estimation
of economic life of oil and gas properties, technology
and price level. The present values of these estimated
future dismantlement costs are capitalised as oil and
gas properties with equivalent amounts recognised as
provisions for dismantlement costs.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering
estimates, these estimates are used in determining
depreciation expense, impairment expense and future
dismantlement costs. Depreciation rates are determined
based on estimated proved and probable reserve
quantities (the denominator) and capitalised costs
of producing properties (the numerator). Producing
properties’ capitalised costs are amortised based on the
units of oil and gas produced.

Impairment losses of non-current assets

In considering the impairment losses that may be
required for certain of the Group’s assets which include
exploration and evaluation assets, property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and investments
in joint ventures, recoverable amount of the asset needs
to be determined. The recoverable amount is the greater
of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use.
It is difficult to precisely estimate selling price because
qguoted market prices for these assets may not be readily
available. In determining the value in use, expected cash
flows generated by the asset are discounted to their
present value, which requires significant judgement
relating to items such as level of sale volume, selling
price and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining an amount
that is reasonable approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of items such as sales
volume, selling price and amount of operating costs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B R AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (Bk A #HBASN - BT £ EHAE TR )

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

(iii) Income tax

The Group is subject to various taxes in Hong Kong,
PRC, Argentina and the United States of America (“US")
where the Group entities operate. Judgment is required
in determining the provision for current and deferred
tax. There are transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group
recognises tax liabilities based on the historical experience
and with reference to the tax rules and regulations
enacted at the reporting period end date. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that are initially recorded, such differences will
impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

The principal activities of the Group are (i) exploration,
development, production and sale of natural resources; (ii)
commodities trading. Further details regarding the Group's
principal activities are disclosed in note 4(b).

(a) Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by major products or service lines is as follows:

3 BEHMERMEN 0

(iii) P&
AEBEBEHMNEE TE MRE
REMBARE (TXE]) (A&
EEBNKEMEL)NSEH
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EREBEEELBR2EREHME
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7 2 TE TR B e Bl A KR AE
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(a) WEmHMAD
KEEFAHONKSANEREM
SRR T

2018
—T-N\F
HK$'000
T T
Revenue from contracts with ERMBEHREZERE155
customers within the scope of HEHEAREEFEN
HKFRS 15 HY Wy 2
Disaggregated by major products or LA Z = sk BRIS 4R 40 5
service lines
— Trading of non-ferrous metals —EERmESIC EERE
and oil products under KA E
commodities trading 216,331 265,030
— Sale of oil products under oil —HERRMRREEZ
exploration and production A HE m 20,315 32,959
236,646 297,989

144 NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED o 7B 8B 5 B A 7



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)
The Group has four (2018: two) customers and the
amounts of individual customer are disclosed as follows:

B RS ERR M

(BREAEBRPSN AAESTIAETIITR)

Wz & o5 ¥R ()

(a)

Customer 1 5P —
Customer 2 -
Customer 3 ®E=
Customer 4 =FEWM

Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from these
customers are set out in note 29(a).

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which
are organised by a mixture of both business lines and
geography. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following two reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

Details of the Group's reportable segments as follows:

o Upstream: This segment is engaged in the
exploration, development, production and sale of
crude oil. Currently the Group’s activities in this
regard are carried out in Argentina.

o Commodities trading: This segment includes trading
of non-ferrous metals and oil products.

(b)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 ¥R R B A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group's chief operating decision maker monitors
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each
reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets and
current assets with the exception of interest in joint
ventures, other investment in equity securities and
unallocated corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include all the liabilities with the exception of
deferred tax liabilities and unallocated corporate
liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the expenses
incurred by those segments or which otherwise
arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets
attributable to those segments.

Segment profit/loss represents the profit/loss
resulted by each segment without allocation of
assets impairment losses, share of losses of joint
ventures, net investment loss, unallocated interest
income and interest expense, and other net expense
in corporate head office. This is the measure
reported to the Group’s chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in note 2(y).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 Sk M B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (Bk RA AN - AT & FH B ITTHIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WERDEWHRE 2
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZEBHE (£)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities () DEXE LEREE

(Continued) (&)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with FAEBETAEEREESE
customers, as well as information regarding the BERAREREERDERSD
Group's reportable segments as provided to the HERRFEZRABEFEL
Group's chief operating decision maker for the Wamz@Bo R BERAAEEZ
purposes of resource allocation and performance WMoy MERHAT :

assessment for the year is set out below:

Upstream Commodities trading Total
L HmES 5t

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
—g-nr RESNCH -2-n IREEUEHN -2-nr RESUK
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tor QRETE  Tin QI  Tin T

Reportable segment BES: 16

revenue (note) (Hy&E) 20,315 32,959 216,331 265,030 236,646 297,989
Reportable segment loss "] 27 518 (26,600) (47,290) (259) (179) (26,859) (47,469)
Depreciation and TEREH

amortisation
Exploration expenses BRAX
Interest income FIS WA

Additions to non-current  ER3ERE D &

segment assets BEEM

during the year 19,804 40,821 19,804 40,821
Reportable segment assets A] £ 35 B4 & CEREER 2,455,299 WENEEN 2,455,299
Reportable segment AERHHEE

liabilities (30,083) (53,559) (30,931) (54,160)
Note: B 2k
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated EXFE®Rz 5 WS K B IR
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales during BERPzWE REAFERBEFE
both the current and prior year. All of the Group’s revenue is WESBEHEE - AEBZHMA
recognised at a point in time. R E— R R TER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B R AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (Fr SA RSN - BT ©EH B TIITR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues,

Wi Rk 2 EHE (@)

(b) ZEBEHE (&)
(i) TEHZHBK#ERRZ B

profit or loss, assets and liabilities EREEZH KX
2019 2018
ZE-NF —ZT-N\F
(note)
(FM5E)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T T
Revenue W &=
Reportable segment revenue A2 e 236,646 297,989
Loss BB
Reportable segment loss A2WmoyEEE (26,859) (47,469)
Unallocated interest income Ko BEF B WA 14,891 16,603
Unallocated interest expense ROBA B (13,812) (15,687)
Assets impairment losses BERBERE (2,250,076) (72,771)
Other net expenses in corporate 7 7] 42 26 H b 5 & /¥ 58
head office (25,517) (22,350)
Share of losses of joint ventures [EMEA &% 2 18 (4,784) (4,452)
Net investment loss KEEEFREAE (4,228) (100,321)
Consolidated loss before BRELATAR S B 1R
taxation (2,310,385) (246,447)

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
note 2(c).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 Sk M B

(BREAEBRPSN AAESTIAETIITR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

4 WaKkowEkE @)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZEBHE (£)
(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, (i) TEFRZ7HBUZRED &
profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) EREEZHKK (EF)

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
(note)
kD)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AIEWmoHEE 173,659 2,455,299
Interest in joint ventures NS P 7,849 12,827
Other investment in equity HiERBEHRE
securities 16,068 18,694
Unallocated corporate assets ROBBEEEE
— Cash and cash equivalents - BEeLBREZEEY 767,713 904,935
— Other financial assets —HEibh e mEE 119,173 80,468
— Other receivables — E {th jE W 5008 9,522 7,472
— Others —Hfh 1,310 394
Consolidated total assets IR EERE 1,095,294 3,480,089

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
note 2(c).

t: AEBER_ZT—NLE—A
—BERKEREREE R
FERBEETHHEESENSE6
5% o IRIR UL A LB BT
gE5 - BHTFE2() -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B R AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (Fr SA RSN - BT ©EH B TIITR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues,

Wi Rk 2 EHE (@)

(b) ZEBEHE (&)
(i) TEHZHBK#ERRZ B

profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) EREEZHKK (EF)
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-)\F
(note)
(B 3E)
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FAT
Liabilities =0
Reportable segment liabilities AIERoEAasE (30,931) (54,160)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIE B F (11,711) (31,436)
Unallocated corporate liabilities R B DB &
— Other borrowings —HMEE (151,544) (210,792)
— Deposit received —Blkize (48,880) (48,880)
— Lease liabilities —HEaE (834) =
- Others —HAth (4,939) (4,845)
Consolidated total liabilities meBaERE (248,839) (350,113)

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
note 2(c).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 Sk M B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (Bk RA AN - AT & FH B ITTHIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WHERDIBHE &)

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZEBHE (£)
(iii) Geographical information ziii) HEZH

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group's revenue
from external customers and (ii) the Group's
non-current assets other than investment in equity
securities (“specified non-current assets”). The
geographical location of the Group's revenue
is based on the locations of customers. The
geographical location of the specified non-current
assets is based on (i) the physical location of the
asset, in the case of property, plant and equipment
and exploration and evaluation assets; and (ii)
the location of the operation to which they are
allocated, in the case of intangible assets, goodwill,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables. In the
case of interest in joint ventures, it is based on the
location of the operation of such joint ventures.

Revenues from external
customers

RENMBEF 2 Wi

2019
—B-AF
HK$"000
FERx

Singapore NI 211,872
Argentina F] 4R 7 20,315
Hong Kong BB 4,459
PRC m

236,646 297,989

TR S H KB 5B
ERPzWE: RNVAEEZ
FRBEE TEBERAE
HFEMBRE ((FEFRBDE
EDWEUE 2B KNE
B EAIRTEDERE
FHRE - FHEFRDEE
ZHBUETIERORDE
B E R &R BR R EE
EME BEAZMR 2
moR(VETEE B2
BNRR He REMERK
REAME REEDEZE
BiE-RRNAELFE
ams AINZAELER
T B D% o

Specified
non-current assets

BEFRBDEE
2019 2018

S T \F

HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx THAT

142,534 2,385,691
1,697 1,173
6,903 11,733

151,134 2,398,597
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 s Y aE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

5 OTHER INCOME 5 HflkA
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Bank interest income H|ITH B WA 14,935 12,689
Interest income on promissory JE WA H =1 2 AL B A
note receivable 3,919
Total interest income on financial EEBEEARREBEINER
assets not at fair value through TREEMSBA LR
profit or loss 14,935 16,608
Net foreign exchange loss SNE S 1EF RR (34,865) (46,399)
Net loss on disposal of non-current & & Palmar LargoF5F #E & 2
assets of Palmar Largo concession FEMEBEENEIBFE
(note 16) (Kf7x16) (7,186)
Drilling service income AR 5 WA 14,588
Hyperinflation monetary BUBEREE AR
adjustments (note 2(d)) (FFEE2(d) ) 4,009
Others HAty 7,633
(10,747)
6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 6 PBRBIAIEIE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BR AT ES 1B TR (FEA) T A&
I8 :
(a) Finance costs (a) MEAE
2019 2018
—E2-NF —T-N\F
(note)
(B =E)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest on other borrowings HAth 8 & 5 13,721 15,687
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 91 -
15,687
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified izt AEEEEBEEREREERE
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative REBY KRS ELF165 - RIE
information is not restated. See note 2(c). A% HEERTEES - (R

#2(0)) e
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(d)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B 5 BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 6 PBREAIESE @
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) (b) EIRE (BREEEME)
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Salaries, wages and other benefits FE HENMEMER 17,674 16,034
Contributions to defined TE 28 i FUR R ET S 4 5%
contribution retirement plan 1,903 4,604
19,577 20,638
Assets impairment losses () EEREESE
2019 2018
—2-h#F —T-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FET FAT
Exploration and evaluation assets BRI EE 12 2,243,254 =
Inventories FE 18 6,822 =
Promissory note receivable JE W L R 19 - 38,846
Trade and other receivables R E 5 R &
H b U 518 33,925
2,250,076 72,771
Net investment loss d) RESEFE
2019 2018
—E—hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FET FAET
Listed equity securities R AR E S 20() 6,850 100,492
Listed debt securities T EBES 20(ii) (1,010) =
Unlisted equity-linked securities FEEMRRARBES  200ii) (1,612) (2,126)
Unlisted funds FEEMES (17) 1,955
4,211 100,321
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B R AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 6

BREL AT 18 ()

(e) Other items (e) HfuiEH
2019 2018
—E-hE —E—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER T T
Amortisation cost of intangible BB K AN 5
assets 1,156
Depreciation charge HEEZEH
— owned property, —BEVE BERZE
plant and equipment 4,585
- right of use assets (note(i)) —EAEEE (MEa0)) -
Total minimum lease payments BERBEBEGFEA
for leases previously classified FITRDEREENRE
as operating leases under HEZ&ERBAEMNREE
HKAS 17 (note(i)) (B 5EG) ) 2,764
Auditor’s remuneration % 25 B0 B
— audit services — Bk 1,900 2,550
— other services — H h AR 7 850 687
Cost of inventories (note (ii)) FERA (B FEi)) 224,724 286,863
Notes: AT -
(i) The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified (i) REBERBEESEBPEERE

(if)

retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
January 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 1
January 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise the
depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous policy
of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See note 2(c).

Cost of sales includes approximately HK$43,000 (2018:
HK$1,586,000) relating to depreciation and amortisation expenses,
which amount is also included in the respective total amounts
disclosed separately above for each of these types of expenses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 S 3= M B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B 5 BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 HEBEBRRAZFABH
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HEBBEXRAZHIER:
profit or loss represents:

2019 2018
ZE-hE —F-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T T
Current tax - Hong Kong B E-FBAEH
Profits Tax
Provision for the year FNEAE =
Current tax — overseas B HA B 18 — 8 Sb
Provision for the year FNEE =
Under/(over)-provision in respect of MEFBETR
prior years (HBFE) B & (55)
(55)
Deferred tax ERERIE
(Reversal)/origination of FeRF =% 2 (#E)
__temporary differences ___________/EXE (20,257) 10,832
(20,248) 10,777
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda and BEEREREBRLAHES ([H
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Company and its BREZES]) CHRER A2
subsidiaries incorporated in Bermuda and the BVI are not AREMBARTRERERKEE
subject to any income tax in Bermuda and the BVI for BRXBSHMATZ BN E A RiB
both the current and prior years. TFEHERABMNERERLE
BRBESEMAEH-
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as FR ARAEBEREB 2 EBI
the Group's operations in Hong Kong had no assessable EERT &N HI\AREE
profits for the year. The provision for Hong Kong profits MNEVHEE R_F—NLF FE
tax for 2019 is calculated at 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) of the FMISMBEDRBF AN 2 HETE
estimated assessable profit for the years. RRHE A IZ165% (ZF— \F:

16.5% ) 2 T KT H -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 s Y aE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

7

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents: (Continued)

Subsidiaries of the Group in Argentina are subject to
Argentina corporate income tax (“CIT”) at 30% (2018:
30%) and minimum presumed income tax (“MPIT").
MPIT is supplementary to CIT and is chargeable at the
applicable tax rate of 1% on the tax basis of certain
assets. The tax liabilities of subsidiaries of the Group in
Argentina are the higher of CIT and MPIT.

(b)

Taxation for other overseas subsidiaries of the Group is
charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling

in the relevant countries and regions.

Reconciliation between tax credit and
accounting loss at applicable tax rates:

HREBERAZABH (@)

(a)

(b)

Loss before taxation

B 75 Bl B 18

Notional tax on loss before taxation,

calculated at the rates applicable

to loss in the jurisdictions concerned

Tax effect of non-taxable income

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses

Tax effect of hyperinflation impact

Tax effect of tax losses and temporary

differences not recognised

Under/(over)-provision in respect of

prior years

BRARBAEBE L 2%
HIE RERRER
BB EERER
BERFTE

FRBBMAZ BB E

TAHBRAS I RETZE

BHARNTEZ
M E

REERBIS B8 K
EREZRHMBTE

REFRETR
(B8 B im

Actual tax (credit)/expense

EERBS (BER) HX
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REBERRAZBEE: (&)

ANEE R RIE 2 M B A R AR
30% K (ZZE— N\F:30%)#
MIIRIECEMEH ([REME
Fil) R R R R ET 3 8% (408 &
BB - #HARENBHRA
EMSEH AT UETEE
ZRERI%ERT MK ANE
EfBARNRMBREZHIBEE
BLEMSRAKENZKEMEH
ZEEE -

REBEAMBINKTE R F 2 BIA
REAEREME 2 RITEE R
TIUER -

HEEEESFTERREANR
RHER:
2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
(2,310,385) (246,447)
(57,969) (38,035)
(2,793) (2,118)
4,141 25,910
23,171 20,654
13,193 4,421
(55)
(20,248) 10,777




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx S B % B85« BT £ EH B ITLIIR)

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

8 EEH

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Directors’
fees

Ezhd
HK$'000
THET

Chairman *E
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart ~ B854

Executive director HITEE

Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan BxBLE

Non-executive director HHRTEE

Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEHREE (RZE-NF

(appointed on 1 April 2019) 95— HEZ)

Independent non-executive BUHHTEEF
directors

Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen TRAE
(resigned on 24 March 2020) (RZF-ZFF
=ZA=1AAFE)
Mr. CHIU, Wai On BEREE

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SRERE
Mr. WONG, Man Kong Peter EEMEE (R=FE-NF
(deceased on 11 March 2019) = H+—HEH)

Salaries,
allowances
and
benefits

in kind

HE EER
ENER
HK$'000
TR

EEZHMRIEE S QR &G 53831k

DA (FHEEZNZER) R A28

MERBEWT

Retirement

Discretionary scheme

bonuses  contributions Total
MR BAFEHRN @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TRT
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8 DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

8 EEHM#

2018
—T-N\F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
e =R
EZHe EMEA WERL BRI EIER w@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT THT T THT
Chairman FE
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart EB3i8 %% & - 2,040 510 18 2,568
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan ok B EE - 2,040 510 = 2,550
Mr. ZHANG, Kun (resigned REFE (RZF—/1F
on 9 February 2018) ZANHEF) - 71 100 2 173
Non-executive director HHTEE
Mr. CHENG, Ming Kit BARKER -F-NF
(resigned on 13 April 2018) 1A +=A&I(E) 57 = = = 57
Independent non-executive BV FHiTEE
directors
Mr. CHAN, Chi Yuen BREREE
(resigned on 24 March 2020)  (RZ=ZF=FF
ZH-FHAEE) 200 - - - 200
Mr. CHIU, Wai On BEREE 200 - - - 200
Mr. WONG, Man Kong Peter ~ TE&I[I%EL 4
(deceased on 11 March 2019) (R=ZF—HhE
ZAF—HEH) 200 - - - 200
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SRETE 200 - - - 200
857 4,151 1,120 20 6,148
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 S 3= M B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B 5 BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2018:
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the aggregate of
the emoluments in respect of the other three individuals (2018:
three) were as follow:

REFMAL
BHEMALE S W

B &

—N\F W) AEE  EWE RE T8
BB HE-FT-AET-A=+—§
EEE - HB= (2~ N =)

/\:tz =] /\@H%ﬁu—l—

2019
—F-NF
HK$°000
TERx

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4%  28: & B 1 7
Discretionary bonuses 1B TE AL
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIHE R

2,365
316
54

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the emoluments of
the three (2018: three) individuals with the highest emoluments
were within the following bands:

HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000

500,001 71,000,000/ 7T
1,000,001 7t-1,500,000/% 7T

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income does not have any tax effect for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$Nil).

2018

—E— )\

HK$'000
TET

2,336
221
128

2,685

HE_T-NF+-A=+T—HLFE"
“MN(ZE—NF =) EaFHFMAL
S EEWT
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AE
2
1
Hth 2 E U=
BT - NFTZA=T—HLEFE -
EfermBSTETARETE (2

_)\fﬁ - = /%7':)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 s Y aE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

11 LOSS PER SHARE 1 BREE
(a) Basic loss per share () BREXRER
(i) Loss attributable to owners of the Company () ERAEEAEN (EX)
(basic) EE
2019 2018
ZE-hE —E-N\EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER T T
Loss attributable to owners of RATHER AEREE
the Company (2,290,086) (257,218)
(i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares (i) ZBER (EX)MEFH5%
(basic)
2018
—ZT-N\F
‘000
T &
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R —H—HB2 %17
BBk 8,758,881 8,865,483
Effect of purchase of own shares BE B FHEKHZFE
(note 28(c)(ii)) (P E28()(ii) ) (22,723)
Weighted average number W+—BA=+—H2
of ordinary shares (basic) Lk (BEA)
at 31 December T8 8,758,881 8,842,760
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) BREEEE
For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, basic HE_ZTZ-—NLFRZ-N\EF
and diluted loss per share was the same as there were TZA=T+—HIEFE BHRFR
no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the R EATBAE vl #5810 B @ AR -
year. WERERNLEEEEER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 S 3= M B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FEH B TIIR)

12 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 12 HERFEEE

Exploration  Exploratory Geological
rights drilling studies Others Total
BxE BREH HEHR Hitr @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TH THET THT THET
Cost BA
At 1 January 2018 RZZ-N\E-A—H 3,229,171 92,864 96,194 33,991 3,452,220
Additions hE 893 37,512 - - 38,405
Write off ik = (371) - - (371)
Hyperinflation adjustments BHERAR
(note 2(d)) (KizE2(d)) (351) (3,667) 91,730 = 87,712
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+=-A=+-H 3,229,713 126,338 187,924 33,991 3,577,966
At 1 January 2019 R-ZE-NFE—F—H 3,229,713 126,338 187,924 3,577,966
Additions NE - 19,285 - 19,285
Write off ik - (202) -
Hyperinflation adjustments BUHBRAR
(note 2(d)) (B#E2(d)) (1,442) (8,049) (5,938)
At 31 December 2019 RZF-—NF
+-A=t+—H 3,228,271 137,372 181,986 3,581,620
Accumulated impairment 2t E
At 1 January 2018 R-ZE—-\F—HF—H 1,013,545 5,009 96,194 33,991 1,148,739
Hyperinflation adjustments BUHBRAR
(note 2(d)) (F&2(d)) - = 91,730 = 91,730
At 31 December 2018 RZZ—N\F
+-A=+—H 1,013,545 5,009 187,924 33,991 1,240,469
At 1 January 2019 RZZE-NF—H—H 1,013,545 5,009 187,924 1,240,469
Impairment (note (a)) WA (@) 2,214,726 28,528 = 2,243,254
Hyperinflation adjustments BUHBRAR
(note 2(d)) (P zE2(d)) (5,938) (5,938)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF
_____________________________ -I-*HE-I-—EI 3,228,271 33,537 181,986 33,991 3,477,785
Net book value REFE
At 31 December 2019 RZE-—NF
+-A=+—H 103,835 103,835
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+=-A=+-H 2,216,168 121,329 - - 2,337,497
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 378 &t BASI * Fi A & B IAB IR

12 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e 37 X 82

The exploration rights represent the Group's 69.25% interest in the
Tartagal concession and Morillo concession (collectively the “T&M
Concessions”) which are the concessions in the province of Salta in
northern Argentina, through an Union of Temporary Enterprise (“T&M
UTE"). Exploration permits were granted for oil and developments
of hydrocarbons in the T&M Concessions for an initial period of four
years starting from 29 December 2006 and additional extensions up
to an aggregate of nine years may be obtained. The Group submitted
applications to the Secretary of Energy of Province of Salta, Argentina
(“Salta SOE") for extensions of the exploration permits and obtained
the approvals in July 2010, July 2011, December 2013, March 2016 and
March 2018 respectively. Pursuant to the approval document issued in
March 2018, the exploration permits were extended to 13 September
2019. If successful hydrocarbon discoveries are made, the exploration
permits could be converted to exploitation permits for a term of 25 years
with a possible extension of 10 years.

The Group submitted its application to the Salta SOE for one-year
extension of the exploration permits in May 2019, and for entering into
the second exploratory period in early September 2019.

However, on 17 September 2019, the Salta SOE issued resolutions
rejecting both the Group’s applications for one-year extension and
entering into the second exploratory period in the T&M Concessions
(“Resolutions”). In late September 2019, the Group have submitted its
appeal to the Minister of Production in the Province of Salta in order to
seek the revocation of the Resolutions. Based on the latest communication
with the related authorities in the Province of Salta and a legal opinion
obtained from an independent Argentinian legal counsel, the Group
believes there is significant uncertainty in relation to the timing and
possibility of a positive appeal result in favour of the Group. The Group
recognised full impairment of HK$2,243,254,000 in respect of the
exploration and evaluation assets related to the T&M Concessions as at 31
December 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, the exploratory drilling represents the drilling
activities in the Chirete concession in the province of Salta in northern
Argentina (“Chirete Concession”), in which the Group farmed into 50%
participating interest under a farm-in agreement with Pampa Energia S.A..

In 2016, the Group had an oil discovery in the HLG.St.LB.x-1002
exploratory well drilled in October 2015 in the Chirete Concession and
agreed with Pampa Energia S.A that the additional cost for further drilling
activities would be financed by the two participants.

In 2018, the Group drilled another exploratory well, HLG.St.LB.x-2001 in
the Chirete Concession and significant oil and gas were discovered.

In 2019, the construction of the Group’s permanent production facilities
at HLG.St.LB.x-2001 exploratory well has been completed.

BRAR XA

)

12 BIRRFEEE =

&) £R 4 ¥5 2N 5 3% B Union of Temporary
Enterprise ([T&M UTE | ) #5 / Tartagal4 #F
R & Morillofssr iR (478 [T&RMEF T
] IRFIRELL BDE R B A T
HEIE) 69.25% Mz o T’RMEFRTHE N 2
BEERkRECEMAEERMESTT A
—EERFtZAZtABERV AT
FoWAIEINES BEAENF-AEH
ERMBEERELERIR ([ERER
BERER])BEX MR O] B HI R il:
BIRN—T—FTELH —FT——F+t7-
T—=%+=48- 733*/‘*\¢:ﬂ&:’7
—NF=ZRESHE-RBER=_Z—N\F
= RARBENBENH BRTAICEE=T
—WENLRB+=RA-WEKMNERKE‘E
V) BNERET AT AE S0 BB R A R HA25F K B AR
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WEEZEL — EEBRH LR
TR A TERE A S = (8 8 =
#o

KT RZB-NEAATLE BEEE

Hb/ﬁ nBE%ﬁ/}EEﬁ% E/;&ZK;%E/\\\T&M
%%%Eﬁ%fi&ﬁA%:@@ﬁ%m
M EE (CRER]) -R=ZZ—AFNA
ﬁ'ﬁﬁlmﬁﬁﬁﬁiéﬁ%tiﬁ

ESKBHERER %Fﬁ%m%ém@
BB P B 378 B R A BT AR A 9B N A R EE R
BEHNERER AEERER BHRAE
EREEEFEROKERAIGEEFLES
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JT °©

RZB-NF+_A=+—8 BFEH
TE B AR 3£ 3k EP EE M 58 & MY Chirete FF AT iE (=
([ChiretefssFHER ) K EHEE XK E
1R #% B Pampa Energia S.A.Z] 3 2 BEA L HE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FEH B TIIR)

12 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The current exploratory permit in the Chirete Concession has expired since
18 November 2019. The Group and its partner Pampa Energia S.A., have
submitted the request for an exploitation permit to the Salta SOE. At the
date of issuance of this report, the application is still in progress. In this
connection, based on a legal opinion from an independent Argentinian
legal counsel, the Group believes that the exploitation permit will be
granted after the Salta SOE approves the work and investment plan
submitted by the Group recently, and the Group has the right to receive
the revenue from oil sales from the Chirete Concession even though the
exploitation permit has not been obtained.

As at 31 December 2019, on the basis that the exploitation permit in
the Chirete Concession could be obtained, no impairment loss was
recognised for the exploration and evaluation assets related to the
Chirete Concession based on its recoverable amount determined using
value-in-use calculations by preparing discounted cash flow forecast
with reference to the technical reports issued by independent qualified
technical consultants.

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared a pandemic
of the Coronavirus outbreak (COVID-19) due to its rapid spread
throughout the world. This situation is significantly affecting the global
economy, due to the interruption or slowdown of supply chains and the
significant increase in economic uncertainty. In Argentina, on 19 March
2020, the local government declared social isolation, preventive and
compulsory, which will govern from 20 to 31 March 2020 inclusive, being
able to extend this term for the time considered necessary in light of the
epidemiological situation. On the other hand, the governors of the oil
producing provinces, grouped in the Federal Organization of Hydrocarbon
Producing States, by virtue of the context that affects the oil industry,
are seeking that the national government determine a support oil price,
which guarantees the maintenance of the activity level and decouples the
price in the domestic market from the international price. The directors
of the Company consider that any possible changes in one or more of
the key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount of the
exploration and evaluation assets related to the Chirete Concession due
to the abovementioned events would cause the carrying amount of
the exploration and evaluation assets exceed the recoverable amount.
However, these consolidated financial statements have not been adjusted
according to HKAS 10, Events after the Reporting Period for these
non-adjusting events which are a result of conditions that arose after the
reporting date.

12 WERFEHEE#

BeE: (&)

(b)

(#)

E AT Chirete SFT RN BRFFAIER =
T-NAFE+—ATNREH -AEERE
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¥R E SERRAREBEBREA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 s Y aE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 Y% BENRRERE
Furniture,
fixtures 0il
Leasehold and office Motor  production Right-of-
Improvements ~ Machinery  equipment vehicles assets  use assets Total
HENE Bi £ER BHEE
13 BE  BAZRE "E E [RAREE @5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TATL TR TR TR THT THL

Cost KA
At 1 January 2018 RZZ-\5-A-H 639 51,160 2,525 794 5272 - 60,390
Additions nE = 2,381 60 - - - 2,441
Disposals HE - - (13) (15) (2,642) = (2,670)
Hyperinflation adjustments BHRRAE
(note 2(d)) (MizE2(d)) - (12,808) 746 443 (2,630) - (14,244)
At 31 December 2018 RZZ2-)\F
+-A=1+-8 639 40,733 3,318 1,227 - - 45,917

Impact on initial application BRERABNBRE

of HKFRS 16 (note) EAIZ16R0TE
(Mar)
At 1 January 2019 RZE-nE—-A-H
Additions AE 513
Disposals HE (1,578)
Hyperinflation adjustments BHRRAE
(note 2(d)) (Mi#E2(d) (1,581)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-n&
TZA=1+-H 38,087 6,358 49,155
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective Misk: AEEERAEESERENRERES
method and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise MBREEFEISRETEHR T —hF—
right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously classified as A—RAZEFERELRAR URRER
operating leases under HKAS 17.See note 2(c). FRBEESGHEAFITRIBREEN

EMHEERBNEREEE - RITE20 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 S 3= M B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FEH B TIIR)

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continvesd)y 13 YE -BERHRE &)

Furniture,
fixtures 0il
Leasehold and office Motor  production Right-of-
Improvements ~ Machinery  equipment vehicles assets  use assets Total
HENE B %ER BHEE
%8 HE  BOERE RE E [RAREE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TATL TR TR TR THT THL

Accumulated depreciation ZHFERBE
and impairment

At 1 January 2018 KRZZ-\5-A-H 579 2,597 2,266 666 4,981 - 11,089
Charge for the year FRRX 60 3,758 281 49 437 - 4,585
Written back on disposals HEER - - (13) (15) (2,642) - (2,670)
Hyperinflation adjustments BHRRAE
(note 2(d)) (H&E2(d)) - 1,864 576 438 (2,776) - 102
At 31 December 2018 RZZ2-)\F
+-A=t+-8 639 8,219 3,110 1,138 - - 13,106

Impact on initial application BREREAYKREE

of HKFRS 16 (note) A 652 (HE)
At 1 January 2019 RZE-nE—-A—-H 8,219
Charge for the year FRER 4,548
Written back on disposals HERE (1,578)
Hyperinflation adjustments BHRRAE
(note 2(d)) (MzE2(d)) (751)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-n&
_________________________ T2AZTE
Net book value REFE
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-h&
t-A=t+-R
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\%F
+-f=1+-8 - 32,514 208 89 - - 32,811
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective Mz AEBEERACERENENBEAEE
method and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise M mEERFEISRTEHR T —F—
right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously classified as A—BZENEARIELAE UBERER
operating leases under HKAS 17. See note 2(c). ERBEESHENE 17RO ERLEHR

EMHEEMRBNEREEE B2 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

14 RBRARIZIRE

R=Z-AF+=A=+—A &AAF
B A TR T

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019
are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest

AR
Place of
establishment/ Group's Held Held
incorporation Particulars of issued effective by the by the  Principal
Name of company and business and paid up capital interest  Company subsidiary  activities
R/ AEEZ
ARAR RYUREX LY BRIRMERAFE ERRER A0ABE WEARKE TIEEH
Total Belief Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
BEARRA RERTES TREREEIZT EBR RERR
Jade Honest Limited BVI 2,700 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% 100% - Dormant
EERAHE  270REREEIETEER AEEKED
Absolute Champ Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share at HK$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BEBR A B 1REREEIBT 2 ERBR REER
Ace Diamond Trading Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERIES 1008 BREE XL ERR RERR
Big Trade Investments Limited BVI 1 ordinary share at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERTES REREBIEZT EBR RERR
Bright Rise Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
REEEERAR RERTES REREBIET EBR RERR
Cheer Profit Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
REEEERAA RERRES REREBIZT EBR RERKR
Discovery Operating LLC us Nil paid 100% - 100%  Dormant
e z AEXBED
ET-LA, LLC us Registered capital of US$500 100% - 100%  Investment holding
E3e & AR500% T REER
First Continent Holdings Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EERRES 100 G EE1E T2 ERR REER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 S 3= M B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FEH B TIIR)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

14 RMIBRARIZIRE (#)

Proportion of ownership interest

FiERRERLLA
Place of
establishment/ Group's Held Held
incorporation Particulars of issued effective by the by the  Principal
Name of company and business and paid up capital interest  Company subsidiary activities
R/ rEEZ
AEER RUREXEH BRORMARREARE ERE: A0AKA WEBARKE IEXE
First Apex Global Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
REBUES 100 BREE IR EBR RERR
Giant Perfect Holdings Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
REBUES 100 BREEIERT EBR REZR
Grand Rich Trading Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding/
Commodities
trading
BEEHERAA REBUES 1REREEIETEBR RERKR/
BEmES
Happy Light Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
HEEEERAF REBUES 1REREEIET EBR REER
High Luck Holding Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited
BEER (FE)BRAA Bk 1RERAEIETZ AR REER
High Luck Group Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
BESERRAR RERUES 100 BREE IR EBR REER
Jumbo Hope Group Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
RHEEERAR Bk 1RERAEIETZ AR REER
Novastar Capital Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
RERUES 100 BREE IR EBR REEZR
Power Jet Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Dormant
RERUES REREEIET EBR REEHED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B R AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

14 RMIBRARIZIRE (#)

Proportion of ownership interest

FiERRERLLA
Place of
establishment/ Group's Held Held
incorporation Particulars of issued effective by the by the  Principal
Name of company and business and paid up capital interest  Company subsidiary activities
R/ E R rEEZ
AR RUIREEHE CEROIRMERAHE ERE: A0AKA WEBARKE IEXE
Techno Wealth Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% = 100%  Investment holding
EEBRNRA REBUES 1REREEIZT EBR REAR
United Oil & Resources Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each 100% = 100%  Dormant
Trading Limited
BADAERESERAT Bk 100 BREE BT EBR RAEEKED
RTRHESERAF PRC Registered capital of US$1,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
HE 7 &741,000,0005% 7T REAR
High Luck Group Limited Argentina Not applicable 69.25% = 69.25%  Exploration of
Tartagal Oriental and oil and gas
Morillo - UTE
PR3 TER PERIE
United Resources Trading BVI/Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 51% = 51%  Commodities
Limited trading
BRERESERAR RERZES/ 10REREBIZTZLER BEmES
3
@ Wholly foreign owned enterprise established under the PRC law * RIFRBEDEREMAIEBEDLE

15 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES

15 REELTECER

2019
—E-hE
HK$'000

857

Share of net assets

DIEEEFE

2018
—E—N\F
HK$'000
FHE T

7,849

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 82 JR B BR 2 A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FEH B TIIR)

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 15 REEbEIER B
Details of the Group's interest in joint ventures, which are FHASEREGE L E R (KERZE
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated REREMBImMEANR) 25BN
financial statements, are as follows:
Proportion of
ownership interest
=L 4 $:3:20]
Form of Place of Particulars of Group's Held
business incorporation issued and effective by a Principal
Name of joint ventures structure and business  paid up capital interest  subsidiary  activities
MR LR BERTR rEBz  -ZWE
RELEER SBRBEA  EXBE BRRARE EREZ QAARE IEXH
Smart Win International Limited Incorporated BVI 200 ordinary shares 50% 50%  Investment Holding
of US$1 each
EAEERAR B2 AV EBRAHE 200BEREEIETZ REERKR
Full Charming Limited Incorporated BVI 1 ordinary share 29.9% 29.9%  Investment Holding
of HK$1 each
a2 AvE EEREAEE REREE1BTZ REBKR
Hong Kong Qil Development Ltd. Incorporated Hong Kong 1 ordinary share 29.9% 29.9%  Investment Holding
of HK$1 each
EARRERBRAR B2 AV BA REREEIETL REER
BRETBLEXERAF" Incorporated PRC Registered capital 28.4% 28.4%  Provision of
of RMB6,000,000 oil services
Bl HE FER RERHRS
AE 6,000,000
o Limited liability company established under the PRC law & BEFRBZEAMRERETAA

The Group’s joint ventures are unlisted corporate entities

whose quoted market prices are not available.

AEEZREEERRETRAAER
W E 5 HRE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B R AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

15

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 82 JR B BR 2 A

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Full Charming Limited and its subsidiaries (“Full Charming
Group”) is determined to be a material joint venture.
Summarised financial information of Full Charming Group,
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and a
reconciliation to the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed below:

15 REePEIREX2)

Full Charming Limited K& H K& A &
(TFull Charming&E ) &R E—REKXR
B N EFUl Charming% B
ZHBERBE (ERGHRRNEW
ERBETHAR)ARBLEE P BREE

EfEZ HRD T

2019
—2-nE
HK$’000
FERT

Gross amounts of Full Charming

Group’s

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities

Equity

Included in the above assets
and liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents

Revenue

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Reconciled to the Group’s interest
in Full Charming Group
Gross amounts of equity attributable
to the owners of Full Charming Group
The Group's effective interest
The Group's share of equity attributable
to the owners of Full Charming Group
Elimination of unrealised profits
on upstream transactions
Carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements

Full Charming& H 2~

mEE
MENEE
FRBEE

HALMEERAM®:

ReMEEFEY

Yz
FRER

H b 2 m W e
2 EW AR

E2Z &£ @ A Full Charming
EEMERYIER

Full Charming&E B # A A
EihiEm 2 B

AEENERER

Full Charming®& B %A A
PG AR EE

I LR 5 AR B 5 F

REMBHRREEE

1,037
28,033
(3,164)

25,906

2018
—T-N\F
HK$'000
FHET

219
890
(14,686)

(2,904)
(17,590)

40,443
29.9%

12,101

(368)

11,733
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B 5 BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
individually material:

15 REeBLEIREX 2

FEREXRNEELREALER:

Aggregate carrying amount of R B 75 a2k (& B
individually immaterial joint venture FEREGELERE
in the consolidated financial BE
statements

Aggregate amounts of the Group's

REBEREZEEDRE

share of the joint venture’s: BMEEE
Loss for the year FNEE
Total comprehensive income 2HENEERE

2019 2018
—B-AhF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET
1,094

(277)

(277)

INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATION

On 26 February 2014, the Group acquired 38.15%
participating interest in Palmar Largo Union of Temporary
Enterprise (the “Palmar Largo UTE Interest”). The Palmar
Largo UTE Interest consists of (i) rights and obligations arising
from the joint venture contract that aims at the exploration,
development and exploitation of hydrocarbons in the Palmar
Largo concession area and (ii) interest in the production
equipment and facilities required to perform and execute the
exploitation work. The hydrocarbons exploitation rights on the
Palmar Largo concession area have a term of 25 years from 23
December 1992 to 23 December 2017, extendible for another
10 years up to 23 December 2027 upon the unanimous
decision of the Palmar Largo UTE parties and the approval of
the relevant local government.

16 REEXK zHS

RZZE—WOF A=+ H X~&H
I B Palmar Largo Union of Temporary
Enterprise #938.15% %2 B # = ([ Palmar
Largo UTEAE%5]) ° Palmar Largo UTE#E
mBiE() fECEANEEHR EE
N B ZPalmar Largoi FF4E & A &1t
B2 F R E E A RG)AE M RATT
FERVERFTR 2 £ ERE R ATIE
W25 o Palmar Largofs 5T R 2 ik @b &
MREEN A _+RAF B— A=
F+_RAZ+=HE-Z—tF+_H
—+=H " MParlmar Largo UTEZ H2 5 —
BURTE R AB B E BT B 18 AT RE B+
FEE+FT-_A-+t=R-
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16 INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATION (continued) 16 REEXB 2R (@)

On 23 December 2017, the exploitation rights were expired R-ZE—+tF+_A-+=0 #K#E
and the Group initiated the application process with the ERE - MASEE MIRERERES
Secretary of Energy of Province of Formosa, Argentina ERBR(MEEEEERBRIER
(“Formosa SOE") for further extension of the exploitation REERF WE—TPEHREHEE-
rights. On 21 November 2018, the operations in Palmar Largo RZZB—NEFE+—A=Z+—H HRR
concession was terminated because the extension of the BEEAERPRAOZEBN BITE
exploitation rights will not be granted according to the final BT 8 FEERNEER  Palmar Largofs FF 4
notice from Formosa SOE. RH)EEEKRIE-

Therefore, the non-current assets in respect of Palmar Largo A It - Palmar Largo’s #F # & /) 3F 7%
concession were disposed of, and a net loss on disposal PEECEEE BEEEFIBFA
amounting to HK$7,186,000 was charged to profit or loss 7,186,000 TEREBE—T—N\F+=
during the year ended 31 December 2018 (note 5). A=+—RIEFENBRERMG (KT

5)°

17 OTHER INVESTMENT IN EQUITY SECURITIES 17 HtEZESFRE

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

—B-hF —E-N\F
t=A=+-8 [QEEEEEREE

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M =E F#E T FAT

Equity securities designated S ERRAAEBETA

at FVOCI (non-recycling) HthzmBBZESR
#H (TaEYK)
— Borealis Alaska Oil, Inc. — Borealis Alaska Oil, Inc.
("Borealis”, formerly known ([Borealis | * B f#
as NordAg Energy Inc.) NordAg Energy Inc.) (i) 15,925 17,879
— Foothills Exploration — Foothills Exploration (i) 143 815
16,068 18,694
Notes:
(i) The equity interest in Borealis is carried at fair value. The fair value is 0) BorealisZ IR AR BEIIK -ZAR
determined by the directors with reference to a valuation report issued by BEREFL2RBIIHEARETEE
an independent appraisal firm, Roma Appraisals Limited with reference to AEERARBEHZAERSE 2R H
recent private placing of shares and warrants by Borealis and the average BorealisFh 5 it & A% 17 M 58 A& #E 75 LA B AT bt
share price fluctuations of comparable companies between the dates of RARRALERERD RRBREE A H &
private placing of shares and warrants and the reporting period end date. REARBEZ FHRE RS METE -
(i) The equity interest in Foothills Exploration is carried at fair value. The fair (if) B # A i Foothills Exploration®) f% # S 2
value was determined by the directors with reference to the market price R EEVE AR EEHES 2 RFoothills
of shares of Foothills Exploration. Explorationfi% {3 Y TH 35 B A& FTEE AT ©
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18 INVENTORIES 18 78
(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial (a) REEMBRRARZEERRE:

position comprise:

2019 2018

—B-AhF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHBT

0il products F R Em 98 1,125

Consumables 5 F M 14,206 19,907

14,304 21,032

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as by BEEREAIVIFABTRZE

an expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: EEB2OMET:

2019 2018
—E—-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT

Carrying amount of inventories EHEFEZEREE

sold (note 6(e)) (Bt 5E6(e) ) 224,724 286,863
Write down of inventories WoRFE (H3E6(c))
(note 6(c)) 6,822 -

231,546 286,863
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19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

31 December

2019

—E-NEF
+-A=+-—-H

Notes HK$'000
gz THER

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance

EWE 75 BB RERE

2,505
7,790
561

32,896

Other debtors HEmEBA
Amount due from a joint venture Bl &L RRIR S
Financial assets measured REERATEN
at amortised cost CHMEE
VAT recoverable A Y = 38 (B F
Other tax recoverable H At AT U [ 3 1R
Other prepayment and deposits HeEARBERES
Promissory note receivable FEWOR K B’ (i)
Reconciliation to the consolidated REEHBRARZ2EER:
statement of financial position:
Non-current JERE
Current k)

10,911
(i) 21,985

32,896
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19 %H&%%E&?ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂ@ﬂ&%ﬂ
I

31 December
2018
ZE-)N\F
+-A=+—8
HK$'000
FHET

3,184
15,471
314

15,462
32,756

48,218
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19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

The promissory note was issued by Foothills Exploration Operating, Inc.
(“Foothills”) and guaranteed by Foothills Exploration, the indirect holding
company of Foothills, as part of the consideration of the disposal of its
subsidiaries in the US, and is bearing no interest and repayable on 30 June
2018. The promissory note carries effective interest rate of 19.18% per
annum.

On the maturity date of the promissory note, the Group did not receive
any repayment in respect of the outstanding promissory note and the
said event constituted a default in repayment by Foothills. The Group is in
negotiation with Foothills for the repayment of the past due promissory
note. Foothills’s principal activities are the acquisition and development
of oil and gas properties in the US. In view of the adverse financial and
operating circumstances of Foothills Exploration and its subsidiaries and
the default, the Group provided full impairment on the past due balance
of promissory note receivable as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018.

All of the current trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered
or recognised as expense within one year.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, presented based
on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

19 %H&%%E&fi&ﬁf&@ﬂ&%ﬂ
H (&

B &L :
(i)

(i)

(iii)

0 - 30 days 0£30H

31 - 60 days 31£260H
61 - 90 days 61290H
Over 90 days 90H LA

Trade receivables are due within 30 days (2018: 30 days) from the date
of billing. Further details on the Group's credit policy are set out in note
29(a).
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# i, 238 Foothills Exploration Operating,
Inc. ([Foothills | ) % 473 B Foothills
Exploration#& 4R (— K Foothillsk) ff £ 1 I
RNA)) ERREBHEMRBRRZHBOR
BRTAEYER-_ZT—NFAA=1A
BE -AAEBREFERFE19.18%5T
& o

REAZRINPR AEELERHRE
BAHZRBEWIEMER LRFHEE
FK Foothills#E /R E 3K - A& B H A [E# E
B8 B 3 ZE R B BiFoothillsi#E /TR ©
Foothills,z 3= 22 3 75 & 1 3= BI Y s 1% B 28
SEEE o i Foothills Exploration f& £ [ff &
DA DHI 7 R & @A A R R A -
RZE-NE+ZA=+—BE=ZFT—N\
F+ZA=+—RH AEERERALE
B2 8 A SRB R E -

P B BD HA B UK 2 AR R e L At FE MR TR TR
BN —FARERTER BT

KRB ZRFREZTAMRNREERE
2R BB :

2019 2018
—EB-hF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FTET THET
2,321 -
3,184

3,184

FEWE 5B A B R&E A #E308 (=
T NF:30R)NEH-FHEAEEREFEE
BURHYHE — R BRI EE29(a) ©
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20 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

20 EthemEE

Listed equity securities (note (i))
Listed debt securities (note (ii))

EmRBRARE 7 ()

Unlisted equity-linked securities FE £ AR AN Hh 8 35 2
(note (jii)) (B 5% ii) )
Unlisted funds FETES

EHEBE %(WTE (ii) )

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

The listed equity securities represent listed shares on the Stock Exchange
and are stated at fair value. Net investment loss of approximately
HK$6,850,000 has been recognised in profit or loss during the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: HK$100,492,000).

The listed debt securities represent the senior notes listed on the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the Stock Exchange
and are stated at fair value. Net investment income of approximately
HK$1,010,000 has been recognised in profit or loss during the year ended
31 December 2019.

The unlisted equity-linked securities represent securities which contained
embedded derivatives, the return of which were determined with
reference to the closing price of certain equity securities listed on the
Stock Exchange. The unlisted equity-linked securities were designated
as fair value through profit or loss at initial recognition, and the net
investment income of approximately HK$1,612,000 has been recognised
in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: loss of
approximately HK$2,126,000).
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(i)

(iii)

2019 2018
—2-nx L EUC
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi857 T
80,618 80,468
30,528 =
8,027 =

927 =
120,100 80,468

ETRABLFARB R EmRG RIR
AhEBEIE-BE-_T—HhE+=A
=+—HILFE R EEEFEL6,850,000
#7t (ZZ— /\%F : 100,492,000/ 7C) B R

LT B AR R E SR P R
R L2 BEERREA A EEIK:
RBE_F-—A4+t-A=T-ALEE
248 I AFH91,010,00078 7T B HA 2%
R -

FEEMRAHBELRAB
TAZHHR HEFHZ
Fr £ 2 R ﬁzuﬂzﬂﬂgfém #Lfﬁ
meﬂf@ ERVIEHABEERRA
R EEGAE ﬁﬁﬁf‘az:%fﬁﬁ
+:HE+—E¢$F§Z&§H&M¥§E
491,612,000 T (ZZE— N\F:BEY
2,126,000/ 7T ) BN IBE RIER °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B 5 BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 21 REeNBESZEYRH#ME
CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a)

(b)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

() ReRBLEEYERE:
2019 2018
ZE-hF —T-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx TAET

Cash and cash equivalents RE AR R R
in the consolidated statement HEReERERFTZ
of financial position and ReMREEFEEY

consolidated statement
of cash flows

771,662 928,476

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

(b) REBMETHNEBE YK

TRFALAREEREREZHH
BECEY BRASRIIFRESE
B-REMELTBNABRERERS
MENDRIERKECRESS
EDREAKERARERER
ERBREIYMBRETRENE

%o
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21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 21 REeNBESZEYRH#ME

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) EREER #)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) 5{5 METHNERZHE
financing activities (Continued) (%)
Other Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
Hitfd & HEASE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL THET THET
At 1 January 2018 RZZE-NE-F—H 213,780 - 213,780
Changes from financing cash flows: REBERSRENEE:
Repayment of other borrowings BREEMES (3,000) = (3,000)
Other changes: Hith#s:
Interest paid ERFE (15,675) = (15,675)
Interest expenses accrual (note 6(a)) BT FI 8 (HizE6()) 15,687 = 15,687
Total other changes Hin 2 e @st 12 - 12
At 31 December 2018 R=ZZ-NF+=A=+-H 210,792 - 210,792
Impact on initial application of BREREBNBRELER
HKFRS 16 (Note 2(c)) F165NTE (KE2(c) - 2,909 2,909
At 1 January 2019 R-ZZ-nf¥-A—-H 210,792 2,909 213,701

Changes from financing cash flows: REBERSRENEE:

Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEHERHS (2,075)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHESNFEHD (91)
Repayment of other borrowings BEEMEER (57,400) (57,400)
Other changes: Hit25:

Interest paid BERFE (15,569) (15,569)
Interest expenses accrual (note 6(a)) &7 B (HiFF6(a)) 13,721 13,812
Total other changes HinBghmst (1,848) (1,757)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-NAF+=ZB=+-8H 151,544 152,378
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22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

22 %ﬁ%%ﬁ&?ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂ@ﬁ%ﬂ
I

Notes
M =E
Trade payables BT E SRR (i)
Other creditors and EfERM BN ERE R
accrued charges (iii)

Financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost

BREBHEKAAEZERAR

Receipt in advance TE Y K IE
Notes:
(i) All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one

year or are repayable on demand.

(i) The following is an ageing analysis of the trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

0 - 30 days
31 - 60 days
61 — 90 days

Over 90 days

0%30H

31£260H
61%290H
90H K £

(iii) The amounts include a deposit of HK$48,880,000 received from two
independent third parties which appointed a subsidiary of the Company
as trustee to pursue an acquisition. The potential acquisition had been
cancelled and the deposit was classified as “other creditors and accrued
charges” to be returned to those third parties.

(iii)

2019 2018
—E2-NF —E-)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx TAT

6,401 27,544

57,633 65,492

64,034 93,036

212 21

64,246 93,057

BHMBRNE 2 RN R E Mt &N RIEEA
R—FRENIIZEREE -

RBERAR BENEZRREBERZAH2
P ZEREC DT ANT :

2019 2018

S i —z2-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBT TR

3,460 21,940

536 4,231
1,152 399
1,253 974

6,401 27,544

ZEeERREEMBBILE=FKE
48,880,000 TR ® ZEF=FZEHF
ARNR—FHHBRARAITEANUZRK—IA
Whg - ZREBEWEEWEUE RS A
[HEtENREBEREFTER] 2REGRE
FHEE=FH-
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23 OTHER BORROWINGS

23 HEE

Term loans due for repayment
within 1 year

Term loans due for repayment
after 1 year:

—FRIHEEZETHER

—FRIPEEZEHER:

After 1 year but within 2 years —FIREMFR

After 2 years but within 5 years MERERFA
Reconciliation to the consolidated REEHBRRRZHE:

statement of financial position:

Current liabilities mEN AR

Non-current liabilities FEREBBE
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2019
—E—hEF
HK$'000
FTHExT

10,544

138,000
3,000

141,000

151,544

10,544
141,000

151,544

2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
TAT

210,792

56,792
154,000

210,792
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FEH B TIIR)

24 LEASE LIABILITIES 24 HEERE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities THREIAEE 2 HEBENRRE KB
of the Group's lease liabilities at the end of the current and AREARENBEEESYBRELE
previous reporting periods and at the date of transition to BIE165%E B 2 Fera £ 5 HREARR
HKFRS 16:
31 December 2019 1 January 2019 (Note)
“E-RAEtZA=+-H ZE-hFE-A—H(H=)
Present Present
Value of Total Value of Total
the minimum minimum  the minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

REHEE REEE REEE REEE
AREE REE AREE ARBE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT FTHT THT THT

Within 1 year —FR 834 839 2,224 2,280

After 1 year but within 2 years ~ —F&BRER - - 685 725

834 839 2,909 3,005

Less: total future interest expenses & : B 14 % 8.5 5 4228 (5) (96)
Present value of lease liabilities HAE&ERE 834 2,909

Note: Bt 5
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective AEBFEREBITENEZEREREANBRE
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise HERAFE6HR UHRER-_FE-—NF-—A—BZF
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as operating VERAERENRIBEE B S ENE17R DR
leases under HKAS 17. Comparative information as at 31 December 2018 has not RICEEHENHERFAHEGBE - R T —N\F
been restated. Further details on the impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set TZA=T-—BENLRERLT RS -FHEBE
out in note 2(c). EERUBRELENFIHROTENE —LFE
A FE2(0) °
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25

26

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 (2018:
HK$30,000). Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group also participates in the employees’ pension schemes
of the respective municipal governments in various places
(including Argentina) where the Group operates. The Group
makes monthly contributions calculated as a percentage of the
monthly basic salary and the relevant municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all
existing and future retirees of the Group.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement
of financial position represents:

25

26

BERIKER

AEERBEEBRRBRGISTERER
8 58 Bl 1 A T8 & 7T B 5P 3R 3798 il 14
AEEFE ([BESFE]) - BESE
ESHBYEREATRE 2 ERHFRK
itEl-RERESHE BERERES
VERABEE ZWAS%AEEE T
K 1B B A A _ER £530,00078 7T

—Z— )\ :30,000% 7T ) -5t & 5
BB 57 )8 ©

AEE T2 ERAEEREMENS B
B (B4R AR E) /9 & 18 3 75 BT /O 18
BRESFE -AKEETAFEHHENR

CREBAEANFENXER I LLEE

mARRE M T BT RIAEAKREMEREA
RARFERKEBNRARBNEE-

mEMBRRRAZFAER

() HREFKMRRERAZENHAFIE
=

2018
—E-NF
HK$'000
AT

Current tax recoverable A] U [B] BN HA A7 18

— Argentina Corporate Income Tax

—FIRELEMAEH

66
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B 5 BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 RERBRRRAZAER
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (#%&)
(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax liabilities: (b) EEBEEE:
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in RiFE M BEIR R RER ZELER
the consolidated statement of financial position and the HEBEEAKRISD R AFE 2 #
movements during the year are as follows: BEINMT :
Exploration
and evaluation
assets Others Total
BRERFEEE Hit M5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FET FAET
At 1 January 2018 W-ZE-N\E—F—H 742 10,407 11,149
(Charged)/credited to PIEZE KR (%) FTA
profit or loss (21,193) 10,361 (10,832)
Hyperinflation adjustments BHERAE
(note 2(d)) (PH5E2(d) ) (19,434) (12,319) (31,753)

As at 31 December 2018 and RZEB—)N\F

1 January 2019 +ZA=t—HEk
—Z-NE—HA—H (39,885) 8,449 (31,436)
Credited/(charged) to REB&ZRTTA S (OR)
profit or loss (5,532)
Hyperinflation adjustments EHERAR
(note 2(d)) (KtzE2(d) ) ((E)
At 31 December 2019 R=ZE-NF
+=—RA=+—H (14,432) (11,711)
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and BIEEHB B - B4 A AR R R
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement FHROEEREBEEERABED T
of financial position. HH ©
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 FREPBMRRRAZAEH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (&)
(Continued)
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised () YEEIRELEBEEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note B IE M 522(s)FT 51 2 & 5T BUSK
2(s), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets ANEBEY EB R FHIARIE
in respect of cumulative tax losses of HK$97,262,000 97,262,000 L (=& — )\ F:
(2018: HK$80,516,000) and impairment of non-current 80,516,000/ 7T ) & 3F 7 B) & &
assets of HK$53,291,000 (2018: HK$53,291,000) as it is 1853,291,0008 7T (=T —/\ &
not probable that future taxable profits against which the 53,291,000/ 70) R EEFLIBE
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax BB RNER BN RAER
jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not expire under NEBA  TAABEH ARKRERD
current tax legislation. A AR SE AT B A 2 R IR 18 -
BBRITH RO - FHIEEB LR
BER -
27 PROVISIONS 27 BB
The carrying amount of the Group's provisions mainly AEEREBECEREXEREERER
represented the provisions for asset retirement obligations. BB - FRNBRBEEBHMMAT :
Movements of provisions during the year are set out as follows:
HK$'000
FHETT
At 1 January 2019 RZE—-—NnF—H—H 14,828
Provision during the year FNEE 4,029
Exchange adjustments b & B 1,647
At 31 December 2019 RZE-—NAF+_A=+—H 20,504
Less: amount included under “current liabilities” B IREBEE]ETNEER
o] (9,968)
10,536
In accordance with the relevant rules and regulations and the 1R IR B B85 Bl B0k 40 DA K B2 T i B A
agreements with the surface owners, the Group is obliged ZhE ARBEAZTHEARREE HH
to accrue the costs related to the future costs of plugging REERRKA BHEBERKBR
and abandoning its oil and gas properties, the removal of REEA RS T ERABE RN 2
equipment and facilities from lease acreage and returning such HERARBERFAZESHEBIEEN T
land to its original condition, and indemnification of surface B ARES 5725 KA RS R
owners for the damages caused by the exploration activities. HMREEL —MEBZMAERREN
These costs reflect the estimated legal and contractual BE WHEBRIEMEBEE 2 REERK
obligations associated with the normal operation of oil and HEXR BERESERAIKERAM
gas properties and were capitalised by increasing the carrying ATIESHEIEL 2 R EMETMETE

amounts of the related assets. The provisions have been
determined by the directors based on their best estimates of
the level of expenditure and extent of work required.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B 5 BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(b)

28 &

R -REERKRE

(a) Movements in components of equity () EEBHEH
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBGEERSBIRFET R
balances of each component of the Group's consolidated FRERZHEHN GRS E
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes B3k o RN ElfE B R B 5 R F 1)
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s RERB 2 BEFBEHINAT :
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below:
The Company AT
Fair value
reserve
Share Share Capital (non-  Contributed  Accumulated Total
capital premium Reserve recycling) surplus losses equity
MEEHE
B& REE BAGE  (FuEK) E4EH ZiE#R BRAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FHL T FHL T T FHL
Balance at 1 January 2018 W=%-\5-A-H
g 88655 4,881,035 9,591 (4,69) 740880 (2,043580) 3471885
Changes in equity for 2018 “E-N\EZERZD
Loss for the year FRER = = = = = (19,504) (19,504)
Purchase of own shares BEE SRR
(note 28(c)) (BHsE28(0)Gi)) (1,066) (12,854) - = = = (13,920)
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZB-NE+ZR
and 1 January 2019 =t-AR=%-A0%F
-A-ALH 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (4,696) 740880 (2,263084) 3438461
Changes in equity for 2019 ZE-NEZREEE
Loss for the year FRER (2,039,208)  (2,039,208)
Balance at 31 December 2019 R=B-NE+=A
Z+-BHE 87,589 4,868,181 (4,696) 740880  (4,302,292) 1,399,253
Dividends (b) BRE
There is no dividend declared attributable to the year TEFEEZE_ZE—-NLF+=A
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$Nil). :+— H Jtir“ EEE(ZF
There is no dividend payable to owners of the Company HE-_Z—NF+=ZA=1+—H
attributable to previous financial year, approved and paid JJ:@T_ Iﬁ\ﬁ‘yt —ﬁﬁﬁk¢ﬁTtt/E

during the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$Nil).

(_g )\E E,%rc)
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B B R AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continvea) 28 EZ~-FERKRE (&)

(c) Share capital
(i) Authorised and issued share capital

() B=X

() ZERERTERE

2019 2018
“E-hE —T-\&
No. of shares No. of shares
BRH#A gnE 4]
'000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
TR TER Tk THT
Authorised: B
Ordinary shares of BREB.OETLZ
HK$0.01 each 3l 200,000,000 PRONIANGE 200,000,000 2,000,000
Ordinary shares, EER CRORAR:
issued and fully paid:
At 1 January w—A—AH
Ordinary shares of BREE0.OETLZ
HK$0.01 each L@ 8,758,881 87,589 8,865,483 88,655
Purchase of own shares BEERINRN
(note 28(c)(ii) (B &E28(c)ii) ) (106,602) (1,066)
At 31 December R+=—R=+—H
Ordinary shares of FREE0IBTL
HK$0.01 each L@k 8,758,881 87,589 8,758,881 87,589

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FEH B TIIR)

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(c) Share capital (Continued)
(ii) Purchase of own shares

During the year of 2018, the Company repurchased
and cancelled its own ordinary shares on the Stock
Exchange as follows:

28 EXR-RERKRE (&)

() KA (#)
(i) BEEBESHRG

R-T—N\F AR A R
RAEEMEREE ST
AR

Number Highest Lowest
of shares price paid price paid Aggregate
Month/year repurchased per share per share  consideration
EEE sREXM sREXM
R/& REHA EEER RIEER REAR
HK$ HK'$ HK$'000
BT BT TR
September 2018 “Z-NENA 39,210,000 0.1320 0.0966 4,624
October 2018 “Z-N\%¥tH 33,110,000 0.1420 0.1269 4,585
November 2018 —Z-N\¥+-HR 34,282,000 0.1349 0.1328 4,711
Total B 106,602,000 13,920

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

Share premium
The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents (i)
the difference between the amount by which
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid upon acquisition of
additional interests in non-wholly owned subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2012 and
(ii) the difference between the nominal value of
ordinary shares issued by the Company and the
aggregate of the share capital and share premiums
of subsidiaries acquired through a reorganisation in
preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares
on the Stock Exchange in October 1998.

(d) fEZHEEREDN

(i)

(i)
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B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(v).

(iv) Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

v)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9
that are held at the end of the reporting period (see
note 2(g)).

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group and the
Company represented the credit arising from capital
reduction in prior years.

Under Section 54 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, contributed surplus is available for
distribution as dividends to shareholders subject
to the provisions of the Company’s bye-laws
and provided that immediately following the
distribution, the Company is able to pay its liabilities
as and when they fall due or the realisable value of
the Company’s assets would not be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium account.

(e) Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2019, the Company had no reserves
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in
specie. Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
the Company’s contributed surplus in the amount of
HK$740,880,000 (2018: HK$740,880,000) is currently
not available for distribution. The Company’s share
premium account in the amount of HK$4,868,181,000 as
at 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$4,868,181,000) may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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28 EXR-RERKRE (&)

(d) REIEERBN(E)
(i) EZ#FE

(e)

(iv)

(v)

IE 3 R B AR IB SN R TS B 7S
BREBEECHAINEE
B o 2 fif 1 Y AR IR PN BE2(V)FT
JIEEt R IR

RAEBERE (THEY)
AREERE (TR EYK)
BIERER ST RS %R
FORIETHEAABETA
Hih2E W WRI®EH
KRB ENRERE 2 Z5
AAhBEEZEHFE(LWEF
2(g)) °

EHES
REBRARR ZEHRE G
EREFERRRAESLZ
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#R A R AR 0 R A B
AR ERNEMBIESATARR -
BEREREDIK®E A2FD
BREAXNEIHAE K
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SRNRERAE SHRITEN
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AR A o

At ke

R-B-—HNF+-A=+—8 &
REAGEFEATHRRS S IKE
LEVDIK - REBEERE— NN\~

=

AR (BEFT) ARAZ

4 A\ B #:740,880,0008 T (==
— J\4E : 740,880,000/% 7T ) 35 B 1~
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B RS R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FEH B TIIR)

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(f)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders’ returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
a net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose, net debt
is defined as total debt which includes interest-bearing
borrowings. Total equity is the balance as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

During 2019, the Group's strategy, which was unchanged
from 2018, was to maintain the net debt-to-capital ratio
at a reasonable level. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debt.

28 EXR-RERKRE (&)

(f)

ESER
AEEESERZETERREARR
BARBEEFERFERKLER
ZREN  ERBRKFRSRZER
AR E B A KBS A KA
BME EE/SBREHEOERSH
ftEm AR

AEEEREELEHENRER
HESHER UBRFESBRRER
(Hrge AR REREKT) RIE
{28 S iR R 2 F - I 5L AR IR

AEBAFABEA L RERERE
THERRB-HRNZ B B
FERAERBEBER ETERE
AEEEE - BREAEREE MK
VR PR 2 fE R

R-ZFB-NEF AEEZRE S
FREFRBEALXERAEEHE
N-E-_T-N\FhIFIE S
FRRAEERNER AEEHEH
BXNTERRZBEES®E BITH
BOKEEEENRERRE-
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B B R AR Y

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(f) Capital management (Continued)
The net debt-to-capital ratio as at 31 December 2019 and
2018 and at the date of transition to HKFRS 16 was as

follows:

Other borrowings (note 23) Hih g & (fFeE23)
Lease liabilities (note 24) HEAE (FFF24)
Total equity B

Net debt-to-capital ratio FEEERL X

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which
were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17.
Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.
See note 2(c).

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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28 EX - -HERRE (#)

()

31 December
2019

HK$'000
FERT

151,544
834

152,378

846,455

18.0%

ELEE (&
AZE—NER_TE—NE+=
A=+ BERBEZRZAETH
®EEBFEIREANFAGEE
AL RGN ¢

WWEGUETRA 31 December
2019 2018
—B-NF —2-N\F
—A—B =S
(note) (note)

(B £ ) (Bt sE)
HK$"000 HK$'000
THET FHET

210,792 210,792
2,909 =

213,701 210,792

3,129,894 3,129,976

6.8% 6.7%

Mia: ARBEEAKETENEERER
BB TS RE LR E 165 I
RZB-NF—A—HZFN&EH
AR ERIRBE B G ERIF17
FABRAKEHENEHEREEE
BE-BRELE HLBREHTES
5l o BHfEE2(0)

AD T RE KB A R & A
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B RS R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FEH B TIIR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency and price
risks arises in the normal course of the Group's business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity
investments in other entities and movements in its own equity
share price.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group's credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables. The
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and
cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are
banks, for which the Group considers to have low credit
risk.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer. The
default risk of industry and country in which customers
operate also has an influence on credit risk. At the end of
the reporting period, save for the concentration of credit
risk on liquid funds which are deposited with several
banks with high credit ratings, the Group does not have
any other significant concentration of credit risk.

In respect of trade and other receivables, the
management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis. Credit evaluations of its customers’
financial position and condition are performed on each
and every major customer periodically. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and taking into
account information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Normally, the Group does not require
collateral in respect of its financial assets. Debts are
usually due within 30 days (2018: 30 days) from the date
of billing.

29 REREERESHMIALR
REE

AEEEBR-REBBEFPELZE
Rk -RBESRAR MEER 5%
REBER AEETHRRREMBER
ZBERE N B FBR(EE MR E
R -

AEEFERZZERBREAESERE
I8 5% 5 L P ER A 2 B 7 R e B DR SR
MERENR T

(a) =ERK
FERBERZEFEREAGYD
EAMBHRASENKELRZR
o AEENEERREIERGRE
W8 5 AR 51 K H Ath E W RIE © B R
HARTRAEERARKEER
Rk T AEBEEEREEE X
ReZEBYNEERRAR -

FEW B 5 AR KRR MW '
AEEEH 2 EERREIERSE
BEFZEBBATE TEEEX
BRETERBRZAERRIT
SHEERBELATE -RAEY
R BITRBESR(FAETHE
BEFEMRT)EERRES &
SEYEmMHENEMERES
EERRE -

BIEWE 5 IR 5K H b JE W I8
mME EEEEHEEERR I
BEERZEEERBARN A&
ECHEHSEREERPLPZ2HBR
R NEREITIEE RS - % F T
SEFREFPBAERERRIBAR 2
EBRRSEREBRIRERE S WE
BEFZHTEMUARERFL
EEBIT L BEIRBEE 2 ER -
—RBERAT AEETERE S/
BEZRERAR - EHATHMD
BREE AE308 (ZF— N\ F:30
B)AZEIHE]-
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade and other receivables (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group's historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

As there was no significant amount of overdue trade
receivables as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018, the expected credit loss based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience was considered
insignificant. Therefore, the Group did not recognise loss
allowance in regard to trade receivables. Expected loss
rates are based on actual loss experience. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s
view of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject
to approval by the parent company’s board when the
borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B 5 BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29 EREEREMITAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REE

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REBELRAK (£)
The following table shows the remaining contractual TREJIAGEE A E(FH
maturities at the end of the reporting period of BEDREBESGORMBESRE
the Group's financial liabilities, which are based on (BREEREQNEK (NEZE
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest FIE BRI EBMRE B 2FX)
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, STEMEZAMERE)FE) R R
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) HHRZ G L F BHER &
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay: AEEARANR KT HE:

2019 2018

“E-NF “3-\%

More than  More than More than More than

Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but Within Tyearbut 2 years but
1 year or less than less than Carrying 1 year or less than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years ELOTTIO  on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount

R-FhE BE-f BERE R—FR3 BE-£ BRRE
RERE  BORRE  BOREF i REE REXE  BOREE  BIREE &t BEE

Trade and other payables  EffEZEF R

Rt EfHE 64,246 - - 64,246 64,246 93,057 - = 93,057 93,057
Lease liabilties (note) RERHE (Kt) 839 o = 839 834 = = = = =
Other borrowings Efhfe & 21,401 142,499 3,002 166,902 151,544 70,616 11,097 157,301 239,014 210,792

86,486 142,499 3,002 231,987 216,624 163,673 11,097 157,301 332,01 303,849
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified izt AEEBRBEEREBENRE
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 REBMERE ERE 165 RFHE
January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which RZT—NE—A—RZFN&EH"
were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. DRRELAIBEE S EAE
Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated. 17RO ERCEHENHERRZ
See note 2(c). HEBB-REBEEFE LREMT

1EE S BHEE2(C) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest
rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing borrowings.

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile
of the Group’s borrowings at the end of the
reporting period.

29 BiIEREEREBMIADN
REE#)

(c)

2019

ZE-NF

Effective
interest rate

ERA=R

Net fixed rate borrowings: B EFIREEFHE:
Other borrowings Hifs &

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

The directors of the Company considered that
the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is not
significant, no sensitivity analysis has been presented

accordingly.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
carrying out exploration activities which give rise to
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
and trade and other payables that are denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which the transactions relate. Presently,
there is no hedging policy with respect to the foreign
exchange exposure.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B 5 BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)
(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group's exposure
at the end of the reporting period to currency
risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate. For
presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure
are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using
the spot rate at the year end date. Differences
resulting from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency are excluded.

29 BiIEREEREBMIADN
REE#)

(d) E¥mER#E)

() ZEEHzEHEEMRE
TRAARNEER RS R
HERANERERNERR
Uiz EREHEZ ERER?
EXRAEmMEEZ EERER
LERBE N EBRAESE
RETZ2 KAFELER
AZBIHE R E - BINE
B BBRERBEER/AEEZ
JIEMEAZELZRTE
BEA-

Exposure to foreign currency
(expressed in HKS$)

S (LB T25)

2019 2018

ZE-NF —T-N\F

Us$ Us$

E ETT

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET THET

6,522 70,300
95,042 135,117

(50,200) (117,233)
30,528 =

Trade and other receivables EWE 5 R &

E h fE W kB
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEY
Trade and other payables ERE SRR KR

H fth & 5 5RIE
Other financial assets Hith &g & E
Net exposure arising from EHREEREBRE

recognised assets and liabilities P 4 B K JF 58

81,892 88,184
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

The directors of the Company considered that the
Group's exposure to currency risk is not significant
and accordingly, no sensitivity analysis has been
presented. It is assumed that the pegged rate
between the Hong Kong dollar and the United
States dollar would not be materially affected by
any changes in movement in value of the United
States dollar against other currencies.

(e) Price risk

(f)

The Group is engaged in petroleum-related and
commodities trading activities. Prices of crude oil and
commodities are affected by a wide range of global
and domestic political, economic and military factors
which are beyond the control of the Group. A decrease
in such prices could adversely affect the Group's
financial position. The Group has not used any derivative
instruments to hedge against potential price fluctuations
of crude oil and commodities. The management will
consider appropriate hedging policy when the need
arises.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising
from equity investments held for trading and non-trading
purposes (see notes 17 and 20).

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period.

At 31 December 2019, it is estimated that an increase/
decrease of 5% in the price of relevant financial
instruments, with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased/increased the Group's loss after tax and
other comprehensive income by HK$5,236,000 (2018:
HK$4,958,000) as a result of the change in fair value
of other financial assets and other investment in equity
securities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 S 3= M B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FEH B TIIR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29 BIBEREEREHMIAA

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REE#®
(Continued)
(g) Fair values measurement (9) 2AEHESE
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BAAREBEIEZLHEZE
value RERE

Fair value hierarchy D EEER

The following table presents the fair value of the THREINAEBRBERR

Group's financial instruments measured at the REFHEEFEzemT

end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, B AnEBE BEEEH

categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy BHEERFIFRAALEBE
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. HECERSBR=ZEAR

The level into which a fair value measurement BEER AREBEFEZ

is classified is determined with reference to the [ o BT 8 2 (B B dir

observability and significance of the inputs used in R A 2 i A BUR 2 AT B

the valuation technique as follows: MHREZHETMOAT:

e Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using s ZEEME:ERAZE
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted —EB®ABBTELA
prices in active markets for identical assets or nEE BAREEEH
liabilities at the measurement date fEERmis LEREE

S BB ZREFHERE

e Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using s F_EME:HAEZ
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which B AE (TS
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant FE—EAREBEEBEZIER
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are R AHBIFFEZA
inputs for which market data are not available REBE MFEXKAEKX

TABREGABE T
AHEHABBRIET &
MIZRBRERE 28

AEE
e Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using e ZF-EME:RAEKX
significant unobservable inputs TRAIE R A BB 2
ZANREE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29 BEREEREMIARN
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REE#)
(Continued)
(g) Fair values measurement (Continued) (90 D2AREEFE &)

() BAREEABZZHBEE
RA@E(#)
A EBEER (E)

Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2019 categorised into

RZB-NE+ZA=t-HOBZAABEE

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Fair value at
31 December

R=Z-
rERE
Zh e %= =g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TET
Recurring fair value REMDNABEETE
measurement
Assets: BE:
Other investment in equity HiEmZESRE:
securities:
- Unlisted equity investments —FLMREREE 16,068 16,068
Other financial assets HtepEE
- Listed equity securities - FHRAE SR 80,618 80,618
— Listed debt securities - L mEEESR 30,528 30,528
~ Unlisted equity-linked —FE LMRARES
securities 8,027
- Unlisted funds —FLmES 927
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 S 3= M B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FEH B TIIR)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29 BiREREEREMIAR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AREE#
(Continued)
(g) Fair values measurement (Continued) (9) AAREETE(#)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BAREBHEIEZZHBEE
value (Continued) REE (&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AR BEFR(E)

Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2018 categorised into

RIE-NE+ZA=+- ARz AR BEHE

Fair value at
31 December
2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RZZ-N\F
+=A=1+—H
ZRREE E—IE E-B EZE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTAEL TET TET
Recurring fair value REMDNABETE
measurement
Assets: BE:
Other investment in equity HiEmZESRE:
securities:
— Unlisted equity investments —FLMRERRE 18,694 - 18,694 =
Other financial assets HttemEE:
— Listed equity securities - EmRAES 80,468 80,468 = =

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level
2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group's
policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair
value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period
in which they occur.

HE-Z-NER=Z—N
F+t—A=t+-RILEE"
E-ERE-_E2HLES
B RDMEA RS E=
FRE NN E Y
RAR EES R EB RS
TERE M-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

29 FINANC
VALUES
(Continued)

IAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(g) Fair values measurement (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The equity interest in Borealis is classified as equity
investment and carried at fair value. The fair value
is valued with reference to the private placing of
shares and warrants by Borealis and the average
share price fluctuations of comparable companies.

The equity interest in Foothills Exploration is
classified as equity investment and carried at fair
value. The fair value is valued using the market
approach with reference to the market price of
shares of Foothills Exploration.

The unlisted equity-linked securities and unlisted
funds are classified as other financial assets and
carried at fair value. The fair value are determined
based on quoted market prices provided by bank.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2019 and 2018.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 S 3= M B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B 5 BASN - i £ 5EH LAB TTFIR)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 EXEBAIRXS

The Group has a related party relationship with the following 2N 55 B B T | B Bk 5 MR R G 0 AR
parties:

Name of party Relationship

B BB B %

New World Tower Company Limited The company is an associate of Chow Tai Fook (Holding)

Limited, an intermediate parent of the Company.

FZARR/ARAFHEF AR ARG (BB BRARZHBER

=
CiF Solutions Limited The company is an associate of Chow Tai Fook (Holding)
Limited, an intermediate parent of the Company.

BlEZSBERAF ZARBAANRFREG AR ARG (ER)BRAR ZEE R

=

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial Bréx & B 75 sk H it b 75 PR 42 B2 & A1 -

statements, the Group entered into the following material NEEFET2ERBHAZZ0T

related party transactions:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration (a) TEEHEEBEAEMS
Remuneration for key management personnel of the AEEFETREEAEME (B
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s BN THESHEEARREZEER
directors as disclosed in note 8 and certain of the highest Mo ZEE T MiES <
paid employees as disclosed in note 9, is as follows: FIE) R

2018
—F-)N\F
HK$'000
T T
Short-term employee benefits EHEERT 8,573
Post-employment benefits BER 1248 A 48
8,621
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note M@ mat ATE KAl (R
6(b)). i6(b)) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Other related party transactions

(c)

Related parties

BT REMEE

Nature of transactions

30 EXEBARS (&)

(b) EtbBAELE XS

(i) New World Tower Company
Limited (note) ( Fff=E)
HekEEE

(ii) CiF Solutions Limited

BERGKAERAE BB ERE R E

Rent and management fee

IT management and support

Note: The Group entered into lease contracts in respect of its office with
New World Tower Company Limited. As at 31 December 2019,
lease liabilities due to related party in respect of the leased office
was amounting to HK$834,000 (see note 24).

Applicability of Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

For the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
related party transactions as disclosed in note 30(b)(i) and
(ii) above constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules are provided in the Directors’ Report. The
related party transactions as disclosed in note 30(b)(i) and
(i) above are exempt from the disclosure requirements
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as the amounts in
respect of note 30(b)(i) and (ii) are below the de minimis
threshold under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules. The
other related party transactions were not connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 82 JR B BR 2 A
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2019 2018
—E-NF —E—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
2,281

119

Mizt: A&EBEENew World Tower
Company Limiteds] 2 8 Bl A=
WEEEHN -R=ZT—NLE+=A
=t+—B RAENA=EMEH
75 2 H 8 A 5 5834,0007% 7T (R
i£24) °

BEXZHEB LR ZER
%
HE-ZT—NFERZFT—N\F
+—A=1+—BIEFE  EXHiFE
30(b) () K (i3 55 = B 5 5 X 518K
THHRANFEVASRECEERS
SEEER S EHERE14A
EHECHEBEIRNESEHRE L
B EE30(0)() R (i) B2 2 BE R 5 <2
2 BB BT FE30(0)() M (i B ZIR(EK
R ETRAIFE14A.76(1)IE 2 &K
EEMERRET EMRAFE14A
EZHEBERT EMBEB ARSI
EFTIRBIF14AS T R E R E
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FEH B TIIR)

31 COMMITMENTS

(a)

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2019
not provided for in the consolidated financial statements
were as follows:

31 &I

(@ RZE—NF+—_A=+—8H
RBEMWRNG S IS RKBE
ZEREEWNT

2019 2018
SEEN T 0%
HK$’000 HK$°000
FB T

Authorised but not contracted for B REEKRETL

43,608 138,905

As at 31 December 2018, total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases payable
were as follows:

by RZZE—NF+ZA=+—H'1®
BT RHEE RO KRR
RESEEHOT :

2018
—E—)N\F
HK$'000
FET

Within 1 year —F R

After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERAFA

2,361
758

3,119

The Group is the lessee in respect of its office held under
leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17. The Group has initially applied HKFRS
16 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the Group adjusted the opening balances at 1
January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to these
leases (see note 2(c)). From 1 January 2019 onwards,
future lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with the policies set out in note 2(k), and the
details regarding the Group’s future lease payments are
disclosed in note 24.

AEBR/EBRAEZABEAN PQ
EERMEERA BERBEES
FREREITROBRAKREHEE-
AEBEEREETEPEERE
REBIBEIRE LR FE165 - RIF
WA AEERBER-_F—NF
—A—BZFNE AR EZ
ZHEAHE - HEAG(RNE
2q) B=T-NFE—A—Hi"
IR 2T BB - KRR E
NRERGEE W BRRRERS
HEAE RARAKEANRRE
BN RH B M 24 5
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk A &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 32 A TFE@E/NEERRE

POSITION

2019 2018
—B-AhF —E-N\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FTHET FA&ETT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REEBRARIZIRE 2,031,767
Total non-current assets FRBEEHLE 2,031,767
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and FEMRIE ke &k
other receivables E W 5008 799,165 774,864
Other financial assets EemEE 45,142 =
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEY 761,928 897,750
Total current assets REEEHATE 1,606,235 1,672,614
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H b fE S FIE 55,438 55,128
Other borrowings HiEE 10,544 56,792
Total current liabilities = #BEGH®H 65,982 [N 111,920
Netcurrentassets ___________ HBEEFE 1,540,253 . 1,560,694
Total assets less current liabilities ZEERABHER 1,540,253 3,592,461
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Other borrowings HiEE 141,000 154,000
Total non-current liabilities ¥ RBEGRE 141,000 N 154,000__
NET ASSETS EEFHE 1,399,253 3,438,461
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#E
Share capital fi& A< 28(c) 87,589 87,589
Reserves R 1,311,664 3,350,872
TOTAL EQUITY R4 1,399,253 3,438,461
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 58 &iBASN » BT & FEH B TIIR)

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, comparative information is not restated. Further
details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed in
note 2(c).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared a
pandemic of the Coronavirus outbreak (COVID-19) due to its
rapid spread throughout the world. This situation is significantly
affecting the global economy, due to the interruption or
slowdown of supply chains and the significant increase in
economic uncertainty. The Group will pay close attention to the
development of the COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its impact
on the financial position and operating results of the Group. Up
to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements,
besides those disclosed in note 12(b), the Group was not aware
of any material adverse effects on the consolidated financial
statements as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

At 31 December 2019, the directors consider the immediate
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Max
Sun Enterprises Limited and Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited
respectively, which are incorporated in the BVI.

33

34

35

HEEHF

AEEER_ZF-NE-A-BRBE
EBEPEBREREEY B MEE6
SeoRBUL TN HHULEHTEES A
HetRRZEHHE—PFHBECRM
2B -

BERKREE

NR—_Z-_TF=ZA+—H BAFEMHL
([COVID-19]) ) N2 BRIRRIERL - tEAE
EHRBEMEEMERARXRITR A
A £ JEE G o 7 ok B AR N 4SO N REBA M B
B ERE 2R B EKBREY
2. REEEHEYEEECOVID-19%ER
B W HRBEAEETBEAMRL R
KEEBNTE - BEN RSP HEHREK
T3 B ER - B8 B 5E12(0) P 3% 58 & Ah 0 AR
£ B A FFEECOVID-19Z 15 M 4R &
MBBREEEMERTHNTE-

BEERRRERE

RZE-—NEFE+ZA=+—H E=R
BRASENEEN QR REKIERT D
R ARBVIEEM K 2 B EEBRA
7] & Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited °
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36 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and a new
standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2019 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be relevant to
the Group.

36

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 3= B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ( Bk 7 &t BASN » BT £ FH LB TTIIR)

BE=-ZE—-h&E+=A=+
—HIEFEE EMERRE
MZIER] Fe] BRI R 2 E
AEELEZEE

BEAMBRRTERS FEGE
RECEMTINBE_T-—NF+=
A=t —ALFERRERKRHRRAK
MBERRER 2 ZHRIER] T ER R
ERMBHREERENTR [REEE]
ZEERBETIIARERAEEGRE -

vl

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after
BUATR#Z&MAGEZ
SETHIRE A

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business
BB RELRFEIF (BIR) FHEH T
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material

FEGENRVRRBAGHRAUSSR (BAIAX) - EXA M EH

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

In March 2020, the IFRS Interpretations Committee
issued a set of agenda decisions on translating the
results of a hyperinflationary foreign operation into the
non-hyperinflationary presentation currency in the parent’s
consolidated financial statements. The Group will voluntarily
change its accounting policy (see note 2(d)) in the next
accounting period to conform with the Committee’s decisions,
and is in the process of assessing the detailed impacts. On
the basis of its preliminary assessment to date, the accounting
policy changes would result in all or part of the translation
effects to be presented in other comprehensive income as
opposed to directly in equity and present the cumulative
pre-hyperinflation foreign exchange differences in the exchange
reserve, with consequential impacts on the carrying amounts
of accumulated losses and exchange reserve, while having no
overall impact on the Group’s total equity. The actual impact
may differ as the Group finalised its detailed assessment.
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Set out below is a summary of the results and a statement of net
assets of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements and reclassified as

appropriate.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RESULTS

REVENUE W 2

Continuing operations FREEEER
Discontinued operations EREREER
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION FR%iATER,/ (&)
Continuing operations BEREER
Discontinued operations BRI EET
INCOME TAX &

Continuing operations FEREET
Discontinued operations EREEEER
PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO {537/ (K1)
Owners of the Company /NG Z=PN
Non-controlling interests R ER
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Non-current assets EmBEE
Current assets MEEE

Total assets EEAE
Current liabilities mEAE
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Total liabilities BEAE

NET ASSETS EERE

2019

= i
HK$'000
TR

236,646

236,646

(2,310,385)

(2,310,385)

20,248

20,248

(2,290,086)
(51)

(2,290,137)

2019
—E-0%
HK$'000
TER

167,202
928,092

1,095,294

85,592
163,247

248,839

846,455

TXARAEERBERBMREFE < XE
BEFEBRME DREZAKELERER

hFEBEHBE

K
2

BRRLOEEEERTERD B

ES

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-HL%E

2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-N\f Z—F—+F TR C—F-IF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FAL FEL FAET FAEL
297,989 287,557 57,108 66,725
- - 53 2,582
297,989 287,557 57,161 69,307
(246,447) 95,260 (229,615)  (1,549,322)
- - (7,055) (198,399)
(246,447) 95,260 (236,670)  (1,747,721)
(10,777) 6,437 6,021 3,371
- - (1) 38,656
(10,777) 6,437 6,020 42,027
(257,218) 101,710 (123,349)  (1,666,254)
(6) (13) (1,672) (21,280)
(257,224) 101,697 (125,021)  (1,687,534)
As at 31 December
R+t=-A=t—-H
2018 2017 2016 2015
—T-N\E —“FT—+& TR FE —T-hHEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAL FTAEL TAEL FTAEL
2,417,291 2,475,468 2,282,239 2,404,147
1,062,798 1,308,181 783,190 336,550
3,480,089 3,783,649 3,065,429 2,740,697
154,980 90,522 81,883 186,415
195,133 225,811 332,281 311,927
350,113 316,333 414,164 498,342
3,129,976 3,467,316 2,651,265 2,242,355
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LOSSARY
R

W G)

“BBL"
[BBL |

“BCF”
[BCF |

“BOPD"
[BOPD |

“km2"
[km?]

“MMBBL"

[MMBBL J

“Recoverable Volume”

[ARE

“Prospective Resources”

[(ZRRERE]

“Probable Reserves”

[ 5% B et 28

“Proven Reserves”

[REARE ]

"“2P Reserves”

[2P % & ]

Barrel

i

Billion cubic feet

TRIZAR

Barrels of oil per day

EEp: P =3E!

Square kilometers

FHAL

Million barrels of oil, a barrel is equivalent to 42 U.S. Gallons or
0.158987 m?
AERBR —BER42EIN® 5k0.15898732 77 K

Quantities of petroleum anticipated to be commercially recoverable by
the application of development projects to known accumulations, which
at present does not fully meet the definition of Reserves as defined
under the Petroleum Resources Management System (PRMS) due to
pending exploitation permit.
FRERNREMXETNERBEAGAETEHEN KT A hES
B ARES FEREF A HBR R RN & Al ERE I R F(PRMS)FT R
ELREZESR

Quantities of petroleum which are estimated to be potentially recovered
from undiscovered accumulations

AT ATRERE T E R AP AR A HE

Additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than Proven
Reserves but which, together with Proven Reserves, are as likely as not
to be recovered

ML RARETARAERERSHREERNEIMESE HEEKAKS
B e Al BB R

Proven oil and gas reserves are those quantities of oil and gas which,
by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with
reasonable certainty to be economically producible
RABRREEDEAMERTIRRENDT AIUNGETABEELE L
A A EH) SRR E

Proven Reserves+Probable Reserves

RO B R G
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